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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO

STATE OF OHIO, ex rel.
DAVE YOST,
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL Case No.:
Charitable Law Section
30 East Broad Street, 25th Floor Judge A 2 4 0 2 tl 3 0
Columbus, Ohio 43215,

Plaintiff,

V. VERIFIED COMPLAINT OF
OHIO ATTORNEY GENER
Y FILED

HEBREW UNION COLLEGE-JEWISH DAVE YOST %%E Qr couRts
INSTITUTE OF RELIGION
3101 Clifton Avenue
Cincinnati, Ohio 45220 JUN 03 2024

Defendant.

COMMON PLEAS COURTS
Plaintiff State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost, Attorney General of Ohio (“Attorney General”),

hereby alleges as follows:
I. INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action to protect the global and cultural treasures held for charitable
purposes and available to any resident of the Greater Cincinnati area—the holdings of the Klau
Library in Cincinnati (“Cincinnati Library”) at Defendant Hebrew Union College—Jewish
Institute of Religion (“College”).

2. According to Defendant, the holdings of the Cincinnati Library stand “at or near
the top of all American collections of Hebraica and among the strongest in the world.” See About

the Cincinnati Library at https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 1. The Cincinnati Library’s world class collection is held in charitable trust for the use
and benefit of “the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area; and the broader Judaic

academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” See Klau Library



Mission at https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 3. Items in

the Collection may not be sold to fund other operations or cover losses at the College.

3. But the College is violating Ohio law and breaching the charitable trust applicable
to the Cincinnati Library by taking measures to dismantle the Cincinnati Library’s collections;
the College engaged associates of Sotheby’s auction house to value items within the Special
Collection for sale to “to save the college from its crippling deficits”. See Cincy | Jewfolk Article

at https://cincyjewfolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-

cincinnati-pays-the-price/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 8. The College 1s not being

forthcoming about the steps being taken to deaccession—that is, sell off—items in the Cincinnati
Library collection. Indeed, recent reports indicate that the College has been covertly undermining
funding to the Cincinnati Library—interfering with fundraising, slashing the budget, and cutting

staff. See Cincy | Jewfolk Article at https:/cincyjewfolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-

campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-cincinnati-pays-the-price/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 8. Those at the College who know it either cannot or will not stop it.

4. The Attorney General, having reasonable cause to believe that violations of
Ohio’s charitable laws are ongoing, imminent, and would cause irreparable injury, loss or,
damage to charitable beneficiaries in the state of Ohio, brings this action in the public interest
and under the authority vested in the Attorney General by Ohio Revised Code Section 109.23 et
seq. (“Ohio Charitable Trust Act”), Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1716 (“Ohio Charitable
Organizations Act”), and the Attorney General’s common law authority.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
S The Attorney General, pursuant to R.C. 109.24, R.C. 1716.16, and his common

law role as parens patriae, protects charitable trusts and their intended public beneficiaries.
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6. Defendant College is an Ohio nonprofit corporation with a principal office at
3101 Clifton Avenue in the city of Cincinnati, Hamilton County, Ohio 45220.

7. The College’s purpose is “[t]o establish and maintain a Jewish educational
institution or institutions” including “to establish and maintain a library . . . .” See Hebrew Union

1950 Merger Amendment at https:/bizimage.ohiosos.gov/api/image/pdf/A402 0823, a copy of

which is attached as Exhibit 2.

8. The College, as part of its mission and program, owns and operates the Cincinnati
Library that, in fulfilment of its mission statement, “acquires, preserves, and provides access to
materials in printed, manuscript, and other formats, supporting the teaching functions of the
rabbinical and graduate programs and meeting the research needs of its various users: the faculty,
students, and staff of HUC-JIR Cincinnati; the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area; and
the broader Judaic academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” See

Klau Library Mission at https:/huc.edw/libraries/cincinnati/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 3.
9. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has recognized the College as a 501(c)(3)

tax-exempt organization. See Hebrew Union 2021-22 990-T at

https://apps.irs.cov/pub/epostcard/cor/310537067 202206 990T 2023051921268616.pdf, a

copy of which is attached as Exhibit 8.

10.  The College solicits donations for charitable purposes, including in support of the
Cincinnati Library, stating on its website that “HUC-JIR is not only North America’s premier
institution of Jewish higher education, we also are home to some of the most important scholarly
publications and cultural and historic artifacts in the world. Your gift today enables us to collect,

preserve, and share these treasures with the world now and into the future.” See Klau Library
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Solicitation at https://huc.edu/donate/klau-library-donation/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 16. See also Hebrew Union Gifts of Impact Solicitation at https:/huc.edu/donate/gifts-

of-impact/, a copy of which attached as Exhibit 14.

11.  The College is a “charitable organization” as that term is defined in R.C.
1716.01(A) and a “charitable trust” as that term is defined in R.C. 109.23, and the College, as
well as its directors, officers, and others who solicit, receive, or expend charitable donations, are
considered fiduciaries and have been acting in a fiduciary capacity as contemplated by
R.C. 1716.17.

12.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction in this case pursuant to R.C. 2305.01.

13.  This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the College pursuant to
R.C. 2307.382 because the acts and omissions alleged in this Complaint occurred and are
occurring in Ohio and/or because they involve or relate to the activities of Ohio residents and
Ohio corporations and entities.

14.  Venue is proper in Hamilton County because that is where the College’s principal
place of business is located and that is where the Cincinnati Library and its collection is located.
III. ACTIVITIES GIVING RISE TO THIS COMPLAINT

A. The Cincinnati Library holds a world-class collection of literary works for the
benefit of Ohioans and scholars from around the world.

15. The Cincinnati Library collection began in 1875 with a donation of 130 items but has
grown to more than 600,000 items. See American Jewish Libraries: Klau Library at

https://jewishlibraries.org/klau-libraryv-huc-cincinnati/. a copy of which has been attached as

Exhibit 5, and About the Cincinnati Library at https://huc.edw/libraries/cincinnati/. a copy of

which has been attached as Exhibit 1.
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16. The Cincinnati Library holds Special Collections that “comprise one of the finest Judaica
research collections in the world” and are made “available to researchers around the globe....”

See Hebrew Union Special Collections at https://huc.edu/libraries/special-collections/. a copy of

which has been attached as Exhibit 6.

17. Based on information and belief, these assets are worth millions of dollars. Within the
Special Collection is the extraordinary Rare Book and Manuscript Collection, which “includes
rare incunabula, illuminated manuscripts, Biblical codices, communal records, legal documents,
and scientific tracts” such as “the First Cincinnati Haggadah (Germany, 15th century) and the
Second Cincinnati Haggadah (Moravia, 18th Century)” and the “Kaifeng manuscripts from the
Ming Dynasty (1368-1644) . . ., and the only known manuscripts which contain both Chinese
and Hebrew characters.” See Hebrew Union Rare Book and Manuscript Collection Overview at

https://huc.edu/libraries/special-collections/rare-book-and-manuscript-collection/, a copy of

which has been attached as Exhibit 7.

18. In furtherance of its mission, the Cincinnati Library “acquires, preserves, and provides
access to materials in printed, manuscript, and other formats” to meet “the research needs of its
various users” including “the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area” and “the broader
Judaic academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” See Klau Library

Mission at https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/, a copyv of which has been attached as Exhibit 3.

19. Upon information and belief, in its books and records, the College does not capitalize the
Cincinnati Library collection and does not account for the Cincinnati Library collection as
saleable or fungible assets.

20. Under applicable accounting principles, to avoid capitalizing a collection, the collection

must meet three criteria: (1) It is held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance
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of public service rather than financial gain, (2) it is protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and
preserved, and (3) it is subject to an organizational policy that requires the use of proceeds from
items that are sold to be for the acquisition of new collection items, the direct care of existing
collections, or both.

21. According to annual audited financial statements for the College, “Proceeds from
deaccessions or insurance recoveries are included as increases in the appropriate net asset
classes. Proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other
collection items.” See Financial Statements, Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
and Single Audit Reports as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, available at

https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/display audit/19292020221, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 9, and Financial Statements, Report of Independent Certified Public
Accountants and Single Audit Reports as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, available at

https://app.fac.gov/dissemination/summary/2023-06-GSAFAC-0000011281, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 10.

B. An April 19 news report detailed significant, nonpublic efforts at the College to cut
funding for and explore sale of rare items from the Cincinnati Library.

22. On April 19, 2024, a news report discussed, among other things, efforts within the
College to sell off the Cincinnati Library’s collection “to save the college from its crippling
deficits,” under the guise of deaccession, and amidst broader funding cuts to the Cincinnati
Library. See Cincy | Jewfolk Article: How to Close a Campus at

https://cincviewfolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-

cincinnati-pays-the-price/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 8. Specific claims in the press

report include the following:
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In the early 2020s, during a strategic planning initiative, the College administration
attempted “to quietly offload the Cincinnati Klau Library to both the University of
Cincinnati and the University of Chicago ([President] Rehfeld’s alma mater), which
members of the libraries task force only discovered—by accident—after months of
meetings.”

. “In 2021, [the Cincinnati Library] budget was cut by 22%, severely reducing
acquisitions, which the libraries task force warned would make the Klau unable to
stay up-to-date for research.”

“More recently, the college reportedly has not allowed Klau staff to fundraise for
the library, or even pursue the many grants available for research libraries.”

“Tn 2023, HUC-JIR hired a part-time library grants writer, but the Klau has received
no grants from that effort.”

“Spending on acquisitions has also been dramatically reduced. While HUC-JIR’s
audits don’t show breakdowns by location, they report that total spending on
acquisitions across all of the college’s libraries and museums went from around
$230,000 in the mid-2010s to under $120,000 by 2023.”

“The Klau, which has usually had a roughly $2 million budget (largely from HUC-
JIR’s unrestricted funds), will be reduced to operating on just half a million dollars
of endowment funds in fiscal year 2025.”

. “As most of the library staff are concentrated in Cincinnati, the expectation is that

at least half of the roughly 12 full-time Klau employees will be laid off.”
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“In early 2024, Yoram Bitton, HUC-JIR’s national director of libraries, resigned
after allegedly being pressured by the administration to sell rare books from the
Klau.”

The College has claimed to be “formalizing our collections policy and engaging an
independent consultant. ..to understand the value of our holdings.”

“[Iln mid-March, the “independent consultant” that came to evaluate the Klau
holdings was Sharon Liberman Mintz, the international senior specialist in Judaica
for the auction house Sotheby’s. Along with Mintz came Shaul Seidler-Feller,
another Judaica specialist at Sotheby’s.”

“Mintz will give a report to the administration with her evaluation of the Klau
holdings, which is expected to include options for potential sales.”

“Internally, the administration is reportedly talking about selling rare books as a
necessary financial move to save the college from its crippling deficits.”

. “One of the items potentially being put to auction is the Klau’s set of the Bomberg
Talmud—one of 12 known complete 16th-century sets of the earliest press-printed
Talmud in history. The Klau’s Bomberg Talmud is the only publicly available set
in North America, and the only set held by a Jewish institution.”

“HUC-JIR’s statement to Cincy Jewfolk did not deny that the Bomberg Talmud
may be up for sale.”

“The college has no formal deaccessioning policy, but its public audits state that
‘proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other

collection items.’”
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C. The College did not provide records or assurance that the world-class collection at
the Cincinnati Library would be held and maintained for charitable and public use.

23.

Following the April 19 press report, the Attorney General wrote to the College

seeking an immediate agreement assuring that Special Collection items, including Rare Books,

would not be sold or deaccessioned and that no collection items would be sold other than to raise

funds to acquire other collection items for the Cincinnati Library.

24.

25.

The College did not provide the requested assurance.

The Attorney General also issued an investigative Record Request seeking

immediate production of records relating to the certain allegations in the April 19 Article,

including:

26.

The engagement letter for Sotheby’s and any inventory of items valued or to be
valued by Sotheby’s.

Communications and records regarding possible sale or other transfer of some or
all of the Cincinnati Library Collection to either the University of Cincinnati or The
University of Chicago.

The budget for the Cincinnati Library in the current fiscal year and the fiscal year

beginning July 1, 2024.

. An accounting of any items deaccessioned, sold, or otherwise transferred from the

Cincinnati Library.

Minutes, notes, and other records regarding possible sales or deaccessioning of
items in the Cincinnati Library collection, including use of proceeds to pay deficits
of the College.

The College did not provide the requested records.
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D. Sotheby’s could quickly sell items such as those in the Special Collection, including
by private sale.

27.  Auction house Sotheby’s Judaica Department offers Hebrew manuscripts and
books, silver, ritual objects, paintings, and graphics. See Sotheby’s Judaica Department

Overview at https://www.sothebys.com/en/departments/judaica?locale=en, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 11.
28.  Auction house Sotheby’s is the only international auction house which holds an
annual sale of Important Judaica and employs eleven specialists in this field. See Sotheby’s

Judaica Department Overview at https://www.sothebys.com/en/departments/judaica?locale=en, a

copy of which is attached as Exhibit 11.
29.  Auction house Sotheby’s offers the ability to sell items immediately online, via
auctions, via private sale, or via retail. See Sotheby’s Auction and Private Sales at

www.sothebys.com/en/sell?local=en, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 12 and Sotheby’s

Buy Now and Retail Locations at www.sothebys.com/en/sell?local=en, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 13.
E. The College continues to solicit donations generally and specifically based on the

strength of the Cincinnati Library without disclosing to donors that it is cutting
funding and exploring sales of Special Collections or Rare Book items.

30. At the same time the College has both explored opportunities to sell items from
the Cincinnati Library collection “to save the college from its crippling deficits” and continued to
cut funding to the Cincinnati Library, it has also been and is soliciting donations—both by
promoting the strength of the Cincinnati Library, generally, and expressly asking donors to
support the Cincinnati Library, specifically.

31.  The College generally solicits donations with emphasis on “many opportunities to

make a significant impact on the people and programs of the College” including by supporting
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Global and Cultural Treasures, featuring the Cincinnati Library. See Gifts of Impact Solicitation

at https://huc.edu/donate/gifts-of-impact/#global, a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit

14, and Hebrew Union Global Treasures Gifts Solicitation at https:/huc.edu/donate/gifts-of-

impact/#global, a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit 15.

32.  The College specifically solicits donations telling donors its “global and cultural
treasures,” featuring the Cincinnati Library, “are preserved, protected and enhanced with
generous support of our donors.” Hebrew Union Global Treasures Gifts Solicitation at

https://huc.edu/donate/gifts-of-impact/#global, a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit 15.

And donors are asked to “Support the Klau Library” so that the College can “collect, preserve,
and share these treasures with the world now and into the future.” See Klau Library Solicitation

at https://huc.edu/donate/klau-library-donation/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 16.

33. The College, including its directors, officers, and employees who solicit, collect,
or expend donations, owes fiduciary duties to donors and to beneficiaries in conducting its
program services, including, without limitation, the duties of care, of loyalty, to maintain
accounts, and to comply with the law as applied to the Cincinnati Library collection.

34.  This action is being initiated against the College and its directors, trustees,
officers and/or agents that have committed and would commit additional, imminent violations of
Ohio law and their applicable fiduciary duties regarding the funding and collections of the
Cincinnati Library as set forth in this Complaint.

IV. ATTORNEY GENERAL’S CLAIMS

COUNT ONE: DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES IN CHARITABLE
SOLICITATIONS. R.C. 1716.14(A)(1)

35. Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this

Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.
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36. R.C. 1716.14(A)(1) provides that “The following acts and practices are hereby
prohibited and declared unlawful as applied to the planning, conducting, or executing of any
solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable purpose or to the planning,
conducting, or executing of a charitable sales promotion: (1) Committing any deceptive act or
practice . ...”

37. Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in this

Complaint constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of R.C. 1716.14(A)(1).

COUNT TWO: MISLEADING PERSONS AS TO MATERIAL FACTS CONCERNING
SOLICITATION, R.C. 1716.14(A)(2)

38.  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.

39.  R.C.1716.14(A)(2) provides that “The following acts and practices are hereby
prohibited and declared unlawful as applied to the planning, conducting, or executing of any
solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable purpose or to the planning,
conducting, or executing of a charitable sales promotion: . . . (2) Misleading any person as to any
material fact concerning the solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or
charitable purpose or concerning a charitable sales promotion . . ..”

40. Through Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in
this Complaint, they have misled and/or are misleading one or more individuals as to material
facts concerning the solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable

purpose in violation of R.C. 1716.14(A)(2).
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COUNT THREE: MISLEADING PERSONS AS TO USE OF DONATED PROCEEDS,
R.C. 1716.14(A)(5)

41.  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.

42.  R.C.1716.14(A)(5) provides that “The following acts and practices are hereby
prohibited and declared unlawful as applied to the planning, conducting, or executing of any
solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable purpose or to the planning,
conducting, or executing of a charitable sales promotion: . . . (5) Misleading any person in any
manner in the belief, or making or using any representation to any person that implies, that the
organization on whose behalf a solicitation or charitable sales promotion is being conducted is a
charitable organization or that the proceeds of the solicitation or charitable sales promotion will
be used for a charitable purpose if either of those is not the fact. . ..”

43. Through Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in
this Complaint, Defendant has misled and/or is misleading one or more individuals as to material
facts concerning the use of solicited proceeds in violation of R.C. 1716.14(A)(5).

COUNT FOUR: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES. COMMON LAW

44.  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if
fully rewritten herein.

45. Defendant owed and owes fiduciary duties to administer charitable assets
according to donor intent and for the benefit of intended charitable beneficiaries of the Cincinnati
Library, including the duty of care, the duty of loyalty, the duty to properly manage accounts,
and the duty to comply with the law, as well as other duties, including, but not limited to, the

duty not to waste charitable trust assets and to act in the best interest of the charity.
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46. By the acts, omissions, and imminent acts identified in this Complaint, Defendant
has breached and/or is breaching its fiduciary duties to collect, preserve, and share the Cincinnati
Library collection for the charitable benefit of the public, including the Greater Cincinnati
community.

47.  Defendant’s breaches of fiduciary duties as alleged in this Complaint have and/or
will directly and proximately caused injury, loss or damage to charitable assets and/or damages
to the charitable beneficiaries in an amount not yet known but exceeding $25,000.

COUNT FIVE: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES, STATUTORY

48.  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.

49. R.C. 1716.17 provides: “Every person who solicits, collects or expends
contributions on behalf of a charitable organization or for a charitable purpose or who conducts a
charitable sales promotion, and every officer, director, trustee, or employee of that person who is
concerned with the solicitation, collection, or expenditure of those contributions shall be
considered a fiduciary and as acting in a fiduciary capacity.”

50.  The duty under R.C. 1716.17 requires fiduciaries to perform their duties in good
faith, in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
organization, and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use
under similar circumstances.

51.  R.C.1716.14(A)(12) provides that it is unlawful to operate “in violation of, or

fail[] to comply with, any of the requirements” in R.C. Chapter 1716.
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52. Defendant, by its actions, omissions, and imminent acts as alleged above in this
Complaint, has breached and is breaching its fiduciary duties in violation of R.C. 1716.17 and/or
1716.14(A)(12).

COUNT SIX: ABUSE OF CHARITABLE TRUST, R.C. 109.24

53.  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates by reference, as if completely rewritten
herein, all prior paragraphs of this Complaint.

54.  R.C. 109.24 provides that the Attorney General “shall institute and prosecute a
proper action to enforce the performance of any charitable trust, and to restrain the abuse of it
whenever he considers such action advisable.”

55. Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in this
Complaint constitute an abuse of a charitable trust, in violation of R.C. 109.24.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, pursuant to his statutory and common law authority, Plaintiff Attorney
General respectfully requests this Court grant the following relief:

A. Prohibit and permanently enjoin Defendant from selling, transferring, removing
from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati
Library’s collection except to generate proceeds to acquire other collection items
for the Cincinnati Library.

B. Prohibit and permanently enjoin Defendant from selling, transferring, removing
from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati
Library’s Special Collections (including the Rare Book collection) without

approval by the Board of Directors after sixty-days written notice to the Ohio
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Attorney General in a reasonable form and manner prescribed by the Ohio Attorney
General.

C. Prohibit and permanently enjoin the College from using the proceeds from selling,
transferring, removing from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any
item in the Cincinnati Library’s collection for any purpose other than to acquire
other collection items for the Cincinnati Library’s collection.

D. Grant the Attorney General other relief as the Court deems proper and necessary.

Very respectfully submitted,

DAVE YOST
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO

=

Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)

Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352
Daniel.Fausey@OhioAGO.gov
William. Sieck@OhioAGO.gov
Deana.Leffler@OhioAGO.gov
Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov
Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General’s Exhibit Index

Exhibit Name

1 About the Cincinnati Library

2 Hebrew Union 1950 Merger Amendment

3 Klau Library Mission

4 Hebrew Union 2021-22 990-T

5 American Jewish Libraries: Klau Library

6 Hebrew Union Special Collections

1 Hebrew Union Rare Book and Manuscript

Collection Overview
8 Cincy | Jewfolk Article: How to Close a
Campus
9 Financial Statements, Report of Independent
Certified Public Accountants and Single

Audit Reports as of June 30, 2022 and 2021

10 Financial Statements, Report of Independent

Certified Public Accountants and Single

Audit Reports as of June 30, 2023 and 2022

11 Sotheby’s Judaica Department Overview

12 Sotheby’s Auction and Private Sales

13 Sotheby’s Buy Now and Retail Locations

14 Hebrew Union Gifts of Impact Solicitation

15 Hebrew Union Global Treasures Gifts

Solicitation
16 Klau Library Solicitation
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO
STATE OF OHIO, ex rel.
DAVE YOST,
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL, Case No.:
Plaintiff, Judge
V.

HEBREW UNION COLLEGE-JEWISH
INSTITUTE OF RELIGION, VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT

Defendant.

State of Ohio )
) ss
County of Perry )

I, Christina Hall, of lawful age, being first duly sworn, depose and state that I am a Major Case
Investigator in the Charitable Law Section of the Attorney General’s Office, that I have read the
forgoing Complaint and attached Exhibits, that I understand the contents thereof, and that the
allegations and facts stated in the Complaint are true and correct, to the best of my personal
knowledge, information, and belief.

Christina Hall

Sworn to and subscribed in my presence, this 31st day of May, 2024.

Notary Public
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO JUN 0 3 2024
STATE OF OHIO, ex rel.
DAVE YOST
: CcoO
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL Case No.: MMON PLEAS COURTS
Charitable Law Section
30 East Broad Street, 25th Floor Judge A 2 ll B 2 !'i 3 0
Columbus, Ohio 43215,
Plaintiff,
V. VERIFIED COMPLAINT OF
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL
HEBREW UNION COLLEGE-JEWISH DAVE YOST
INSTITUTE OF RELIGION

3101 Clifton Avenue
Cincinnati, Ohio 45220

Defendant.

Plaintiff State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost, Attorney General of Ohio (“Attorney General”),

hereby alleges as follows:
I. INTRODUCTION

L. This is an action to protect the global and cultural treasures held for charitable
purposes and available to any resident of the Greater Cincinnati area—the holdings of the Klau
Library in Cincinnati (“Cincinnati Library”) at Defendant Hebrew Union College—Jewish
Institute of Religion (“College™).

2. According to Defendant, the holdings of the Cincinnati Library stand “at or near
the top of all American collections of Hebraica and among the strongest in the world.” See About

the Cincinnati Library at https:/huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 1. The Cincinnati Library’s world class collection is held in charitable trust for the use
and benefit of “the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area; and the broader Judaic

academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” See Klau Library



Mission at https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 3. Items in

the Collection may not be sold to fund other operations or cover losses at the College.

3. But the College is violating Ohio law and breaching the charitable trust applicable
to the Cincinnati Library by taking measures to dismantle the Cincinnati Library’s collections;
the College engaged associates of Sotheby’s auction house to value items within the Special
Collection for sale to “to save the college from its crippling deticits”. See Cincy | Jewfolk Article

at https://cincviewtolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-

cincinnati-pays-the-price/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 8. The College is not being

forthcoming about the steps being taken to deaccession—that is, sell off —items in the Cincinnati
Library collection. Indeed, recent reports indicate that the College has been covertly undermining
funding to the Cincinnati Library—interfering with fundraising, slashing the budget, and cutting

staff. See Cincy | Jewfolk Article at https:/cincyjewfolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-

campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-cincinnati-pays-the-price/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 8. Those at the College who know it either cannot or will not stop it.

4. The Attorney General, having reasonable cause to believe that violations of
Ohio’s charitable laws are ongoing, imminent, and would cause irreparable injury, loss or,
damage to charitable beneficiaries in the state of Ohio, brings this action in the public interest
and under the authority vested in the Attorney General by Ohio Revised Code Section 109.23 et
seq. (““Ohio Charitable Trust Act”), Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1716 (“Ohio Charitable
Organizations Act”), and the Attorney General’s common law authority.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
Sl The Attorney General, pursuant to R.C. 109.24, R.C. 1716.16, and his common

law role as parens patriae, protects charitable trusts and their intended public beneficiaries.
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6. Defendant College is an Ohio nonprofit corporation with a principal office at
3101 Clifton Avenue in the city of Cincinnati, Hamilton County, Ohio 45220.
7. The College’s purpose is “[t]o establish and maintain a Jewish educational

institution or institutions” including “to establish and maintain a library . . . .” See Hebrew Union

1950 Merger Amendment at https:/bizimage.ohiosos.gov/api/image/pdf/A402_0823, a copy of
which is attached as Exhibit 2.

8. The College, as part of its mission and program, owns and operates the Cincinnati
Library that, in fulfilment of its mission statement, “‘acquires, preserves, and provides access to
materials in printed, manuscript, and other formats, supporting the teaching functions of the
rabbinical and graduate programs and meeting the research needs of its various users: the faculty,
students, and staff of HUC-JIR Cincinnati; the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area; and
the broader Judaic academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” See

Klau Library Mission at https://huc.edw/libraries/cincinnati/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 3.
5. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has recognized the College as a 501(c)(3)
tax-exempt organization. See Hebrew Union 2021-22 990-T at

https://apps.irs.gov/pub/epostcard/cor/3 10537067 202206 _990T 2023051921268616.pdf, a

copy of which is attached as Exhibit 8.

10.  The College solicits donations for charitable purposes, including in support of the
Cincinnati Library, stating on its website that “HUC-JIR is not only North America’s premier
institution of Jewish higher education, we also are home to some of the most important scholarly
publications and cultural and historic artifacts in the world. Your gift today enables us to collect,

preserve, and share these treasures with the world now and into the future.” See Klau Library
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Solicitation at https://huc.edu/donate/klau-library-donation/, a copy of which is attached as

Exhibit 16. See also Hebrew Union Gifts of Impact Solicitation at https:/huc.edu/donate/gifts-

of-impact/, a copy of which attached as Exhibit 14.

11.  The College is a “charitable organization” as that term is defined in R.C.
1716.01(A) and a “charitable trust” as that term is defined in R.C. 109.23, and the College, as
well as its directors, ofticers, and others who solicit, receive, or expend charitable donations, are
considered fiduciaries and have been acting in a fiduciary capacity as contemplated by
R.C. 1716.17.

12.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction in this case pursuant to R.C. 2305.01.

13.  This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the College pursuant to
R.C. 2307.382 because the acts and omissions alleged in this Complaint occurred and are
occurring in Ohio and/or because they involve or relate to the activities of Ohio residents and
Ohio corporations and entities.

14.  Venue is proper in Hamilton County because that is where the College’s principal
place of business is located and that is where the Cincinnati Library and its collection is located.
IIT. ACTIVITIES GIVING RISE TO THIS COMPLAINT

A. The Cincinnati Library holds a world-class collection of literary works for the
benefit of Ohioans and scholars from around the world.

15. The Cincinnati Library collection began in 1875 with a donation of 130 items but has
grown to more than 600,000 items. See American Jewish Libraries: Klau Library at

https://jewishlibraries.org/klau-library-huc-cincinnati/, a copy of which has been attached as

Exhibit 5. and About the Cincinnati Library at https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/. a copy of

which has been attached as Exhibit 1.
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16. The Cincinnati Library holds Special Collections that “comprise one of the finest Judaica

research collections in the world” and are made “available to researchers around the globe....”

See Hebrew Union Special Collections at https://huc.edw/libraries/special-collections/, a copy of

which has been attached as Exhibit 6.

17. Based on information and belief, these assets are worth millions of dollars. Within the
Special Collection is the extraordinary Rare Book and Manuscript Collection, which “includes
rare incunabula, illuminated manuscripts, Biblical codices, communal records, legal documents,
and scientific tracts” such as “the First Cincinnati Haggadah (Germany, 15th century) and the
Second Cincinnati Haggadah (Moravia, 18th Century)” and the “Kaifeng manuscripts from the
Ming Dynasty (1368-1644) . . ., and the only known manuscripts which contain both Chinese
and Hebrew characters.” See Hebrew Union Rare Book and Manuscript Collection Overview at

https://huc.edu/libraries/special-collections/rare-book-and-manuscript-collection/, a copy of

which has been attached as Exhibit 7.

18. In furtherance of its mission, the Cincinnati Library “acquires, preserves, and provides
access to materials in printed, manuscript, and other formats” to meet “the research needs of its
various users” including *“‘the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area” and “the broader
Judaic academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” See Klau Library

Mission at https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/. a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit 3.

19. Upon information and belief, in its books and records, the College does not capitalize the
Cincinnati Library collection and does not account for the Cincinnati Library collection as

saleable or fungible assets.
20. Under applicable accounting principles, to avoid capitalizing a collection, the collection

must meet three criteria: (1) It is held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance

Page S of 18



of public service rather than financial gain, (2) it is protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and
preserved, and (3) it is subject to an organizational policy that requires the use of proceeds from
items that are sold to be for the acquisition of new collection items, the direct care of existing
collections, or both.

21. According to annual audited financial statements for the College, “Proceeds from
deaccessions or insurance recoveries are included as increases in the appropriate net asset
classes. Proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other
collection items.” See Financial Statements, Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
and Single Audit Reports as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, available at

https:/ /projects propublica.org/nonprofits/display audit/ 19292020221, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 9, and Financial Statements, Report of Independent Certified Public
Accountants and Single Audit Reports as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, available at

https://app.fac.gov/dissemination/summary/2023-06-GSAFAC-000001 1281, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 10.

B. An April 19 news report detailed significant, nonpublic efforts at the College to cut
funding for and explore sale of rare items from the Cincinnati Library.

22. On April 19, 2024, a news report discussed, among other things, efforts within the
College to sell off the Cincinnati Library’s collection “to save the college from its crippling
deficits,” under the guise of deaccession, and amidst broader funding cuts to the Cincinnati
Library. See Cincy | Jewfolk Article: How to Close a Campus at

https://cincyiewfolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-

cincinnati-pays-the-price/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 8. Specific claims in the press

report include the following:
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In the early 2020s, during a strategic planning initiative, the College administration
attempted “to quietly offload the Cincinnati Klau Library to both the University of
Cincinnati and the University of Chicago ([President] Rehteld’s alma mater), which
members of the libraries task force only discovered—by accident—after months of
meetings.”

. “In 2021, [the Cincinnati Library] budget was cut by 22%, severely reducing
acquisitions, which the libraries task force warned would make the Klau unable to
stay up-to-date for research.”

“More recently, the college reportedly has not allowed Klau staff to fundraise for
the library, or even pursue the many grants available for research libraries.”

. “In 2023, HUC-JIR hired a part-time library grants writer, but the Klau has received
no grants from that effort.”

“Spending on acquisitions has also been dramatically reduced. While HUC-JIR’s
audits don’t show breakdowns by location, they report that total spending on
acquisitions across all of the college’s libraries and museums went from around
$230,000 in the mid-2010s to under $120,000 by 2023.”

“The Klau, which has usually had a roughly $2 million budget (largely from HUC-
JIR’s unrestricted funds), will be reduced to operating on just half a million dollars
of endowment funds in fiscal year 2025.”

. “As most of the library staff are concentrated in Cincinnati, the expectation is that

at least half of the roughly 12 full-time Klau employees will be laid oft.”
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“In early 2024, Yoram Bitton, HUC-JIR’s national director of libraries, resigned
after allegedly being pressured by the administration to sell rare books from the
Klau.”

The College has claimed to be “formalizing our collections policy and engaging an
independent consultant...to understand the value of our holdings.”

“[1]n mid-March, the “independent consultant” that came to evaluate the Klau
holdings was Sharon Liberman Mintz, the international senior specialist in Judaica
for the auction house Sotheby’s. Along with Mintz came Shaul Seidler-Feller,
another Judaica specialist at Sotheby’s.”

“Mintz will give a report to the administration with her evaluation of the Klau
holdings, which is expected to include options for potential sales.”

“Internally, the administration is reportedly talking about selling rare books as a
necessary financial move to save the college from its crippling deficits.”

. “One of the items potentially being put to auction is the Klau’s set of the Bomberg
Talmud—one of 12 known complete 16th-century sets of the earliest press-printed
Talmud in history. The Klau’s Bomberg Talmud is the only publicly available set
in North America, and the only set held by a Jewish institution.”

“HUC-JIR’s statement to Cincy Jewfolk did not deny that the Bomberg Talmud
may be up for sale.”

. “The college has no formal deaccessioning policy, but its public audits state that
‘proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other

collection items.’”
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C. The College did not provide records or assurance that the world-class collection at
the Cincinnati Library would be held and maintained for charitable and public use.

23.

Following the April 19 press report, the Attorney General wrote to the College

seeking an immediate agreement assuring that Special Collection items, including Rare Books,

would not be sold or deaccessioned and that no collection items would be sold other than to raise

funds to acquire other collection items for the Cincinnati Library.

24.

25.

The College did not provide the requested assurance.

The Attorney General also issued an investigative Record Request seeking

immediate production of records relating to the certain allegations in the April 19 Article,

including:

26.

The engagement letter for Sotheby’s and any inventory of items valued or to be
valued by Sotheby’s.

Communications and records regarding possible sale or other transfer of some or
all of the Cincinnati Library Collection to either the University of Cincinnati or The
University of Chicago.

The budget for the Cincinnati Library in the current fiscal year and the fiscal year

beginning July 1, 2024.

. An accounting of any items deaccessioned, sold, or otherwise transferred from the

Cincinnati Library.

Minutes, notes, and other records regarding possible sales or deaccessioning of
items in the Cincinnati Library collection, including use of proceeds to pay deficits
of the College.

The College did not provide the requested records.
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D. Sotheby’s could quickly sell items such as those in the Special Collection, including
by private sale.

27.  Auction house Sotheby’s Judaica Department offers Hebrew manuscripts and
books, silver, ritual objects, paintings, and graphics. See Sotheby’s Judaica Department

Overview at https:/www.sothebys.com/en/departments/judaica?locale=en, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 11.

28.  Auction house Sotheby’s is the only international auction house which holds an
annual sale of lmportant Judaica and employs eleven specialists in this tield. See Sotheby’s

Judaica Department Overview at htips://www.sothebys.com/en/departments/judaica’locale=en, a

copy of which is attached as Exhibit 11.
29.  Auction house Sotheby’s offers the ability to sell items immediately online, via
auctions, via private sale, or via retail. See Sotheby’s Auction and Private Sales at

www.sothebys.com/en/sell?local=en, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 12 and Sotheby’s

Buy Now and Retail Locations at www.sothebys.com/en/sell?local=en, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 13.

E. The College continues to solicit donations generally and specifically based on the
strength of the Cincinnati Library without disclosing to donors that it is cutting
funding and exploring sales of Special Collections or Rare Book items.

30. At the same time the College has both explored opportunities to sell items from

the Cincinnati Library collection “to save the college from its crippling deficits” and continued to

cut funding to the Cincinnati Library, it has also been and is soliciting donations—both by
promoting the strength of the Cincinnati Library, generally, and expressly asking donors to
support the Cincinnati Library, specifically.

31.  The College generally solicits donations with emphasis on “many opportunities to

make a significant impact on the people and programs of the College” including by supporting
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Global and Cultural Treasures, featuring the Cincinnati Library. See Gifts of Impact Solicitation

at hitps://huc.edu/donate/gifts-of-impact/#global, a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit

14, and Hebrew Union Global Treasures Gifts Solicitation at https://huc.edu/donate/gifts-of-

impact/#global, a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit 15.

32.  The College specifically solicits donations telling donors its “global and cultural
treasures,” featuring the Cincinnati Library, “are preserved, protected and enhanced with
generous support of our donors.” Hebrew Union Global Treasures Gifts Solicitation at

https://huc.edu/donate/gifts-o F-impact/#alobal, a copy of which has been attached as Exhibit 15.

And donors are asked to “Support the Klau Library” so that the College can “collect, preserve,
and share these treasures with the world now and into the future.” See Klau Library Solicitation

at https://huc.edu/donate/klau-library-donation/, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 16.

33, The College, including its directors, officers, and employees who solicit, collect,
or expend donations, owes fiduciary duties to donors and to beneficiaries in conducting its
program services, including, without limitation, the duties of care, of loyalty, to maintain
accounts, and to comply with the law as applied to the Cincinnati Library collection.

34. This action is being initiated against the College and its directors, trustees,
officers and/or agents that have committed and would commit additional, imminent violations of
Ohio law and their applicable fiduciary duties regarding the funding and collections of the
Cincinnati Library as set forth in this Complaint.

IV. ATTORNEY GENERAL'’S CLAIMS

COUNT ONE: DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES IN CHARITABLE
SOLICITATIONS, R.C. 1716.14(A)(1)

35. Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this

Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.
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36. R.C. 1716.14(A)(1) provides that “The following acts and practices are hereby
prohibited and declared unlawful as applied to the planning, conducting, or executing of any
solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable purpose or to the planning,

conducting, or executing of a charitable sales promotion: (1) Committing any deceptive act or

2

practice . ...
37. Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in this
Complaint constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of R.C. 1716.14(A)(1).

COUNT TWO: MISLEADING PERSONS AS TO MATERIAL FACTS CONCERNING
SOLICITATION, R.C. 1716.14(A)(2)

38.  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.

39.  R.C.1716.14(A)(2) provides that “The following acts and practices are hereby
prohibited and declared unlawful as applied to the planning, conducting, or executing of any
solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable purpose or to the planning,
conducting, or executing of a charitable sales promotion: . . . (2) Misleading any person as to any
material fact concerning the solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or
charitable purpose or concerning a charitable sales promotion . . ..”

40. Through Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in
this Complaint, they have misled and/or are misleading one or more individuals as to material

facts concerning the solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable

purpose in violation of R.C. 1716.14(A)(2).

Page 12 of 18



COUNT THREE: MISLEADING PERSONS AS TO USE OF DONATED PROCEEDS,
R.C. 1716.14(A)(5)

41. Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.

42. R.C. 1716.14(A)(5) provides that “The following acts and practices are hereby
prohibited and declared unlawful as applied to the planning, conducting, or executing of any
solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization or charitable purpose or to the planning,
conducting, or executing of a charitable sales promotion: . . . (5) Misleading any person in any
manner in the belief, or making or using any representation to any person that implies, that the
organization on whose behalf a solicitation or charitable sales promotion is being conducted is a
charitable organization or that the proceeds of the solicitation or charitable sales promotion will
be used for a charitable purpose if either of those is not the fact . . ..”

43. Through Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in
this Complaint, Defendant has misled and/or is misleading one or more individuals as to material
facts concerning the use of solicited proceeds in violation of R.C. 1716.14(A)(5).

COUNT FOUR: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES, COMMON LAW

44,  Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if
fully rewritten herein.

45.  Defendant owed and owes fiduciary duties to administer charitable assets
according to donor intent and for the benefit of intended charitable beneficiaries of the Cincinnati
Library, including the duty of care, the duty of loyalty, the duty to properly manage accounts,
and the duty to comply with the law, as well as other duties, including, but not limited to, the

duty not to waste charitable trust assets and to act in the best interest of the charity.
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46. By the acts, omissions, and imminent acts identitied in this Complaint, Defendant
has breached and/or is breaching its fiduciary duties to collect, preserve, and share the Cincinnati
Library collection for the charitable benefit of the public, including the Greater Cincinnati
community.

47.  Defendant’s breaches of fiduciary duties as alleged in this Complaint have and/or
will directly and proximately caused injury, loss or damage to charitable assets and/or damages
to the charitable beneficiaries in an amount not yet known but exceeding $25,000.

COUNT FIVE: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES, STATUTORY

48. Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as if fully rewritten herein.

49.  R.C.1716.17 provides: “Every person who solicits, collects or expends
contributions on behalf of a charitable organization or for a charitable purpose or who conducts a
charitable sales promotion, and every officer, director, trustee, or employee of that person who is
concerned with the solicitation, collection, or expenditure of those contributions shall be
considered a fiduciary and as acting in a fiduciary capacity.”

50.  The duty under R.C. 1716.17 requires fiduciaries to perform their duties in good
faith, in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
organization, and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use
under similar circumstances.

51. R.C. 1716.14(A)(12) provides that it is unlawful to operate “in violation of, or

fail[] to comply with, any of the requirements” in R.C. Chapter 1716.
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52. Defendant, by its actions, omissions, and imminent acts as alleged above in this
Complaint, has breached and is breaching its fiduciary duties in violation of R.C. 1716.17 and/or
1716.14(A)(12).

COUNT SIX: ABUSE OF CHARITABLE TRUST, R.C. 109.24

53. Plaintiff Attorney General incorporates by reference, as if completely rewritten
herein, all prior paragraphs of this Complaint.

54. R.C. 109.24 provides that the Attorney General “shall institute and prosecute a
proper action to enforce the performance of any charitable trust, and to restrain the abuse of it
whenever he considers such action advisable.”

55. Defendant’s acts, omissions, and imminent additional acts identified in this
Complaint constitute an abuse of a charitable trust, in violation of R.C. 109.24.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, pursuant to his statutory and common law authority, Plaintiff Attorney
General respectfully requests this Court grant the following relief:

A. Prohibit and permanently enjoin Defendant from selling, transferring, removing
from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati
Library’s collection except to generate proceeds to acquire other collection items
for the Cincinnati Library.

B. Prohibit and permanently enjoin Defendant from selling, transferring, removing
from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati
Library’s Special Collections (including the Rare Book collection) without

approval by the Board of Directors after sixty-days written notice to the Ohio
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Attorney General in a reasonable form and manner prescribed by the Ohio Attorney
General.

C. Prohibit and permanently enjoin the College from using the proceeds from selling,
transferring, removing from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any
item in the Cincinnati Library’s collection for any purpose other than to acquire
other collection items for the Cincinnati Library’s collection.

D. Grant the Attorney General other relief as the Court deems proper and necessary.

Very respectfully submitted,

DAVE YOST
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO

Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)

Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352

Daniel. Fausey@OhioAGO.gov
William.Sieck@OhioAGO.gov
Deana.Leffler@OnioAGO.gov
Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov
Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General’s Exhibit Index

Exhibit Name

1 About the Cincinnati Library

2 Hebrew Union 1950 Merger Amendment

3 Klau Library Mission

4 Hebrew Union 2021-22 990-T

5 American Jewish Libraries: Klau Library

6 Hebrew Union Special Collections

7 Hebrew Union Rare Book and Manuscript

Collection Overview
8 Cincy | Jewfolk Article: How to Close a
Campus
9 Financial Statements, Report of Independent
Certified Public Accountants and Single

Audit Reports as of June 30, 2022 and 2021

10 Financial Statements, Report of Independent

Certified Public Accountants and Single

Audit Reports as of June 30, 2023 and 2022

11 Sotheby’s Judaica Department Overview

12 Sotheby’s Auction and Private Sales

13 Sotheby’s Buy Now and Retail Locations

14 Hebrew Union Gifts of Impact Solicitation

15 Hebrew Union Global Treasures Gifts

Solicitation
16 Klau Library Solicitation
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO
STATE OF OHIO, ex rel.
DAVE YOST,
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL, Case No.:

COPY FILED
CLERK OF COURTS
HAMILTOMN COUNTY

JUN 03 204

COMMON PLEAS COURTS

Plaintif, Judge A2402430

V.

HEBREW UNION COLLEGE-JEWISH

INSTITUTE OF RELIGION, VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT
Defendant.
State of Ohio )
) SS

County of Perry )

I, Christina Hall, of lawful age, being first duly sworn, depose and state that [ am a Major Case
Investigator in the Charitable Law Section of the Attorney General’s Office, that [ have read the
forgoing Complaint and attached Exhibits, that I understand the contents thereof, and that the
allegations and facts stated in the Complaint are true and cotrect, to the best of my personal

knowledge, information, and belief.

@istinn Hall ]

Christina Hall

Swomn to and subscribed in my presence, this 31st day of May, 2024.

.

MacKenzie Storm Clayton

Commission # 2018-RE-707238
Electronic Notary Public
State of Ohio

My Comm Exp. Feb 22, 2028

LAY

L;nd(emiz S. Clayton.
otary Public

T

Notarial act performed by audio-visual communication
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5 This ig to certify that at the first regular meeting

of the Board of Trustees (Bosrd of Governors) of Hebrew Union

College - Jewieh Institute of Rellgion (formed by the consolidation

of Hebrew Union College, an educational corporation organized and
existing under the lawe of Ohio, and Jewish Institute of Religion,

an educationel corvoration orgsnized and exlsting by virtue of a special
act of the Leglslaturs of the State of New York), held pursuent to
notice, there was duly delivered to Ben)emin Mielziner, Seoretary

of sald first meeting,: the respective records of ratification of the
Agreement of Consolidation by the Board of Governors of Hebrew Unlon
College, by the Executive Board of The Union of Americen Hebrew Congre-
gations (which has elected a mejority ot‘ the Tiustees of Hebrew Unilon
College, not includlng the President) and is now authorized to elect

a majority of tke Board of Trustees of the consolidated corporaftion,
(not including the President) and by the Board of Trustees 6f Jewish
Inetitute of Religlon, duly certifled by the Sedretary of each such
meeting of such conetituent corporations,

This 1is mrther to certify that at sald flrst meetirg of the
consolidated oorporation, the following resolution was adopted by unani-
mous vote of the Tmstees.

"RESOLVED. ‘that the proceedings and aots of the

Board of Governors of the. Hevrew Union College, the-

Executive Board of The Union of American Hebrew .

Congregations, and'the Board of Trustees of the Jewish

Inatitute. of Religion, as duly certified by the respec—

tive Secretaries of each meeting thereof to the SBecretary

of this first meeting of the Board of Trusteea of the :
congolidated corporation be, and they hereby sre approved,
and ‘that the  Seoretary o6f this meeting be, and-he hereby.

is, authorized and directed to certify the Agreement of

Oonsolidation, an exeouted original of which is attached

hereto, and to file this certificate in the office of ..

the Secretary of State of Ohlo, to file an exeouted original

of sald Agreement of Consolidation in the office of the -

Seocretary of State of New. York, and in the ofrice of the

Clerk of New York County, and to file a oopy thereof, duly

certified by the Secretary of 8tate of Ohlo, 1in the .

ofrioe of the Recorder of Hamilton county, Ohios"

This 18 mrther to oertify that the firat Board of Truatecs

[
r sald consolidated corporation, nho have pean'seleoted.pureuane-

e, s it
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to the Agreexzent of Consolidatfion and the amended Rules and Regu-

lations of Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religlon,

are as follows:
NAMES

Marcus Lester Aaron
Robert 8, Adler

Jacob Aronson

Mrs, Alice Bachrach
Abram Berkowite

Herbert R. Bloch

Louls Caplan

A, B, Cohen

Hugo Dalsheimer

Rabbl Maurice- N, Eigendrath
Rabbl Abrahem J, Feldman
Lewis Fox

Max Getz

Rabbl Nelson Glueck, Prees Ex-Officlo

Dr. J. VYiotor Greenebaum
Rabbl Ferdinand M. Issérman
Lester A, Jaffe, Chalrman
Benjsmin. S, Katsz

Fred Lazarus, Jr.

Leon Lederer

Rabbi Edgar F. Magnin

- Rabbi- Julius Mark .

Sidney Meyers’

Robert Rosenbaum
Samuel I._Rosenman?
Mrs, Loulpg A, Rosett -
Rabbi ( Jacob Singer
Jack H, Skirball
Rabbl Phineas Smoller
Mrs. Arthur Hays Sulzberger
Frank L, Weil’

Dr. Hiram B, Welas
Bernard Werthan .
Rabbi David H, hice
Rabbl Samuel WOhl

Morton Baum

Walter 8, Hilborn
Judge Joseph M, L4vine
Irving A.. Manacher
Hermnan M, Stein

Israel N, Thurman
Rabbi Abraham J, Brachman
Bernard D, Klein
Dewey D, 8tone:

Dr, Henry Slénimsky
Dr. Salo W.: Baron
Joseph Duret:

Rabbl Morton ¥. Berman
Rabbi Judah Cahn ---
Rabbi Edward E, Klein .
Rabbi Jacob P, Rudin
Arthur Rosenbloom

el A b Y e i e [T

POST OFFICE ADDRESSES

Pittsburgh, Fa.
Chioago, Ill,.

New York, N. Y,

New York, N, Y,
Boston, Mass.
Cincinnatli, Ohio
Plttehurgh, Pa,
Cinoinnati, Ohio
South Orange, N. J.
Baltimore, Md,
Cincinnati, Ohilo
Hartford, Gonn.’
Hartford, Conn,
Cincinnati, Ohio
Cincinnatl, Ohio
Cincinnatl, Ohio

St. Louis,; Mos
Cincinnati, Onhio
Cincinnati, Ohio
Cincinnati, Ohio
Cincinnatl, Ohlo

Los Angeles, Calif,
New York, N¢ Y.
Cincinnati, Ohio’
Philadelphia, Pa,

New York, Ne Yo

New Rochelle, ‘N, Y,
Chicago, Ill,

Beverly Hills, Calif,
Chicago, Il1,

New York, N. Y.

New York, N« Y,
Oinoinnatl, Ohlo
Nachville,- Tenn,
Philadelphia, Pa,
Cincinnati, Ohlo

New York, N, .Y,
Beverly Hills, Gallf.
New York, N« Ya

New York, Ne Yo
Lawrence, N. Y.

New York, N. Y,

Fort Worth, Texas .
Long Igland Oity, N. Y.
Brockton, Masse :
New York, N¢ Y.

New York, N« Y.

New York, N« Y.
Chicago, Ill,
Gedarhurstﬁ M, Y.-

" New York,

Oreat Neok, H. Io
New York, Nl Y.
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Tnis ¢ rurther to certify thet at g=21d4 first zeetirg
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of said coneolidated corporation, now known as Hebrew Union College -
Jewleh Institute of Religion, the follonxing offlivers were duly B

elected:

Lester A, Jaffe, Cincinnsti, Ohio —~ Chalirmen, Board
of Governors

Kerbert R. Bloch, Cincinnati, Ohio - Yiee Chairzan
Joseph M, Levine,; New York, N. Y. - Vice Chairman
Frank L, ¥ell; New York, Ni Y. ~ Vice Chaliman
Leon Lederer, Glhcinnati, Onio - Treasurer

Sidney Meyera, Cincinnet}l, Ohio - Yice Treasurer
Benjamin Hielziner, Oincinnati, Ohlo - Seoratary

Xaxwell Lyons, Glncinnati, Ohio -~ Assistant Secretary

IN WITHESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been duly signed
by the duly elected Secretary of Hebrew Union College -~ Jewish ‘
Inetitute of Religion, who also acted as Secretary of the first meet~
ing of suld Board of Trustees, and aealed with the corporate seal
or'aald corporation, all in asccordence with the provleionsagf Geﬁeral

" Code of Ohio, Section 10038; et seds . ¢

Becretary, Boorad of Governors, .

(Board of Trustees) Mebrew Union

College - Jehleh Institute of
Religion




W : . S g - S s

P . = Y | '“:“-..\\ I o ) ‘ . ©
I.“"j; 2T . . e . , ) . .
Lo ~_M02° 8

i . | | '\\-».r . m ')6(, i ‘,) q

' LR AT rede as of t‘n-o':«.nh :!zy af Jenuvery, 1250
‘ 10t\ro\n b‘l\ﬁ‘“ UNION COLLEGE - J)E1SH Iﬁ“Ti"’ T OF CILIOICH,
en eduestionsl cotp)utlon e¢rgenized and elutlng under tre
lavs of the Etate or Ohlo (horeinarhrrefernd to ts '?ebrew :
: . Unlcn') :nd JE.\ltK I£6TLTVIE oF ¥ Llot;l, an e&ucauoml cor~
B . i _poratlm orgenlua and txutlng by virtue of e spectol et
T of the t.uhlntuu of the Statc of New !ora (herazmﬂer re-
rerm to a3 lmuwte'),

-
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" h'zfﬁEiE, Ho‘brcf Un.i.o:a was incorporatad on Janun:ry 8,
- 1926, pnrauant to Becuom Hlue Thousmd Nine Bnndred and ?_ '

'_ 'rhlrty-rour et uq. er the anerel codo of 0h19; und

s HHE.R!:\S, Init:ltuta vas organtxed by tpoﬁa]. ae* of

1]

i tho Loghhmu of (thq Sute o{ :lew xou, pu;fd:at té ctupur -_. %
?oar Hm&rod imd ?ltty—ona or lb- lws ot Huteta Hmdtd :
i : _'Iumtj'-threa, as ahmdad ‘by cnupur !hr« ﬁunénd ,}:is'hty of

: = '_ttp uis of ﬂmttm umm Th.lrty ehd by.chaptcr 81: Bmﬁrcl

e Thi.::ty of thc avs’ or umet-m Iuaérod rqrt;—nann .

ey
'jg.,'..\, A ,m,\-'[.

L ‘ WBHW«S, Hﬂ)l‘ﬂ! Vutqn and' zuuwu hnn unlhr a'b-
Z'-'f'.lacts md ws-bblu and ror nany yeu;‘a ht‘ro eng&sei in related

jutivltlu; md _." :

e o '*f »v‘laﬂxhs, to ctt‘cct co?noaiu l.n t.hc z-iﬁh.lstntloa,
r3 mﬂ to psnit of a mrn eruotae mﬁ o:rnuu opﬁ‘sudaﬂuf _
: '{tba wo «mntim, 5 ¢muaudauu thg-no,f ia nﬁ_uhgbh op oo

b T T s
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L ﬂrﬁru, auch mnnhum 1: :cmu;ua puramt."
w cutm ru rumua ‘thirty-elsht at u«or m om

;._‘.___r _____'
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olgggull Co;le_, and by Chapter £1> Kundred Thlrty of the levs:

of Ninsteen Bmdred Forty-nine of the Ltite of K_é\; York;_‘and

e _ .VOEREAS, at a !:Mtinr of tho Po&rd of ‘l’nutscs af
5-,!'7"- . ' Instuute held on Jenuﬁry 19, 1950 the connlldaum of Hlebrew
Union end Institute in the | Sanner horoluouer eet rort:n ves "
authorlud wd apprcﬂd by the nuc—nts of zore then wn-t.huu‘.l
‘of the Tmsuﬂ of Inatitutﬂ m:..l vherul, st & rutins of tht g
Emrd of 'rru:uu 2 ¢ Bobnu Unlon to ‘to Nld o-n Jmunry 25, 1”0
thc consoudauon —st‘aebrw Unlon m& nmmm {n’ the : AANET

s ¥ ;Q}l :
hereinai‘tnr ut l‘orthﬂl‘r/mthorued ‘and apprond 'Irr t.he msmt-

"

‘of more than tw—thlrds ‘of tho ‘l'rmteel or Bobm Untu; mg i

. mbm;s, '.ho eokpomuon roeu.lt'ng fro:a su.eh comou- {'
- dt-.tion ll !uumftcr rnfirl‘ed ta n 'coawlldatqﬂ corporat.ion'j

g ﬁ'l, THERBFDRE, in oonsideratim of tha r.uh:sl
_ prouiua, cﬂemts &ad caadltians herem coatas.nad, it l.s
jagreed u ranwu . _'..'-'_ St e, SN R '

.,x' * 5

. - : ';'7'“ MHQ of &m:oudnted cor;omuon shau. b'
: "HEBFLE.V unn}n co!.z.mg - mxéu msrrruzz o.—' n.rl.zqmun

ol __,w‘ re

' A 2. cmsolianted eo:yorauon than '06 deoraed hcor— R

poratcd pnd d:ilung wuln thp lavs, of % he State of éuo, unh &
3101 Clifton Avenue; . .- _

principu. plhu of. b'.tslnus 1ocated at,&.mcimtti, C:unty or
nmum, State or. onio; cmsond.tu ear:—orauon shall n;nuu
.‘-"a plee-l or busl.neu 1n thc Gitf z.nd Stato or 'Iav 1'3rx er-.-i my :“ '
, _"'trsmu tml.nna md oapdut atttvlun 1n other cnh:, tcm-
il -__'toriu or pou’usiom of tha Unlttd stftu or hra":ere oue 1a tho
3 'uorld, consoudttcd eorpsutlon ohau ptmmngly valntatn rah—

o '.'biniqal adnoals 1n clnolnmti, Dhlo snd lw You, ﬂw !orx.

';'?i The (;urpoul or molmm mpornicll Ml
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(s) To eutabltsh and naintain a Jerish educa-
tionsal 1nstltut!on or lnstitut!ons, which shall be o,en to

all persons upon egusl terns, end nhich shsll Operato under
the pathon:—go of The Union of }.aerican Eehﬂr Congruations;
to. ;ropurc studeats to becozo Rabbls, Jetish Peliglous
Toaehers end Soefal rorkers; to pronote ths stndy or the.
Jo:ish lal!gion, history and iiterature, and othor-iso t

"'foster ard perpetuite Judsisn end to disse**ﬂfle knorledxe

9 t}la reof.

o X (ﬁ)‘ QO';;tabiisﬁsend naiﬂtain séhéoié~ié tréii._f; o
_ln libetal apirit nen and ronen ror the Joiish ninistry, : -
:research aad co:unnity servicoj to study,soieutifically

;'Jeuish Aitaraturc, history and 7eligious experieneo, and to
nake availablo o tha xeneral publio a conatructiya knosledge i

: of Judaia-, 1ts spiritual and social 1deala, its history and :

I utlook “ﬂ 1th éantrhmt:ton to t.he wrldls pfo:rast; t5 ad-
'5,173“3' Jcrish tcholsrshipj tc astablish and naintain Iy library

1“::and to odncate and train Rabbie, Cantors and reaehers. _ 1.:.-

B ‘ fo) ro grént and cOnrer the dogroes of Rabbi, ‘
_i“laatﬁr of aobrer Literatnrc, Bachelor of Bcbrcw Literatura,f P
--:Doctor of ﬂobrer Literature, Doctor or Jawﬁsh Theology, LR
'Doctor of mvinity, Doetor of Eebrew Le'%ten‘s, Doctcr ‘of l‘u-_".
.braie ﬁtndios and. such athor dcgrsas, dlplOlas snd ecrtlti-ﬁ" Ry
-.utc: as’ co:port ﬂu: tho fontom pnrpous or tiu consoudate-d _'
'. 'eorpornuan. Ny ‘-_‘ e A ?_"-'- BP

o

o T = -

' 4. 'l'ho hunbar or rmsteoa or comondatod cnrpora-'; W '
. tiun shall be pot loas than trcnty-rour (24}, ncr wore’ than '3-7
5 _rirty-rour (54) and’ the Proai -ut ox orripio.. Initially
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'oné-th;rd of the hu:bor |he11'bé neatnated by,lns(liuted :

5 '2uo Hules, end Regulhtiona or B)-th« of ecn-
_solldated corporntlon ahrll pro*-vlbo tho nuabor, cus 11rlca-'
4 tions, po:en, térao of ofrice end mnrer of tolecticn of
-rrqstcu and o!‘lic-:rs end rll cl,hor prt-\lc*.oas for the rogulr-
tton of m arfriru end bh:. mnabuent ;: ¢ du;.f:s}‘uqn of dte

: prOpertya Such Bules ané Resdlatlonv or BynLaus thail to sitw'
13;-jeet to. the ptovlslons hcrein contsincd. . '

.-‘-_..

o g o mo ’trustee1 no:alnat.ed by Instltute sh 11 hsvo E
; e relr ey adequato vapresm.stion c-n el o::.mstteu, ~the 2
'_f_..‘_'v'_a.ct.ivities ot which -mn airacuy or indircctly ;rr‘ect t‘nk-' Eyes
' .:‘."':':'_rabbinioal snhoolg to bo mmtaimd b? contondntet. corgara-f‘”""—*"' .
'.{:_"txon Ln tho cu.y ‘of Rén Iou, ' . 7

AT M 10&55 one noating ofkt,hc B"trf‘ of Twstccs :
' f'-':_fahau be hcld mnually Hl the Citr ot Haa ).cmc or aith!n s it % ‘s

u 3I vqrhoaQ ﬂt -E’lﬁlsbur h,:
“Aro ﬁﬁ;Lgn o ky &m““ﬁfn

ron Ol'l » ot : o%.-Y
11.P iiremu ﬁi-‘i ork £ :

Alfred: :e'hrﬁeh; S ,
tb
?ox ii, Ohlo

"Abrsa. 40::1 Loy w50 Fedaw.l. tii~
;Eo,vfutt E Bloch : ‘;__.'-313 Vine' ﬁs? }f hmr par!
% .

gg Lon. f ick Bld &?

ST b3 o 58 lhruf ht nmu, Ohfo

Lo nu o Da.lhhoim - U Lelguret llill, losv 6, Ndi

.+ 1RebbL Manrice q. 4 Yoat 68h. n;.,»cino1nnpt1, Ohio
LN SIS Bl gendrath o

{0 Rebbi Abrud J‘. ?cldmn 145 Banm' D{ ‘Mg tford, conm

Lewis, rox : Prozpadt Ave inttor
m: wu o stn ead Vine Stei; € ou;hr.h,
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.“tlon shall bo hold biéqhialiy, bfg:lnning Iit-h thg year 1950,
"'c'iaoinna-ti, Ohlo, or l ty; We B

|.' ¢,_4 A

P in e 3 ] ) J_. it
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of state or iau !ork énd 1:- tho orru‘c 6: _tﬁo cle\'k of leu .
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_ by the Fecretary of State of Ohio in the office of the Ro-
"_"corder of llu.llton Cmmty, Ohio, % the rixhts, prltlle;es,

frem.hlses and {ntereats’ or ueh of the eonstl tuent: corpora-

' -“_tions, ano? all the pl‘OpOl‘U’, resl, phrsonal end nixed, end

: an the d.bts duc on ul-ataver secount. to eny or then, as well

s aa 811 thln;s in aotion belon(ing to my of them, shall ba :

: -'-'_'1:takm and dﬁiﬁ % bo traml!‘orred to and vestod in couson-

-i;tod eori}orsti&h tdtlwat l‘vjrther et or doed; am,'- all claias,
del.a.nds, proparty a.nd cul-y othar 1nterost shall be as et- o W
. yoly t.ho pr&party or eaneongated corporation as they uoro & %
g or the eonstit-uant eorporations, and the tiue to al.l, real ;
ut.at& h.kdn 1314 d,ed Br Mheﬁris‘, vestod m qnjr ét ’Ehch eon--

' e snhmt corp‘ol'ﬁio;ﬁl. shan not 1u eby uy ba ilpai.red by :
ream ot tho' éﬁsandstion, but«sﬁau bo vésted in eo:wolia':' _'
L ,'i_datod eorpbrafion, H provldad, however, the r'irghts or ci'editau

:_-_"or sny eonstitucnt eorpﬁratioh shall not in aﬁy nanngr ba L s 0]

pairod nor shnll any mumy or obliga’uon due or: to heco-o

T el
LR R kit 1o

A

'i"}”nd‘““f ‘.’“,“Nﬁolidafb&! eoPDOratio”n mﬂ

r Av

_ '6bligat:lons or aae'h'or,th_ cor;&o:-atlons oo::séli&at in /che
Rty 'suo nannor ap it kﬁulidatod corporation hmi itself 9=

&t :- n“::' C'__ faL !‘f’ I-»r""r
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Mission
The Klau Library in Cincinnati !

functons both as a campus library and

as the main research library within the

HUCHIR Library syvstem. Guided by

thie Mission Statement of the HUC-JIR

Library system, the Cincinnati Library

acquirgs, preserves, and provides

access to materials in printed.

muanuscripr, and other formats,

supporting the teaching functions of

the rabbinical and graduate programs

and mecting the rescarch needs of its

various uscrs: the faculty, students, and

stafl of HUC-JIR Cincinnari; the

residents of the Cincinnat

metropolitan arca: and the broader

Judaic academic and general
community both in the United States

and abroad. As the main research
£ nes 3 - e 1. N e iz
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{11€ Klau Liorary (CInCInnauy Is @ Jewish researcn Norary in ¢ fardull
contains one of the largest collections of Judaic and Hebraic printed
roaterial in the world and is the largest of the four libraries in the

S8 G ; L > (HUG-JIR) -,
Previously called the Hebrew Union College Library, it was renamed in 1961
in honor of David W. Klau of New York, wio was a member of the College's
Board of Governors,

The library was established alengside Hebrew Union Coilege in 1875.1n
1931, the library moved into its first {ree-standing building, becoming the
first Jewish library in the world to reside in its own Building. In 19671, the
library moved into its current home and was renamead Klau Library. The

bisilding underwent extensive renovations in the 20C0s, and the Jewish
Foundation of Cincinnati Library Pavition, the library's grand entrance, was
dedicated when renovations were completed in 20009,

The Collection

The collection began with 130 velumas, mostly textbooks, and grew rapidiy
in size, initially from donations from founder Isaac Mayer Wise and his
family. Major acquisitions include the M. Kayserling Library (z gift from
Julius Rosenwald), the A. Fraiman Coliection, the Louis Grossman
Coliection, and a collection from Temple Emanu-Elin New York,

1 : S 1215 PM
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“ ] The Special Collections of the Klau Library
comprise one of the finest Judaica research
callections in the world. Available to researchers
around the globe, the rare books, manuscripts,
and music housed in the collections represent
millennia of the Jewish experience across the
globe.

Receive News and Updates from Hebrew Union College NAME _ EMAIL _
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Libraries
Haggadah

‘I'he Library’s extensive collection of manuscript and printed

cditons from Europe, Asia, and the Americas includes the

Jiirst Cincinnat Haggadah (Germang, 13th cenrury) and the

Seccond Cincinnati Haggadah (Moravia, 18th Century).

HUC-JIR Libraries
Free Online Resources
Library Datahases

Special Collections

Eduard Birmbaum Music Callection

Rare Boak and Manuscript

Collection .
H v mres et Y Tapte
I R Jews of Kaifeng Plsghyead Tenerar e Ve >
icilim Arc 2rs I I} iy DV,
Lu\,..a_ \atf iiu ers Amgrican N o ) ) . . 1 A ‘ @ /;} : .
Jewisht Pariodical Center 1'he Kaifeng mal-mst..rlpm from the Ming Dy nasty_ (1365- s ® Yoprwess g ‘g hia
1644) were acquired in the 1920s by the Library from a 3 = o 3} i ,‘1-4
Inventories of Selected missionary socicty. Lhe collection includes Torah portions, i Bnes o 1z o oy e
Cotlections prayer books, and the only known manuscripts which contain ff‘ é; S z i " H @
both Chinese and Hebrew characters. g Y I £ % '-,.w-T: -
ibrary Events EE N T
Library 2% A& g i

12:23 PM
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Accountants and Single Audit Reports
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GRANT THORNTON LLP
1000 Wilson Bivd., Suite 1400
Arlington, VA 22209-3927

D +1703847 7500
F +1703 848 9580

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Governing Board
Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute of Religion
Cincinnati, Ohio

Report on the financial statements

Opinion

WF; have audited the financial statements of Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute
of Religion (the “College-Institute”), which comprise the statements of financial
position as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the related statements of activities,
functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes
{o the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute of
Religion as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the changes in its net assets and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audits of the financial statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS) and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing
Standards). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the College-Institute and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial
doubt about the College-Institute’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year
after the date the financial statements are issued or available to be issued.

GT.COM

Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thomton Intemational Ltd {(GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firns
are separalte legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.



O Grant Thornton

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and fo issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reascnable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS and Government Auditing
Standards, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s
internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the College-Institute’s ability to
continue as a going concem for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit
findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplementary information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole. The Financial Responsibility Supplemental Schedule, as
required by the U.S. Department of Education’s Final Rule: Student Assistance
General Provisions, Federal Family Education Loan Program, and William D. Ford
Federal Direct Loan Programs and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
financial statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements
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and certain additional procedures. These additional procedures included comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with US GAAS. In our
opinion, the accompanying supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Other reporting required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report
dated November 17, 2022 on our consideration of the College-Institute’s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
College-Institute’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Pt Thandon LLP

Arlington, Virginia
November 17, 2022



Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30,

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Contributions receivable, net (Note B)
Student loans receivable, net

Investments (Note C)

Property and equipment, net (Note D)
Beneficial interest in remainder trusts (Note E)

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts (Note E)
Other assets

Library and museum collections (Note A)
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Line of credit (Note F)
PPP loan (Note G)

Accrued termination allowances and employee benefits payable
Note payable

Accrued pension obligations (Note J)

Accrued postretirement benefits other than pensions (Note K)
Deferred revenue

Total liabilities
Net assets
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

6

2022 2021
$ 22,020,522 $ 21,480,267
2,662,133 1,046,852
10,988,362 11,678,447
85,609 92,805
235,730,049 277,477,203
37,971,392 38,095,712
1,562,838 2,030,689
11,528,124 14,575,621
539,804 751,209

$ 322,988,833

$ 367,128,805

$ 1,149,148 $ 1,401,501
9,355,585 4,345,597

- 3,960,200

4,626,587 4,194,380

- 1,198

37,696,991 45,222,940
1,110,206 1,289,761
211,819 322,637
54,050,336 60,738,214
27,225,949 29,277,352
241,712,548 277,113,239
268,938,497 306,390,591

$ 322,988,833

$ 367,128,805




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2022

Operating revenue, gains and other support
Student tuition and fees, net
Contracted services
Investment return expended for current operations (Notes C and O)
Contributions, gifts, grants and bequests
Reform Movement Affiliation Commitment
Other operating revenue and support
PPP loan forgiveness
Net assets released from restrictions and other transfers (Note )

Total operating revenue, gains and other support

Operating expenses
Program services
Instruction
Academic support
Student services

Total program services
Management and general

Institutional support

Institutional advancement

Plant operations
Total management and general
Total operating expenses
Change in net assets from operating activities

Nonoperating income (loss)

Benefit plan related changes other than periodic benefit plan costs (Notes J and K)
Currency exchange loss

Change in value of remainder and perpetual trusts

Investment retumn, net (Note C)

Investment return expended for current operations

Net assets released for capital purposes and other transfers (Note )

Total nonoperating income (loss)
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
$ 2,028,946 $ - $ 2,028,946
2,661,714 34,057 2,695,771
8,058,436 3,258,608 11,317,044
4,083,840 9,203,028 13,286,868
5,724,728 - 5,724,728
1,702,295 - 1,702,295
3,960,200 - 3,960,200
12,131,888 (12,131,888) -
40,352,047 363,805 40,715,852
15,749,464 - 15,749,464
8,165,668 - 8,165,668
1,812,700 - 1,812,700
25,727,832 - 25,727,832
11,025,835 - 11,025,835
4,722,138 - 4,722,138
1,861,461 - 1,861,461
17,609,434 - 17,609,434
43,337,266 - 43,337,266
(2,985,219) 363,805 (2,621,414)
8,290,093 - 8,290,093
(41,228) (17,804) (59,032)
- (3,515,349) (3.515,349)
737,258 (28,966,606) (28,229,348)
(8,058,436) (3,258,608) (11,317,044)
6,129 (6,129) -
933,816 (35,764,496) (34,830,680)
(2,051,403) (35,400,691) (37,452,094)
29,277,352 277,113,239 306,390,591
$ 27,225,949 $ 241,712,548 $ 268,938,497




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2021

Operating revenue, gains and other support
Student tuition and fees, net
Contracted services
Investment return expended for current operations (Notes C and O)
Contributions, gifts, grants and bequests
Reform Movement Affiliation Commitment
Other operating revenue and support
Net assets released from restrictions and other transfers (Note I)

Total operating revenue, gains and other support

Operating expenses
Program services
Instruction
Academic support
Student services

Total program services
Management and general

Institutional support

Institutional advancement

Plant operations
Total management and general
Total operating expenses
Change in net assets from operating activities

Nonoperating income (loss)

Benefit plan related changes other than periodic benefit plan costs (Notes J and K)
Currency exchange gain

Change in value of remainder and perpetual trusts

Investment return, net (Note C)

Investment return expended for current operations

Net assets released for capital purposes and other transfers (Note 1)

Total nonoperating income (loss)
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
$ 2,036,912 $ - $ 2,036,912
2,547,417 65,336 2,612,753
7,435,338 2,979,355 10,414,693
4,282,595 9,819,897 14,102,492
5,582,246 - 5,582,246
1,805,142 - 1,805,142
6,139,820 (6,139,820) -
29,829,470 6,724,768 36,554,238
15,380,545 - 15,380,545
8,044,607 - 8,044,607
1,369,641 - 1,369,641
24,794,793 - 24,794,793
8,891,552 - 8,891,552
4,176,592 - 4,176,592
2,516,144 - 2,516,144
15,684,288 - 15,684,288
40,379,081 - 40,379,081
(10,549,611) 6,724,768 (3,824,843)
8,753,505 - 8,753,505
26,766 14,099 40,865
- 2,665,638 2,665,638
21,626,480 41,113,867 62,740,347
(7,435,338) (2,979,355) (10,414,693)
531,462 (531,462) -
23,502,875 40,282,787 63,785,662
12,953,264 47,007,555 59,960,819
16,324,088 230,105,684 246,429,772
$ 29,277,352 $ 277,113,239 $ 306,390,591




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Year ended June 30, 2022

Program Services

Management and General

Academic Student Institutional Institutional Plant
Instruction Support Services Total Support Advancement Operations Total Total
Salary and benefits $ 12,439,544 $ 5,829,774 $ 1,237,726 $ 19,507,044 $ 5,356,334 $ 3,897,337 $ 564,800 $ 9,818,471 $ 29,325,515
Student assistance 897,449 64,461 1,650 963,560 151,515 - - 151,515 1,115,075
Outside services 505,946 542,052 23,169 1,071,166 2,829,201 330,686 3,371 3,163,258 4,234,424
Repairs, utilities and insurance 93,689 120,281 8,195 222,165 957,093 47 1,136,466 2,093,606 2,315,771
Supplies, equipment and technology 115,932 514,504 409,250 1,039,685 610,829 100,763 37,787 749,379 1,789,064
Travel 250,167 201,827 25,468 477,462 169,184 104,460 444 274,088 751,550
Programs and events 430,872 320,050 21,211 772,132 69,682 105,486 293 175,461 947,593
Other expense 200,716 132,334 23,646 356,696 400,308 8,450 118,300 527,058 883,754
Total operating expenses 14,934,315 7,725,282 1,750,313 24,409,910 10,544,146 4,547,229 1,861,461 16,952,836 41,362,746
Depreciation 815,149 440,386 62,387 1,317,922 481,689 174,909 - 656,598 1,974,520
Total expenses $ 15749464 $ 8165668 $ 1,812,700 $ 25,727,832 $ 11,025835 § 4,722,138 § 1,861,461 $ 17,609,434 § 43,337,266

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.



Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Year ended June 30, 2021

Program Services

Management and General

Academic Student Institutional Institutional Plant
Instruction Support Services Total Support Advancement Operations Total Total
Salary and benefits $ 12,098,906 $ 6,090,787 $ 1,149,855 $ 19,339,548 $ 5,592,774 $ 3,692,268 $ 599,841 $ 9,884,883 $ 29,224,431
Student assistance 1,046,788 16,107 - 1,062,895 70,963 - - 70,963 1,133,858
Outside services 518,192 414,213 13,428 945,833 930,047 143,382 28,840 1,102,269 2,048,102
Repairs, utilities and insurance 233,643 197,114 15,457 446,214 624,724 155 1,705,015 2,329,894 2,776,108
Supplies, equipment and technology 119,707 528,384 90,924 739,015 573,162 113,806 28,362 715,330 1,454,345
Travel 10,589 80,294 1,296 92,179 55,145 3,454 3,657 62,256 154,435
Programs and events 210,673 151,747 11,392 373,812 103,151 33,493 1,109 137,753 511,565
Other expense 285,393 103,152 21,726 410,271 435,371 6,219 149,320 590,910 1,001,181
Total operating expenses 14,523,891 7,581,798 1,304,078 23,409,767 8,385,337 3,992,777 2,616,144 14,894,258 38,304,025
Depreciation 856,654 462,809 65,563 1,385,026 506,215 183,815 - 690,030 2,075,056
Total expenses $ 15380545 $ 8044607 $ 1,369,641 $ 24794793 $ 8891552 $ 4176592 § 2516144 $ 15,584,288 $ 40,379,081

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended June 30,

Operating activities:
Student tuition and fees collected
Contracted services
Investment return expended for current operations
Contributions, gifts and bequests received
Reform Movement Affiliation Commitment support received
Other operating revenue and other support received
Interest paid
Expenses paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of investments
Sales and maturities of investments

Net cash provided by investing activities

Financing activities:
Proceeds from contributions restricted
for investment in endowment
Borrowing - line of credit
Payments - line of credit
Payments - notes payable

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosures:
PPP Loan Forgiveness

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2022 2021
$ 2009434 $ 2,016,930
2,695,771 2,612,753
11,317,044 10,414,693
10,222,033 11,963,324
5,545,931 5,794,273
280,505 1,642,615
(176,691) (163,276)
(40,369,244) (37,044,416)
(8,475,217) (2,763,104)
(1.850,198) (857,209)
(85,457,093) (51,019,102)
89,801,955 56,064,865
2,494,664 4,188,554
1,510,820 1,875,281
39,391,418 31,449,499
(34,381,430) (34,214,623)
- (14,299)
6,520,808 (904,142)
540,255 521,308
21,480,267 20,958,959
$ 22,020,522 $ 21,480,267
3,960,200 $ B




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2022 and 2021

NOTE A - NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion (“College-Institute”) is the academic and professional
leadership development center of Reform Judaism. The College-Institute was established in 1875 in
Cincinnati as the first institute of Jewish higher learning in America. Other campuses are located in New
York, Los Angeles and Jerusalem. Jewish leaders throughout the United States, Canada and Israel serve
on the Board of Governors. The College-Institute, in partnership with the Union for Reform Judaism (“URJ"),
furthers the mission and goals of Reform Judaism. Primary sources of revenue are contributions, Reform
Movement Affiliation Commitment (‘RMAC”) support, tuition and investment returns. URJ collects RMAC
dues from its member synagogues and in turn remits 44% to the College-Institute which recognizes the
support as revenue over the course of the fiscal year.

In the United States, academic programs include a Rabbinic School and School of Sacred Music, Schools
of Graduate Studies, Education, Jewish Nonprofit Management and Judaic Studies. In Israel, the programs
include the Israeli Rabbinic Program and the Schools of Jewish Studies and Biblical Archaeology. These
programs lead to the ordination of Rabbis and Cantors as well as master’s and doctorate degrees.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, gains, losses and other
changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The College-Institute considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
not included in actively managed investment portfolios to be cash equivalents. At June 30, 2022 and 2021,
cash equivalents consisted of investments in short-term fixed-income bonds, government obligations and
money market funds.

At June 30, 2022 and 2021, cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits at financial institutions by
$21,277,582 and $20,326,806, respectively, of which $4,258,740 and $8,522,523, respectively, are
collateralized by government-backed securities and money market funds. Management attempts to mitigate
its risk by maintaining accounts in financial institutions of high quality.

Accounts and Student Loans Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount of tuition, fees and insurance fees billed to students as well
as amounts due from the URJ and Skirball Cultural Center. The College-Institute provides an allowance for
doubtful accounts, which is based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection information
and existing economic conditions.

No interest is charged on student accounts set up on automatic payment plans. Past due student accounts
are contacted to reestablish payment plans and/or may be granted deferment based on individual
circumstances. Student accounts more than 120 days past due are considered delinquent. Written-off
student accounts may be outsourced to a collection agency, and interest is charged according to the terms
in the promissory note.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2022 and 2021

Investments and Investment Return

Investments in equity securities having a readily determinable fair value and all debt securities are carried
at fair value. Investments and investment return includes dividends, interest, and realized and unrealized
gains and losses on investments carried at fair value.

Investment return is reflected in the statements of activities as without or with donor restrictions based upon
the existence and nature of any donor or legally imposed restrictions.

Pooled investment accounts are maintained for endowments. Investment income and realized and
unrealized gains and losses from securities in the pooled investment accounts are allocated monthly to the
individual endowments based on the relationship of the fair value of the interest of each endowment to the
total fair value of the pooled investment accounts, as adjusted for additions to or deductions from those
accounts.

Investments in certain real estate, venture capital, private equity and limited partnership funds are primarily
held through limited partnerships. These investments are stated at net asset value (*NAV”) as a practical
expedient to fair value based on valuations provided by the external investment managers or general
partners, adjusted for cash receipts, disbursements and significant known changes in market value of
publicly held securities contained in the portfolio. Because these investments are not readily marketable
and may be subject to withdrawal restrictions, their estimated value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore,
may materially differ from the value that would have been used had a ready market for such investments
existed.

Property and Equipment

Property, furniture and equipment as well as improvements, which substantially increase the useful life of
existing assets, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method at rates designed to depreciate the cost of assets over the estimated useful life (or
lease term, if shorter, for leasehold improvements) as follows:

Years
Buildings 50
Furnishings and equipment 3-10
Building and leasehold improvements 10-15

Net Assets
Net assets have been recorded and reported as changes in the following two net asset classes:

Net assets without donor restrictions - Net assets without donor restrictions consist of resources that
are available for use in carrying out the mission of the College-Institute and include those expendable
resources that have been designated for special use by the Board of Directors.

Net assets with donor restrictions - Net assets with donor restrictions represent contributions subject to
donor-imposed restrictions. Some restrictions are temporary in nature, stipulating that resources be
used after a specified date or for a particular purpose. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when
a stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of a restriction is accomplished, net assets are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities as net
assets released from restrictions. Some restrictions are perpetual in nature and mandate the original
principal be invested in perpetuity. The majority of the earnings from net assets restricted in perpetuity
are available to support instruction, institutional support and scholarships of the College-Institute. Net
assets with donor restrictions also include beneficial interests in perpetual trusts held by third parties.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2022 and 2021

Net Assets at Foreign Location

The total assets and net assets of the Jerusalem campus included in the statements of financial position
are approximately $15,300,000 and $13,300,000, respectively, at June 30, 2022 and $14,600,000 and
$12,500,000, respectively, at June 30, 2021.

Revenue Recognition

The College-Institute evaluates whether a transfer of assets is: (1) an exchange transaction in which a
resource provider is receiving commensurate value in return for the resources transferred; or (2) a
contribution. If the transfer of assets is determined to be an exchange transaction, the College-Institute
applies guidance under Topic 606. If the transfer of assets is determined to be a contribution, the College-
Institute evaluates whether the contribution is conditional based upon whether the agreement includes both:
(1) one or more barriers that must be overcome before the College-Institute is entitled to the assets
transferred and promised; and (2) a right of return of assets transferred or a right of release of a promisor’s
obligation to transfer assets. Revenue is recognized when an unconditional promise to give is received, or
when conditions are satisfied.

Tuition Revenue

The College-Institute recognizes student revenue within the fiscal year in which educational services are
provided. Discounts in the form of scholarships and financial aid grants, including those funded by the
endowment and gifts, are reported as a reduction of student revenues. A discount represents the difference
between the stated charge for the academic program and the amount that is billed to the student and/or
third parties making payments on behalf of the student. Net tuition includes scholarships awarded to
students of $5,083,885 and $4,692,140 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
academic programs are delivered primarily in the Fall (mid-August to mid-December) and Spring (mid-
January to mid-May) terms, as well as one summer term for eight weeks from June to August.

Grants and Contributions

Gifts of cash and other assets received are considered to be available for unrestricted use in the absence
of donor restrictions. When a donor-stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished,
net assets with donor restriction are reclassified to net assets without donor restriction and reported in the
statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

Unconditional gifis expected to be collected within one year are reported at their realizable value.
Unconditional gifts expected to be collected in future years are initially reported at fair value determined
using the discounted present value of estimated future cash flows technique in net assets with donor
restriction. The resulting discount is amortized using the level-yield method and is reported as contribution
revenue. Grant revenue is recognized as earned as the contractual services are performed and as the
eligible expenses are incurred. Grant activities and outlays are subject to audit and acceptance by the
granting agency and, as a result of such audit, adjustments could be required.

Other Operating Revenue and Support

Other operating revenue and support is recognized when earned and consists primarily of income from
outside parties who rent building space from the College-Institute.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2022 and 2021

Library and Museum Collections

Each of the four campuses has library and museum facilities which include collections of rare books,
archival documents, periodicals, sound recordings, art objects and archaeological artifacts relating to over
4,000 years of Jewish history and culture. The libraries contain approximately 1,100,000 volumes, including:
3,500 manuscripts, 25,000 rare books and other materials like microfilms, maps, broadsides, bookplates,
music scores, stamps and much more. The large quantity of materials is a result of the historical mission
of the libraries to collect, preserve, and provide access to the total record of Jewish thought and experience
in all their historical and geographic sweep. The Libraries’ collections cover Hebrew language and literature
as well as literature in other Jewish languages, Bible and ancient Near Eastern Studies, Jewish history,
Judaism and Jewish thought, as well as philosophy, theology, linguistics, and further fields that support our
scholarly and educational mission. The museums preserve and exhibit archaeological artifacts, including
those discovered during the College-Institute’s excavations in Israel. Collection items are not capitalized.

Purchases of collection items are reported in the year of acquisition as decreases in net assets without
donor restriction, or in net assets with donor restrictions if the assets used to purchase the items were
restricted to that use by donor stipulation. Purchases of collection items totaled $102,321 and $139,085 in
2022 and 2021, respectively. Contributions of collection items are not reported in the financial statements.
Proceeds from deaccessions or insurance recoveries are included as increases in the appropriate net asset
classes. Proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other collection items.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of supporting the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the statement of functional expenses. Plant operations expense is allocated among programs and
management and general based on the relative expense level in each area.

Income Taxes

The College-Institute follows guidance that clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return, including issues relating to financial statement recognition and
measurement. This guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can only be
recognized in the financial statements if the position is more likely than not to be sustained if the position
were to be challenged by a taxing authority. The assessment of the tax position is based solely on the
technical merits of the position, without regard to the likelihood that the tax position may be challenged.

The College-Institute is exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) section
501(c), though it is subject to tax on income unrelated to its exempt purpose, unless thatincome is otherwise
excluded by the Code. The College-Institute has processes presently in place to ensure the maintenance
of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report unrelated income; to determine its filing and tax obligations
in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; and to identify and evaluate other matters that may be considered
tax positions. The College-Institute has determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions that
require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.

Self-Insurance

The College-Institute has elected to self-insure certain costs related to employee health benefit programs.
Costs resulting from noninsured losses are charged to income when incurred. For the years ended June 30,
2022 and 2021, the College-Institute has purchased insurance that limits its exposure for most individual
health claims to $75,000, including prescription drugs coverage.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2022 and 2021

Sabbatical Leave

The College-Institute applies the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 710,
Compensation - General, to accrue expenses related to sabbatical leave. ASC Topic 710 applies to
compensated absences that require a minimum service period but have no increase in the benefit even
with additional years of service and requires the benefit to be recognized as a liability over the service
period, if no services are required during the compensated absence. If the employee is required to perform
services on behalf of the College-Institute during the absence, the benefit is recorded as a period cost
during the absence.

Operations

The College-Institute’s statements of activities present the changes in net assets, distinguishing between
operating and nonoperating activities. Operating activities principally include all revenue and expenses that
relate to the College-Institute’s educational programs and supporting activities. Operating revenues include
contributions and the investment return pursuant to the College-Institute’s spending policy.

The College-institute has defined nonoperating activities principally to include endowment investment
return net of amounts distributed to support operations in accordance with the endowment spending policy
(Note C), benefit plan related changes other than periodic benefit costs (Notes J and K), the change in
value of remainder and perpetual trusts, and net assets released from restriction for capital purposes.
Certain other nonrecurring gains, losses or transactions may also be included as part of nonoperating
activities.

In April of 2022, at the conclusion of a strategic planning process, the Board of Governors of the College-
Institute approved several strategic and operational changes that will be implemented over the coming
years. These changes include the following: (1) the restructuring of the residential rabbinical program in
Los Angeles and New York, (2) the sunsetting of the residential rabbinical program in Cincinnati no later
than the end of the 2026 academic year, (3) the design of a new flexible-residency pathway, incorporating
an in-resident component in Cincinnati, to train rabbis and cantors unable or unwilling to relocate to a
campus city, no later than academic year 2025, and (4) develop a plan to maintain and expand the impact
of the academic resources situated in Cincinnati, (the American Jewish Archives, the Klau Library, and the
Skirball Museum), expanding educational programming and research opportunities for HUC-JIR students
and faculty, as well as scholars and Jewish communities around the world.

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Implemented

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic
842), which requires organizations that lease assets (lessees) to recognize the assets and related liabilities
for the rights and obligations created by the leases on the statements of financial position for leases with
terms exceeding 12 months. ASU No. 2016-02 defines a lease as a contract or part of a contract that
conveys the right to control the use of identified assets for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The lessee in a lease will be required to initially measure the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, as well as capitalize initial direct costs as part of the right-
of-use asset. This ASU is effective for the College-Institute for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. Early
adoption is permitted. The College-Institute is evaluating the impact this accounting standard will have on
its financial statements.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2022 and 2021

NOTE B - CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE, NET

Contributions receivable, net at June 30 consisted of the following:

2022
Time Perpetual
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Due within one year $ 5001920 $ 1,869,795 $ 6,871,715
Due in one to five years 1,898,500 1,132,797 3,031,297
Due in more than five years 920,000 1,130,000 2,050,000

7,820,420 4,132,592 11,953,012
Less allowance for uncollectible contributions (193,146) (210,601) (403,747)
Unamortized discount (310,621) {250,282) (560,903)

$ 7,316,653 $ 3,671,709 $ 10,988,362

2021
Time Perpetual
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Due within one year $ 5017337 $ 2015917 §$ 7,033,254
Due in one to five years 1,298,166 1,918,354 3,216,520
Due in more than five years 960,000 1,415,000 2,375,000

7,275,503 5,349,271 12,624,774
Less allowance for uncollectible contributions (177,366) (234,581) (411,947)
Unamortized discount (289,104) (345,276) (634,380)

$ 6,809,033 $ 4,769,414 $ 11,578,447

The discount rate range is from 1.71% to 0.46% for all outstanding pledges as of June 30, 2022 and 2021.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

June 30, 2022 and 2021

NOTE C - INVESTMENTS

Investments at June 30 consisted of the following:

Mutual funds
Domestic large-cap equities
Domestic mid-cap equities
International

Fixed income

Real estate equities

Corporate bonds
U.S. government and agency obligations
Asset-backed securities

Alternate investments
Private equity funds
Limited partnerships and global equities
Real estate funds

Foreign investments
State of Israel bonds held in the
United States

Investments in Israeli securities

2022

Managed Total
Portfolio Other Investments
$ 32,392,226 704,148 $ 33,096,374
19,799,938 - 19,799,938
10,701,820 - 10,701,820
36,591,311 562,529 37,153,840
16,121,508 5,286 16,126,794
115,606,803 1,271,963 116,878,766
- 3,162,892 3,162,892
- 5,554,313 5,554,313
- 1,741,747 1,741,747
18,848,654 - 18,848,654
84,030,873 - 84,030,873
3,144,841 97,500 3,242,341
106,024,368 97,500 106,121,868
1,601,455 - 1,601,455
- 669,008 669,008
1,601,455 669,008 2,270,463
$ 223,232,626 12,497,423 $ 235,730,049
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

June 30, 2022 and 2021

2021
Managed Total
Portfolio Other Investments
Mutual funds
Domestic large-cap equities $ 45439376 % 616,531 $ 46,055,907
Domestic mid-cap equities 30,138,785 - 30,138,785
Fixed income 42,456,976 735,902 43,192,878
Real estate equities 13,165,022 5,463 13,170,485
131,200,159 1,357,896 132,558,055
Corporate bonds - 3,643,568 3,643,568
U.S. government and agency obligations - 5,655,665 5,655,665
Asset-backed securities - 1,531,151 1,531,151
Alternate investments
Private equity funds 14,718,622 - 14,718,622
Limited partnerships and global equities 113,090,271 - 113,090,271
Real estate funds 3,318,023 97,500 3,415,523
131,126,916 97,500 131,224,416
Foreign investments
State of Israel bonds held in the
United States 2,096,189 - 2,096,189
Investments in Israeli securities 5 768,159 768,159
2,096,189 768,159 2,864,348
$ 264,423,264 $ 13,053,939 $ 277,477,203

The College-Institute utilizes a 5.0% spend rate, which is applied annually to the endowment's 20-quarter
rolling average market value.

The various investments in mutual funds, corporate bonds, U.S. government/agency bonds, asset-backed
securities, and other investments are exposed to a variety of uncertainties, including interest rate, market
and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is possible that changes in
the values of these investments could occur in the near term and such changes could materially affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements.

19



Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
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NOTE D - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment at June 30 consist of:

2022 2021

Buildings and improvements $ 86,627,280 $ 84,660,242
Furnishings and equipment 5,024,487 5,090,052
Construction in progress - 51,277

91,651,767 89,801,571
Less accumulated depreciation (56,850,768) (54,876,253)

34,800,999 34,925,318
Land and improvements 3,170,393 3,170,394

$ 37,971,392 § 38,095,712

NOTE E - BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN REMAINDER TRUSTS AND PERPETUAL TRUSTS

The College-Institute is a beneficiary (remainder designee) of various charitable remainder trusts
administered by outside parties. Under the terms of the trusts, the College-Institute has the irrevocable right
to receive the net assets of these trusts at the end of the trusts’ terms. The beneficial interest in these frusts
is recorded at the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate of 3.6% and 1.2%
at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The estimated value of the expected future cash flows is
$1,562,838 and $2,030,689 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The College-Institute is also the beneficiary under various perpetual frusts administered by outside parties.
Under the terms of the trusts, the College-Institute has the irrevocable right to income earned in perpetuity,
but never receives the underlying assets held in trust. The estimated value of the expected future cash
flows is $11,528,124 and $14,575,621, which represents the fair value of the trust assets at June 30, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

The income from the remainder and perpetual trusts for fiscal 2022 and 2021 was $770,053 and $776,010,
respectively, and is recorded in contributions, gifts, grants and bequests on the statements of activities.
NOTE F - LINE OF CREDIT AND NOTE PAYABLE

The College-Institute has a $12,000,000 line of credit, which expired June 27, 2022, and was extended to
June 23, 2023. Interest varies based on one-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 1%.
In no instance will the interest rate be less than 1%. As of June 30, 2022, total interest rate was 1.87%.
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NOTE G - PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN

On April 23, 2020, the College-Institute received a loan in the amount of $3,960,200 pursuant to the
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP") under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
(“CARES”) Act. On September 21, 2021, the College-Institute received notification that original loan amount
and accrued interest was approved for forgiveness.

NOTE H - FOREIGN CURRENCY HEDGE AGREEMENT

As part of its operations, the College-Institute converts U.S. dollars to New Israeli shekels when making
regularly scheduled transfers of cash to its Jerusalem campus. As a strategy to maintain acceptable levels
of exposure to the risk of changes in future cash flows due to currency exchange rate fluctuations, the
College-Institute enters into foreign currency hedge agreements for these scheduled transfers. These
agreements provide the College-Institute with contracted exchange rates at the transfer date. The
difference in the contract rate and the actual exchange rate is recorded as an asset or liability, with the
change in value included in non-operating expense. The currency exchange gain/(loss) for June 30,2022
and 2021 was $(59,032) and $40,865, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

June 30, 2022 and 2021

NOTE | - NET ASSETS

Net assets with and without donor restrictions at June 30 consist of the following balances:

Net assets without donor restrictions:
Undesignated
Board designated

Total net assets without donor restriction

Net assets restricted by time or purpose:
Instruction
Academic support
Student services and stipends
Institutional support
Plant operations and maintenance
Institutional advancement
Scholarships

Amounts restricted by time
Total net assets restricted by time or purpose

Net assets with perpetual donor restrictions:
Perpetual endowment funds, income of which is
used to support:
Instruction
Academic support
Student services and stipends
Institutional support
Plant operations and maintenance
Institutional advancement
Scholarships

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Total net assets with perpetual donor restrictions
Total net assets with donor restrictions

Total net assets

22

2022 2021
$ (4612,331) §$ (44,322,736)
31,838,280 73,600,088
27,225,949 29,277,352
31,159,294 50,162,289
5,213,059 6,725,956
2,550,229 2,064,079
10,678,436 16,074,981
9,853,975 10,402,536
1,500,005 1,911,080
12,770,098 20,053,585
73,725,096 107,394,506
6,980,095 6,809,030
80,705,191 114,203,536
79,830,873 80,382,897
2,632,784 2,052,929
2,248,125 2,248,124
32,715,667 37,154,754
2,367,710 2,401,939
2,096,264 2,096,265
27,587,810 21,997,174
149,479,233 148,334,082
11,528,124 14,575,621
161,007,357 162,909,703
241,712,548 277,113,239
$ 268,938,497 $ 306,390,591




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
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Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses, the passage of time, or the
occurrence of other events satisfying the restricted purposes specified by donors. Other transfers relate to
a change in restriction stipulation from a donor.

2022 2021
Net assets released from restrictions for operations:
Instruction $ 6,796,335 $ 6,288,607
Academic support 662,646 (1,302,262)
Student services and stipends 111,001 160,851
Institutional support 1,614,985 (1,172,868)
Plant operations and maintenance 1,540,218 719,881
Institutional advancement 77,371 78,838
Scholarships 1,329,332 1,366,773
12,131,888 6,139,820
Net assets released for capital purposes and other transfers 6,129 531,462

$ 12,138,017 $ 6,671,282

The Board of the College-Institute has designated net assets without donor restriction for scholarships,
institutional support, plant operations, instruction, and academic support.

NOTE J - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

The College-Institute has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”), recognized by the
Internal Revenue Service as a Church Plan, covering substantially all United States employees who meet
the eligibility requirements. The benefits are based on years of service and the average of the employee’s
three highest years of compensation. The current funding policy is to make at least the minimum annual
contribution required by applicable regulations. In years where additional funds are available the College-
Institute funds the defined benefit pension plan at a higher level. Contributions of $1,250,000 are expected
during the next fiscal year. A June 30 measurement date is used for the Plan.

Effective June 30, 2007, future benefit accruals were frozen for participants who had not attained 65

age/service points as of that date or for those participants who elected to opt out of future benefit accruals.
Effective June 30, 2009, the defined benefit pension plan was frozen for all participants.
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Significant balances, costs and assumptions at June 30 are:

2022 2021
Benefit obligation $ (59,428,058) $ (72,540,276)
Fair value of plan assets 24,676,582 30,850,573
Funded status (34,751,476) (41,689,703)
Accumulated benefit obligation 59,428,058 72,540,276
Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position - beginning of year (41,689,703) (49,237,570)
Interest cost (1,692,816) (1,646,780)
Expected return on plan assets 2,052,473 2,050,068
Amortization of unrecognized loss (2,473,512) (2,837,401)
Net periodic benefit cost (2,113,855) (2,434,113)
Employer contributions 1,250,000 1,537,956
Pension related changes other than periodic pension costs 7,802,082 8,444,024
Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position - end of year $ (34,751,476) $ (41,689,703)
Actual return on plan assets $ (2,870,715) $ 6,633,951
Benefits paid $ 4553276 $ 4,276,707
Weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligation at
year end:
Discount rate 4.29% 2.41%
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A
Weighted-average assumptions to compute net periodic benefit
cost:
Discount rate 2.41% 2.23%
Expected return on plan assets 7.5% 7.5%
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A
Retirement age:
Professors 72 72
Other employees 65 65

Pension related changes other than periodic pension costs are related to changes in assumptions used to
calculate the pension liability, primarily the mortality table, discount rate, and expected return on plan
assets. The net loss to be amortized from accumulated benefit plan changes other than periodic benefit
plan costs over the next fiscal year is $1,396,458 as of June 30, 2022.
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In May 2006, in connection with ongoing legal discussions, the College-Institute acknowledged its
designation as a Church Plan and amended and restated its plan documents to be represented as such,
effective January 31, 2008. No longer subject to Employee Retirement Security Act of 1974 guidelines, the
College-Institute’s minimum pension funding is on a cash basis and is exempt from filing requirements with
the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

The College-Institute’s estimated long-term rate of return on plan assets is based primarily on historical
returns on plan assets, adjusted for changes in target portfolio allocations and recent changes in long-term
interest rates based on publicly available information.

As of June 30, 2022, benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid as follows:

2023 $ 4,610,550
2024 4,566,170
2025 4,526,657
2026 4,478,477
2027 4,415,134
2028-2032 21,489,574

$ 44,086,562

Plan assets are held by a bank-administered trust fund, which invests in accordance with the Plan
agreement. The Plan agreement permits investments in common stocks, corporate bonds and debentures,
U.S. government securities, certain insurance contracts, real estate and other specified investments, based
on certain target allocation percentages. The Plan may invest in certain derivative securities, with board
approval.

Fair Value of Plan Assets

U.S. GAAP provides for three levels of inputs when measuring fair value. See Note N for a discussion of
these levels.

The College-Institute used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate the fair value of
each type of financial instrument:

The fair values of money market funds, fixed-income funds, small-cap equities, mid-cap equities and
large-cap equities are determined by obtaining quoted prices on nationally recognized securities
exchanges (Level 1).

Certain limited partnerships and real estate are valued using the NAV (or its equivalent) supplied by
the respective fund managers. The College-Institute can redeem its investment in these funds at the
NAV per share at June 30 or within a reasonable period of time (generally considered to be 12 months).

Limited partnership funds invest in pooled investment vehicles or transactions structured to share many
of the characteristics and economics of such purchases, and to invest primarily in limited partnerships,
which in turn, make natural resource-related investments with the objective of obtaining long-term
growth of capital. Redemption policies do not allow the College-Institute to withdraw funds within a
90-day period. The fair value of these investments totaled $5,456,835 and $92,687,809 as of June 30,
2022 and 2021, respectively.
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The fair value of plan assets according to level within the fair value hierarchy as of June 30 is as follows:

Instruments
June 30, 2022 Measured at
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Mutual funds
Large-cap equity $ 7178775 $ 7178775 § - $ - 8 -
Mid-cap equity 7,186,645 7,186,645 - - -
Fixed-income funds 3,512,050 3,512,050 - - .
Money market funds 1,342,277 1,342,277 - - -
Alternative investments:
Limited partnerships 5,456,835 - - - 5,456,835
$ 24676582 $ 19,219,747 $ - $ - $ 5,456,835
Instruments
June 30, 2021 Measured at
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Mutual funds
Large-cap equity $ 6558018 $ 6,558,018 § - $ - 3 -
Mid-cap equity 7,089,294 7,089,294 - - -
Fixed-income funds 3,960,140 3,960,140 B - -
Money market funds 3,429,024 3,429,024 - - -
Alternative investments:
Real estate funds 126,288 - - - 126,288
Limited partnerships 9,687,809 - - - 9,687,809
$ 30,850,573 $ 21,036,476 $ - $ - $ 9,814,097

There are no unfunded commitments related to these alternative investments at June 30, 2022 and 2021.

Asset allocation is primarily based on a strategy to provide stable earnings while still permitting the Plan to
recognize potentially higher returns through a limited investment in equity securities. The target asset
allocation range percentages for 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2022 2021
Equities 40% to 80% 35% to 75%
Fixed income 15% to 25% 10% to 20%
Alternative investments (including real assets) 0% to 40% 7% to 50%

Plan assets are rebalanced at least annually. At June 30, plan assets by category are as follows:

2022 2021
Large-cap equity 29% 42%
Mid-cap equity 29% 16%
Small-cap equity 0% 0%
Fixed income funds 14% 13%
Alternative investments 22% 23%
Money market funds 6% 6%

100% 100%
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The College-Institute also has a nonqualified pension plan covering two former employees. The unfunded
obligation for this plan at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is $2,531,488 and $3,099,654, respectively, and is
combined with accrued pension cost of the defined benefit plan as accrued pension obligations in the
statements of financial position. The gain (loss) for this plan was $353,285 and ($12,834) in 2022 and 2021,
respectively. Payments to participants were $214,881 in each of the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

The College-Institute also maintains a deferred compensation plan for the benefit of one employee. The
deferred compensation plan liability is recorded in accrued pension obligations and at June 30, 2022 and
2021 is $414,027 and $433,583, respectively, which equals the asset amount included in investments.

NOTE K - POSTRETIREMENT MEDICAL PLAN

A noncontributory defined-benefit postretirement medical plan covers substantially all employees prior to
June 30, 2009, (including spouses). The Plan provides postretirement health care coverage to eligible
retirees. An eligible retiree is an employee who retires on or after attaining age 65 and who has rendered
at least 10 years of service.

The postretirement medical plan was frozen for new participants as of June 30, 2009.

Benefit costs are funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, and, for 2022 and 2021, benefit payments were
$135,965 and $117,296, respectively. Management expects to contribute approximately $129,506 in the
next fiscal year. The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the statements
of financial position:

2022 2021
Accrued postretirement benefit obligation — retirees $ (1,110,206) $ (1,289,761)
Accrued postretirement benefit cost in excess of plan assets $ (1,110,206) $ (1,289,761)
Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position — beginning of year $ (1,289,761) $ (1,581,058)
Net periodic postretirement cost includes the following
components:
Interest cost on an accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation (24,360) (27,860)
Amortization of unrecognized gain 28,962 3,052
Net period benefit (cost) 4,602 (24,808)
Employer contributions 135,965 117,296
Postretirement related changes other than periodic
postretirement benefit costs 38,988 198,809
Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position — end of the year $ (1,110,206) $ (1,289,761)
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The expense computation assumes future medical cost inflation of 3.5%, gradually declining to 3% over
the next three years. The weighted-average discount rate used in determining the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation was 1.99%. The health care cost trend rate assumption can have a
significant effect on the amounts reported.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
“Act”) was signed into law. The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D, as well
as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide benefits at least actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, management has not reflected the effects
of the Act on the measurements of plan benefit obligations and periodic benefit costs and accompanying
notes.

As of June 30, 2022, benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid as follows:

2023 $ 129,506
2024 124,794
2025 119,365
2026 113,279
2027 106,885
2028-2031 432,037

$ 1,025,866

NOTE L - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The College-Institute sponsors a tax-qualified defined contribution plan under Section 403(b) of the Code.
U.S. regular, full-time employees are eligible to participate in the Plan subject to certain limitations as
defined in the terms of the Plan document. In 2022, the College-Institute provided a match of 2% to 3% of
eligible compensation subject to certain limitations as defined in the Plan document, in addition to a
nondiscretionary 2% to 3% contribution based on the individual's pay scale. The College-Institute’s expense
related to this benefit was $729,889 and $1,309,474 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

NOTE M - CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Approximately 14% and 15% of the College-Institute’s operating support in fiscal years 2022 and 2021,
respectively, was received from the URJ and funded by RMAC paid by the URJ member congregations.

For the year ended June 30, 2022, there were four contributions receivable that represented 49% of the
total contribution receivable balance as of June 30, 2022, and sixteen contributions that represented 41%
of total contribution, gifts, grants, and bequests revenue. The College-Institute recorded a significant
naming pledge to name a campus in fiscal year 2016. As of June 30, 2022, four of the five installments
have been paid. This gift represented 13% of the contributions receivable as of June 30, 2022.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, there were four contributions receivable that represented 56% of the
total contribution receivable balance as of June 30, 2021, and eighteen contributions that represented 56%
of total contribution, gifts, grants, and bequests revenue. The College-Institute recorded a significant
naming pledge to name a campus in fiscal year 2016. As of June 30, 2021, four of the five installments
have been paid. This gift represented 24% of the contributions receivable as of June 30, 2021.
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NOTE N - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements must
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. There is a hierarchy
of three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3- Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities.

The following table presents the fair value measurements of assets recognized in the accompanying
statements of financial position measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level within the fair value
hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall at June 30, 2022 and 2021:

Investments
June 30, 2022 Measured at
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Equity mutual funds $ 79,724,926 $ 79,724,926 3 - $ - $ -
Fixed-income mutual funds 37,153,840 37,153,840 - - -
Corporate bonds 3,162,892 - 3,162,892 - -
U.S. government and agency
obligations 5,554,313 - 5,554,313 - -
Asset-backed securities 1,741,747 - 1,741,747 - -
State of Israel bonds held in
the United States 1,601,455 - 1,601,455 - -
Investments in Israeli
securities 669,008 669,008 - - -
Alternative investments:
Private equity funds 18,848,654 - - - 18,848,654
Real estate funds 3,242,341 - - - 3,242,341
Other limited partnerships 84,030,873 = z - 84,030,873

$ 235,730,049 $ 117,547,774 $ 12,060407 § $ 106,121,868

Beneficial interest in remainder

trusts $ 1562838 $ - $ - $ 1,562,838 §$ -

Beneficial interest in perpetual

trusts 11,528,124 - - 11,528,124 -
$ 13,090,962 $ - $ - $ 13,090,962 $ -

29



Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Investments
June 30, 2021 Measured at
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Equity mutual funds $ 89,519,604 $ 89,519,604 § - % - $ -
Fixed-income mutual funds 43,038,453 43,038,453 - - -
Corporate bonds 3,643,568 - 3,643,568 - -
U.S. government and agency
obligations 5,655,665 - 5,655,665 - -
Asset-backed securities 1,531,151 - 1,531,151 - -
State of Israel bonds held in
the United States 2,096,189 - 2,096,189 - -
Investments in Israeli
securities 768,159 768,159 - - -
Alternative investments:
Private equity funds 14,718,622 - - - 14,718,622
Real estate funds 3,415,523 - - - 3,415,523
Other limited partnerships 113,090,271 . - - 113,090,271
$ 277,477,205 $ 133,326,216 $ 12,926,573 $ - $ 131,224,416
Beneficial interest in remainder
trusts $ 2030689 $ - % - $ 2030689 $ -
Beneficial interest in perpetual
trusts 14,575,621 - - 14,575,621 -
$ 16,606,310 $ - $ - $ 16,606,310 $ -

The managed endowment portfolio has asset allocation targets as follows: domestic equity 37%,
international equity 18%, private equity 5%, flexible capital/lhedge funds 10%, fixed income 20% (State of
Israel bonds 1%, multi-strategy 19%) and inflation hedging real assets 10%.

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies and inputs used for assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis and recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position, as well as the
general classification of such assets pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. There have been no significant
changes in the valuation techniques during the year ended June 30, 2022.

The fair values of equity and fixed income mutual funds and investment in Israeli securities that are readily
marketable are determined by obtaining quoted prices on nationally recognized securities exchanges
(Level 1). Financial instruments measured at fair value using inputs based on quoted-market prices for
similar instruments in active markets (Level 2) include corporate bonds, U.S. government and agency
obligations, and asset-backed securities. These investments are valued using the market trading data for
similar securities traded at or near June 30, 2022 or 2021, as applicable. If trading data are not available,
matrix pricing models may be used. State of Israel bonds held in the United States have observable inputs
and market activity that allow for pricing based on liquidity and credit premiums required by a market
participant, and therefore, are considered Level 2.

Investments Measured at NAV

Investments carried at NAV include the College-Institute’s investments in global equities in limited
partnerships, real asset funds, private equity funds and other limited partnerships. The fair values of the
investments in this category have been estimated using the NAV per share of the investments or its
equivalent and cannot be redeemed at June 30. Investments are valued using NAV per share, which
includes an ownership interest in partner's capital to which a proportionate share of net assets is attributed
for each of these funds.
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Redemption provisions and notice periods for these investments are as follows:

2022 2021 Redemption Notice
Fair Value Fair Value Frequency Period
Limited partnerships @ $ 427,392 $ 418,003 lliquid NA
Limited partnerships © 23,095,034 22,567,814 Annually/Quarterly  30-95 days
Global equities ® 9,591,555 12,434,643 Daily/Weekly 5-10 days
Global equities ® 50,916,892 77,669,811  Quarterly/Monthly 30-60 days
Private equity © 18,848,654 14,718,622 lliquid NA
Non-marketable private real
assets © 3,242,341 3,415,523 Illiquid NA

$ 106,121,868 $ 131,224,416

@ These funds include investments in a variety of limited partnerships, the objective of which is to

(b)

©

provide capital appreciation and current yield, with varying liquidity terms ranging from quarterly,
annually and illiquid redemptions for closed end partnerships due to lock-up periods. Funds totaling
$23,095,035 and $22,567,814, as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, have no lock up period
and are redeemable annually/quarterly with 30-95 days’ notice. Funds totaling $427,392 and
$418,003 are illiquid at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Global equities funds include investments in a diversified portfolio of equity securities of companies
outside the United States to achieve long-term growth. Funds totaling $9,591,555 and $27,498,757,
as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are redeemable daily/weekly with five to 10 days’
notice. Global equities funds totaling $50,916,892 and $50,171,054, as of June 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, are redeemable monthly/quarterly with 30-60 days’ notice.

Real asset funds include six separate illiquid funds with different managers whose strategies
include identifying, holding, managing, and disposing of investments in real asset private equity
funds for income and capital appreciation and to serve as an investment vehicle for entities to invest
in a portfolio of real asset funds and other similar pooled real asset investment vehicles diversified
across real asset managers, investment strategies, geographies, property sizes and fund sizes.
Private equity funds include two separate funds with different managers whose strategies include
achieving diversification within the private equity asset classes, including acquisition transactions,
investments that provide for business growth or fundamental business change and other
transactions, and investments in pooled-investment vehicles via capital commitments to the issuer
of such investments, pooled investment vehicles purchased for existing owners of such pooled
investments and privately negotiated transactions. Unfunded commitments related to these
alternative investments were $3,532,533 and $6,568,464 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Level 3 Reconciliation

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the beneficial interest in remainder
and perpetual trusts recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position using significant
unobservable (Level 3) inputs:

Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)
2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 16,606,310 $ 13,940,672
Net realized and unrealized (losses) gains (2,745,295) 3,441,648
Expenses and distributions (770,053) (776,010)
Ending balance $ 13,090,962 $ 16,606,310

Unobservable (Level 3) Inputs

The valuation of beneficial interests in perpetual trusts of $11,528,124 and $14,575,621 as of June 30,
2022 and 2021, respectively, is based on the fair value of the underlying trust assets subject to the College-
Institute’s share of the trust income as stated in the gift agreement and is considered to be based on
unobservable inputs. There are no quantitative measurements (i.e., discount rates, market return rates,
etc.) used to adjust the fair value of the beneficial interests in perpetual trusts.

The fair value of the interest in remainder trusts is estimated at the present value of the estimated expected
proceeds from early future benefits to be received and was $1,562,838 and $2,030,689 at June 30, 2022
and 2021, respectively. The fair value of the interest in remainder trusts is based on unobservable inputs
such as mortality tables and discount rates, which were 3.6% and 1.2% in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

NOTE O - ENDOWMENT FUNDS

The College-institute’s endowment consists of 591 individual funds established for a variety of purposes.
The endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of
Governors to function as endowments (board-designated endowment funds). As required by U.S. GAAP,
net assets associated with endowment funds, including endowment funds without restriction, are classified
and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
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The College-Institute has interpreted UPMIFA as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original
gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the College-Institute classifies as net assets with donor
restrictions the original value of gifts donated to the perpetual endowment plus subsequent gifts to the
perpetual endowment. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified
in permanently restricted net assets is also classified within net assets with donor restrictions until those
amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the College-Institute in a manner consistent with the standard
of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. The College-Institute considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and the
appreciation of investments; and the investment policies of the College-Institute. Other transfers below
include balancing of quasi-endowment accounts.

2022
Without Donor With Donor
Restriction Restriction Total

Beginning endowment net assets $ 45,355,424 $ 228,250,363 $ 273,605,787
Investment return, net (3,401,701) (24,343,097) (27,744,798)
Contributions and pledge payments 3,000 2,141,100 2,144,100
Appropriation of endowment net assets for

expenditure (3,344,243) (8,553,613) (11,897,856)
Other transfers (8,664,883) - (8,664,883)

Ending endowment net assets $ 29,947,597 $ 197,494,753 $ 227,442,350
2021
Without Donor With Donor
Restriction Restriction Total

Beginning endowment net assets $ 35,941,298 $ 181,903,945 $ 217,845,243
Investment return, net 17,184,801 45,053,021 62,237,822
Contributions and pledge payments 62,975 4,841,408 4,904,383
Appropriation of endowment net assets for

expenditure (3,243,788) (7,170,905) (10,414,693)
Other transfers (4,589,862) 3,622,894 (966,968)

Ending endowment net assets $ 45,355,424 $ 228,250,363 $ 273,605,787

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may
fall below the level the donor requires the fund to retain as a fund of perpetual duration, these are called
underwater funds. Deficiencies of this nature are reported in net assets with donor restrictions of $210,079
and $51,377 as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The deficiencies were from gifts whose principal
totaled $3,324,016 and $1,056,404 and whose combined market values were $3,534,095 and $1,055,027
as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable market
fluctuations that occurred after the investment of new donor endowment contributions and continued
appropriation for certain programs that were deemed prudent by the board of directors. The College-
Institute spending policy does not allow for spending from underwater funds in the next fiscal year.
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Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The College-Institute has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that emphasize
long-term appreciation of the assets and consistency of total portfolio returns. The return objectives shall
be accomplished using income requirements, liquidity, preservation of capital and preservation of
purchasing power. The performance objectives will be measured against a five-year moving average of a
balanced-market index comprised of a long-term policy index based on target asset allocations.

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the College-Institute relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and
current yield (interest and dividends). The College-Institute targets a diversified asset allocation that places
a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent
risk constraints.

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy

The College-Institute has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year five percent of its previous
20-quarter average rolling market value by endowment fund balance. In establishing this policy, the
College-Institute considered the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, this spending
policy should, over time, protect the inflation-adjusted value of the endowment and, consequently, allow
inflation-adjusted spending to occur in the distant future. This is consistent with the objective to maintain
the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to
provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.

NOTE P - LIQUIDITY

The College-Institute’s working capital and cash flows fluctuate during the year due to the timing of tuition
revenue, spending policy distribution, and contributions/pledge payments received. To manage liquidity,
the College-Institute initiates cash transfers and utilizes a line of credit as needed.

The College-Institute’s financial assets available for general use within one year of June 30 are as follows:

2022 2021
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,020,522 $ 21,480,267
Accounts receivable, due within one year 2,562,133 1,046,852
Contributions receivable, due within one year 5,001,920 5,017,337
Liquid investments 213,211,664 258,925,058
Total $ 242,796,239 $ 286,469,514

NOTE Q - LITIGATION

The College-Institute may on occasion be subject to claims and lawsuits that arise primarily in the ordinary
course of its activities. It is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such
lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, change in net assets and cash
flows of the College-Institute. Claims and events could occur that would change this estimate materially in
the near term.
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NOTE R - COMMITMENTS

The College-Institute currently leases space to several organizations, including a related party, under
various non-cancelable operating leases, which are subject to certain escalation and abatement clauses.
Expected future minimum lease revenue for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

2023 $ 148,523
2024 118,523
2025 118,523
2026 14,346

$ 399,915

Lease revenue for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was $141,961 and $406,543, respectively.

In addition, in 2014, the College-Institute leased space to a related organization under a 10-year lease. In
lieu of rent, the other organization made improvements to the space of $1,116,186, which are considered
assets of the College-Institute. This amount was recorded as deferred lease revenue at the beginning of
the lease and is being recognized ratably over the life of the lease. The College-Institute recognized
$111,619 in lease revenue related to this lease in fiscal years 2022 and 2021.

NOTE S - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent events have been evaluated through November 17, 2022, which is the date the financial

statements were available to be issued. No subsequent events were identified requiring adjustment to or
disclosure in the accompanying financial statements and footnotes.
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FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE

Year ended June 30, 2022

Primary Resarva Ratio

Expandably nel assats.
Statement of Financial Posilion - nel assels wilhoul donor restriction Net assets without denor restrictions $ 27,225,949
Statement of Financial Position - nel assels with donor reslrictions ol assals with donar testrictions 241,712,548
Noles to the Financial Stalemenls, Nole L Less: endowmenl restricled in perpeluity (161,007,360)
Supplemental disclosure - Property, Plant and Equipment, net Less: land, buildings and equipment, nel (37,971,392)
Stalament of Financial Position - Accrued pension obligations and Accrusd
postretirement benefils other than pansions Plus: posl-employmenl and defined benefit pension liabilities 38,807,197
Supplemental disclosure - {olal reporled as long-term debl, up to
amount of proparty, plant and equipment, nel Noles payable, net =

Tolal expendable net assets $ 108,766,942
Total expenses:

Slalemenl of Activiliss - Total operating expenses and
relum for current i Expenses and investmenl losses without doror restriclions 54,654,319
Less: losses on investments without danor restrictions on
inveslments, post-employmenl and defined benefit pension

N/A plans, and annuilles -
Total expenses $ 54,654,319
Primary Reservo Ratio 1.5901
Equity Ratio
Modified not assats:
Slatement of Financial Position - nel assels wilhoul donor restriction Nal assets wilhoul donor restrictions 5 27225848
Slatement of Financial Position - nel assels wilh donor reslriclions Not assets with donor resiricions. 261,712,548
N/A Less: Intangible assels -
N/A Less: Unsecured related party rocolvables -
Tolal medified net assels § 268838487
Modified assels:
Slatemenl of Financial Position - Tolal Assels Tolal assels $ 322,986,833
N/A Less: Inlangible assels .
N/A Less: rolated party ok -
Tolal medified assels $ 322,988,833
Equity Ratio 0.8327
HNet Incoma Ratio
Slatement of Aclivities - Change in net assats wilh donor reslriclions Change In net assets withoul donor restrictions - (2.051,458)

Statement of Aclivities - Total operating revanus, gains and other supporl without
donor reslrictions, Investmenl retum, net, Currency exchange galn, Benefil plan
ralated changes olher (han potodic benafll costs Tetal revenue nnd gaina withoul donor restrichions $ 48,338,170

Net Income Ratia L 0416]

Ratlo Strangth _Weighl Composite

Primary resarve 1.9801 3.0000 40% 1.2
Equity 0.8327 3.0000 40% 1.2
Net income (0.0416) (0.0400) 20% -

Financial Responaibility cmglﬁ Scorn {maximum of 3.0) 24
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HEBREW UNION COLLEGE - JEWISH INSTITUTE OF RELIGION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE
June 30, 2022

The Department of Education issued regulations on February 23, 2019, which became effective July 1,
2020, regarding additional disclosures deemed necessary to calculate certain ratios for determining
sufficient financial responsibility under Title V.

Net assets
1. Net assets with donor restrictions: restricted in perpetuity $ 149,479,233
2. Other net assets with donor restrictions (not perpetually restricted):

a. Annuities with donor restrictions -
b. Term endowments -
c. Life income funds (trusts) 11,528,124
d. Accumulated earnings on endowment, not yet appropriated for expenditure -
e. Appreciation on real estate asset -
f. Total annuities, term endowments and life income funds with donor
restrictions 11,528,124
3. Net assets with donor restrictions: Other for purpose or time 80,705,191
4. Net assets with donor restrictions $ 241,712,548

Property, plant and equipment, net
5. Pre-implementation property, plant and equipment, net (PP&E, net)
a. Ending balance of last consolidated financial statements submitted to the
U.S. Department of Education (June 30, 2019 consolidated financial
statements) 38,095,712
b. Less subsequent depreciation and disposals (3,600,896)
c. Balance Pre-implementation property, plant and equipment, net 36,381,167
6. Debt financed post-implementation property, plant and equipment, net long-lived
assets acquired with debt subsequent to June 30, 2020:

€| &

a. Equipment $ =
b. Land improvements -
c. Building -
d. Less: Amount of new debt-financed assets included in construction-in-

progress at beginning of year
e. Total property, plant and equipment, net, acquired with debt exceeding 12
months
7. Construction in progress - as of June 30, 2022
a. Current year additions to construction-in-progress (amount not included in s
5a) =
8. Post-implementation property, plant and equipment, net, acquired without debt
a. Long-lived assets acquired without use of debt subsequent to June 30,2020 § 4,112,722
b. Less: Amount of new non-debt-financed assets included in construction-in-
progress at beginning of year

c. Less 2022 and 2021 depreciation and disposals (2,522,497)
d. Total property, plant and equipment, net acquired without debt exceeding 12
months $ 1,590,225

37,971,392

¥

9. Total property, plant and equipment, net - June 30, 2022
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HEBREW UNION COLLEGE - JEWISH INSTITUTE OF RELIGION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE - CONTINUED
June 30, 2022

Debt to be excluded from expendable net assets
10. Pre-implementation Debt:
a. Ending balance of last consolidated financial statements submitted to the
U.S. Department of Education (June 30, 2020 consolidated financial

statements) $ 1,198
b. Less subsequent debt repayments, cost of issuance amortization, and
premium amortization (1,198)

c. Balance pre-implementation debt -

Post-implementation debt
11. Allowable post-implementation debt used for capitalized long-term assets
a. Equipment - all capitalized -
b. Land improvements -
¢. Buildings =
Total post-implementation debt used for capitalized long-lived assets -

12. Construction in progress (CIP) financed with short-term debt -

13. Long-term debt acquired during fiscal year 2021 and 2022 not for the
purchase of property, plant and equipment =
Total reported as long-term debt, up to amount of PP&E, net as of

June 30, 2022 $ -
14. Terms of current year debt for capitalized long-lived assets and CIP
additions None
Unsecured related party receivables
15. Secured and unsecured related party receivables $ -

16. Unsecured related party receivables -
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GRANT THORNTON LLP
1000 Wilson Blvd., Suite 1400
Arlington, VA 22208-3927

D +1703847 7500
F +1703 848 9580

GT.COM

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Governors
Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute of Religion

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial statements of Hebrew Union
College — Jewish Institute of Religion (the “College-Institute”), which comprise the
statement of financial position as of June 30, 2022, and the related statements of
activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related
notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
November 17, 2022.

Report on internal control over financial reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the
College-Institute's internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
College-Institute’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the
College-Institute’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore,
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify certain
deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs as items 2022-001 that we consider to be a significant
deficiency in the College-Institute’s internal control.

Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thomton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.
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Report on compliance and other matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the College-Institute’s
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such
an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal control or on compliance. This
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the College-Institute’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

LA Thovden LLP

Arlington, Virginia
November 17, 2022
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GRANT THORNTON LLP
1000 Wilson Blvd., Suite 1400
Arlington, VA 22209-3927

D +1703 847 7500
F +1703 848 9580

GT.COM

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS ON
COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM
GUIDANCE

Board of Governors
Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
Cincinnati, Ohio

Report on compliance for each major federal program

Opinion on each major federal program

We have audited the compliance of Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of
Religion (the “College-Institute”) with the types of compliance requirements identified
as subject to audit in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget's OMB Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the College-
Institute’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. The College-
Institute’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the College-Institute complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Basis for opinion on each major federal program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS); the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); and
the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the College-Institute and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the College-Institute’s
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Grant Thomton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thomton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.
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Responsibilities of management for compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over
compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions
of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the College-Institute’s federal
programs.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material
noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether
due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the College-Institute’s compliance
based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with US GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the College-
Institute’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a
whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, Government Auditing Standards,
and the Uniform Guidance, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the College-
Institute’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, and any significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we
identified during the audit.
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Report on internal control over compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of
a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is
a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a
type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations,
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in the College-Institute’s internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal
control over compliance may exist that have not been identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

The purpose of this Report on Internal Control Over Compliance is solely to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the resulis of that
testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is
not suitable for any other purpose.

/Quufl‘ Thowde LLP

Arlington, Virginia
November 17, 2022



Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year ended June 30, 2022

Federal
Assistance Listing Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Expenditures
U.S. Department of Education:

Student Financial Assistance Cluster
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 $ 2,116,139
COVID-19 Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act— HEERF Il - Student Aid Portion 84.425E 146,068
COVID-19 Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act— HEERF Il - institutional Portion 84.425F 50,170
Total Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund 196,238
2,312,377

Total U.S. Department of Education

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year ended June 30, 2022

NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of Hebrew
Union College Jewish Institute of Religion (the “College-Institute”), and is presented on the accrual basis of
accounting. The schedule should be read in conjunction with the College-Institute’s financial statements.

Federal awards include all grants, contracts, loans, and loan guarantee agreements entered into directly
between the College-Institute and agencies and departments of the federal government.

NOTE B - FEDERAL STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM

The Federal Direct Loan Program is a federally guaranteed loan program and consists of subsidized and
unsubsidized federal loans for students and Federal PLUS loans for parents, graduate and professional
students. Federal statute requires that proceeds from Federal Direct Loans be disbursed to the College-
Institute and directly applied to students’ accounts. New loans processed for students during the year
ended June 30, 2022, were as follows:

Federal Direct Loan Program:

Unsubsidized $ 1,383,301
Plus 732,838
$ 2,116,139

The College-Institute is responsible only for the performance of certain administrative duties with respect
to the federally guaranteed student loan programs, and, accordingly, these loans are not included in its
financial statements and it is not practical to determine the balance of loans outstanding to students and
former students of the College-Institute under these programs at June 30, 2022.

NOTE C - WRITTEN ARRANGEMENTS
The College-Institute has entered into several written arrangements with various other institutions and
consortiums that enable its students to attend classes at these other institutions. The College-Institute

maintains documentation of these other organizations’ eligibility to participate in federal student financial
assistance programs.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year ended June 30, 2022

. Section - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial
statements audited were prepared in accordance with

U.S. GAAP Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

e Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no

+ Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X yes None reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted yes X no
Federal Awards
Internal control over major program:

e Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no

e Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X None reported
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a) yes X no

Identification of major programs:

Federal Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program Cluster

84.268 Student Financial Assistance Cluster —
Federal Direct Student Loans

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and
B programs $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes no
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED

Year ended June 30, 2022

Il. Financial Statement Findings
Finding 2022-001 - Late eZ-Audit filing

Criteria:

Under the requirements of Department of Education, codified in 34 CFR 338.23 (a)(5), the audited financial
statements and compliance audit of HUC should be submitted on the eZ-Audit system no later nine months
after year end. For the year ended June 30, 2021, the submission deadline was March 31, 2022, which is
nine months after year end.

Condition:
The financial and compliance audits were submitted on October 27, 2022.

Cause:
There was not adequate tracking of submission deadlines.

Effect:
Failure to comply with the Department of Education audit submission standard could result in sanctions
from the Department of Education.

Context:
The annual filing for the year ended June 30, 2021 was submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse on
December 20, 2021 but was not submitted to the eZ-Audit system until October 27, 2022.

Recommendation:
Management should create a tracking mechanism for all federal compliance reports along with due dates,
responsible individual, secondary responsible individual, and reviewing and approving individual.

Views of Responsible Officials (unaudited)
Management agrees with the finding

lll. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
None reported
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
Corrective Action Plan
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Finding 2022-001 - Late eZ-Audit filing

Management Corrective Action Plan

The AVP/Controller and VP Finance/CFO will convene a small group of individuals with
relevant responsibilities to review the Compliance Matrix from the Higher Education Compliance
Alliance. Building off this document, our initial thought is to develop a single shared source to
include all compliance tasks and deadlines, identify ownership and accountability for each task, and
confirm tasks are completed in a timely manner. We would designate an owner of the shared internal
matrix to ensure it is updated annually in accordance with the Higher Education Compliance Alliance
and other relevant sources. This individual would also be responsible for tracking that compliance
activities are completed. Once the group is identified and meets, the suggested process may be

modified, but the objective of ensuring timely compliance will remain the same.

Individuals Responsible for Corrective Action Plan
Michelle Slocum
Completion date: 12/31/2022
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Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute of Religion
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Finding 2021-001 — Reclassification of endowment funds

This finding has been resolved.
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GRANT THORNTON LLP

757 Third Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, NY 10017

D +1212599 0100
F +12123704520

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Governors
Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

Report on the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hebrew Union College -
Jewish Institute of Religion (the “College-Institute”), which comprise the statements of
financial position as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related statements of
activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Hebrew Union College — Jewish
Institute of Religion as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its net assets
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audits of the financial statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS) and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing
Standards). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the College-Institute and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial
doubt about the College-Institute’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year
after the date the financial statements are issued.

GT.COM

Grant Thomton LLP is the U.S. member fimn of Grant Thomton Intemational Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide parinership.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS and Government Auditing
Standards, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s
internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the College-Institute’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit
findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplementary information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole. The Financial Responsibility Supplemental Schedule, as
required by the U.S. Department of Education’s Final Rule: Student Assistance
General Provisions, Federal Family Education Loan Program, and William D. Ford
Federal Direct Loan Programs and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
financial statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements
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and certain additional procedures. These additional procedures included comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with US GAAS. In our
opinion, the accompanying supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Other reporting required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report
dated November 17, 2023 on our consideration of the College-Institute’s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
College-Institute’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Prat Thowdon LLP

New York, New York
November 17, 2023, except for our report on Supplementary
Information for which the date is December 14, 2023



Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30,

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Contributions receivable, net (Note B)
Student loans receivable, net

Investments (Note C)

Property and equipment, net (Note D)
Beneficial interest in remainder trusts (Note E)

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts (Note E)
Other assets

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Line of credit (Note F)
Accrued termination allowances and employee benefits payable
Accrued pension obligations (Note J)
Accrued postretirement benefits other than pensions (Note K)
Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Net assets
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2023 2022
$ 23,687,679 $ 22,020,522
1,083,672 2,562,133
8,354,037 10,988,362
79,981 85,609
240,300,291 235,730,049
39,456,943 37,971,392
1,463,311 1,562,838
11,938,838 11,528,124
516,486 539,804

$ 326,881,238

$ 322,988,833

$ 1,217,878 $ 1,149,148
10,000,000 9,355,585
3,749,743 4,526,587
34,317,225 37,696,991
993,926 1,110,206
222,257 211,819
50,501,029 54,050,336
23,451,370 27,225,949
252,928,839 241,712,548
276,380,209 268,938,497

$ 326,881,238

$ 322,988,833




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2023

Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Operating revenue, gains and other support
Student tuition and fees, net $ 1,656,477 $ - $ 1,656,477
Contracted services 2,756,410 36,112 2,792,522
Investment return expended for current operations (Notes C and N) 8,670,228 3,878,272 12,548,500
Contributions, gifts, grants and bequests 1,768,363 9,685,822 11,454,185
Reform Movement Affiliation Commitment 5,341,859 - 5,341,859
Other operating revenue and support 1,712,211 - 1,712,211
Net assets released from restrictions for operations (Note 1) 4,810,966 (4,810,966) -
Total operating revenue, gains and other support 26,716,514 8,789,240 35,505,754
Operating expenses
Program services
Instruction 16,222,327 - 16,222,327
Academic support 8,935,460 - 8,935,460
Student services 1,576,812 - 1,676,812
Total program services 26,734,599 - 26,734,599
Management and general
Institutional support 8,966,693 - 8,966,693
Institutional advancement 5,269,600 - 5,269,600
Plant operations 2,204,709 - 2,204,708
Total management and general 16,441,002 - 16,441,002
Total operating expenses 43,175,601 - 43,175,601
Change in net assets from operating activities (16,459,087) 8,789,240 (7,669,847)
Nonoperating income (loss)
Benefit plan related changes other than periodic benefit plan costs (Notes J and K) 3,626,153 - 3,626,153
Currency exchange loss (182,556) (11,653) (194,209)
Change in value of remainder and perpetual trusts - 311,187 311,187
Investment retumn, net (Note C) 8,371,498 15,545,430 23,916,928
Investment return expended for current operations (8,670,228) (3,878,272) (12,548,500)
Net assets released for capital purposes (Note |) 9,539,641 (9,539,641) =
Total nonoperating income 12,684,508 2,427,051 15,111,559
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (3,774,579) 11,216,291 7,441,712
Net assets, beginning of year 27,225,949 241,712,548 268,938,497
Net assets, end of year $ 23,451,370  $252,928,839 $ 276,380,209

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2022

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
Operating revenue, gains and other support
Student tuition and fees, net $ 2,028,946 $ - $ 2,028,946
Contracted services 2,661,714 34,057 2,695,771
Investment return expended for current operations (Notes C and N) 8,058,436 3,258,608 11,317,044
Contributions, gifts, grants and bequests 4,083,840 9,203,028 13,286,868
Reform Movement Affiliation Commitment 5,724,728 - 5,724,728
Other operating revenue and support 1,702,295 - 1,702,295
PPP loan forgiveness 3,960,200 - 3,960,200
Net assets released from restrictions for operations (Note 1) 12,131,888 (12,131,888) -
Total operating revenue, gains and other support 40,352,047 363,805 40,715,852
Operating expenses
Program services
Instruction 15,749,464 - 15,749,464
Academic support 8,165,668 - 8,165,668
Student services 1,812,700 - 1,812,700
Total program services 25,727,832 - 25,727,832
Management and general
Institutional support 11,025,835 - 11,025,835
Institutional advancement 4,722,138 - 4,722,138
Plant operations 1,861,461 - 1,861,461
Total management and general 17,609,434 - 17,608,434
Total operating expenses 43,337,266 - 43,337,266
Change in net assets from operating activities (2,985,219) 363,805 (2,621,414)
Nonoperating income (loss)
Benefit plan related changes other than periodic benefit plan costs (Notes J and K) 8,290,093 - 8,290,093
Currency exchange loss (41,228) (17,804) (59,032)
Change in value of remainder and perpetual trusts - (3,515,349) (3,515,349)
Investment return, net (Note C) 737,258 (28,966,606) (28,229,348)
Investment return expended for current operations (8,058,436) (3,258,608) (11,317,044)
Net assets released for capital purposes (Note 1) 6,129 (6,129) -
Total nonoperating income (loss) 933,816 (35,764,496) (34,830,680)
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (2,051,403) (35,400,691) (37,452,094)
Net assets, beginning of year 29,277,352 277,113,239 306,390,591
Net assets, end of year $ 27,225,949 $ 241,712,548 $ 268,938,497

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended June 30,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Student tuition and fees collected
Contracted services
Investment return expended for current operations
Contributions, gifts and bequests received

Reform Movement Affiliation Commitment support received

Other operating revenue and other support received
Interest paid
Expenses paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of investments
Sales and maturities of investments

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from contributions restricted
for investment in endowment
Borrowing - line of credit
Payments - line of credit

Net cash provided by financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosures:
PPP loan forgiveness

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2023 2022

$ 1,732,494 $ 2,009,434
2,792,522 2,695,771
12,548,500 11,317,044
5,196,362 10,222,033
5,424,100 5,545,931
3,048,478 280,505
(411,204) (176,691)
(41,534,530) (40,369,244)
(11,203,278) (8,475,217)
(3,464,314) (1,850,198)
(51,907,919) (85,457,093)
64,038,054 89,801,955
8,665,821 2,494,664
3,560,199 1,510,820
38,954,076 39,391,418
(38,309,661) (34,381,430)
4,204,614 6,520,808
1,667,157 540,255
22,020,522 21,480,267
$ 23687679 $ 22,020,522
$ - $ 3,960,200




Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2023 and 2022

NOTE A - NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion (“College-Institute”) is the academic and professional
leadership development center of Reform Judaism. The College-Institute was established in 1875 in
Cincinnati as the first institute of Jewish higher learning in America. Other campuses are located in New
York, Los Angeles and Jerusalem. Jewish leaders throughout the United States, Canada and Israel serve
on the Board of Governors. The College-Institute, in partnership with the Union for Reform Judaism (“URJ"),
furthers the mission and goals of Reform Judaism. Primary sources of revenue are contributions, Reform
Movement Affiliation Commitment (‘RMAC") support, tuition, contracted instruction, and investment returns.
URJ collects RMAC dues from its member synagogues and in turn remits 44% to the College-Institute
which recognizes the support as revenue over the course of the fiscal year.

In the United States, academic programs include a Rabbinical School and School of Sacred Music, School
of Graduate Studies, School of Education, and School of Jewish Nonprofit Management. In Israel, the
programs include the Israeli Rabbinical Program, Year-In-Israel Program, | School of Biblical Archaeology,
and programs in Pluralist Jewish Education and Pastoral Counseling. These programs lead to the ordination
of Rabbis and Cantors as well as master's and doctorate degrees and graduate certificates.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, gains, losses and other
changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The College-Institute considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
not included in actively managed investment portfolios to be cash equivalents. At June 30, 2023 and 2022,
cash equivalents consisted of investments in short-term fixed-income bonds, government obligations and
money market funds.

At June 30, 2023 and 2022, cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits at financial institutions by
$23,059,165 and $21,277,582, respectively, of which $8,551,927 and $4,258,740, respectively, are
collateralized by government-backed securities and money market funds. Management attempts to mitigate
its risk by maintaining accounts in financial institutions of high quality.

Accounts and Student Loans Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount of tuition, fees and insurance fees billed to students. The
College-Institute provides an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based upon a review of outstanding
receivables, historical collection information and existing economic conditions.

No interest is charged on student accounts set up on automatic payment plans. Past due student accounts
are contacted to reestablish payment plans and/or may be granted deferment based on individual
circumstances. Student accounts more than 120 days past due are considered delinquent. Written-off
student accounts may be outsourced to a collection agency, and interest is charged according to the terms
in the promissory note.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Investments and Investment Return

Investments in equity securities having a readily determinable fair value and all debt securities are carried
at fair value. Investments and investment return includes dividends, interest, and realized and unrealized
gains and losses on investments carried at fair value.

Investment return is reflected in the statements of activities as without or with donor restrictions based upon
the existence and nature of any donor or legally imposed restrictions.

Pooled investment accounts are maintained for endowments. Investment income and realized and
unrealized gains and losses from securities in the pooled investment accounts are allocated quarterly to
the individual endowments based on the relationship of the fair value of the interest of each endowment to
the total fair value of the pooled investment accounts, as adjusted for additions to or deductions from those
accounts.

Investments in certain real estate, venture capital, private equity and limited partnership funds are primarily
held through limited partnerships. These investments are stated at net asset value (“NAV”) as a practical
expedient to fair value based on valuations provided by the external investment managers or general
partners, adjusted for cash receipts, disbursements and significant known changes in market value of
publicly held securities contained in the portfolio. Because these investments are not readily marketable
and may be subject to withdrawal restrictions, their estimated value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore,
may materially differ from the value that would have been used had a ready market for such investments
existed.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property, furniture and equipment as well as improvements, which substantially increase the useful life of
existing assets, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method at rates designed to depreciate the cost of assets over the estimated useful life (or
lease term, if shorter, for leasehold improvements) as follows:

Years
Buildings 50
Building and leasehold improvements 10-15
Furnishings and equipment 3-10

Net Assets
Net assets have been recorded and reported as changes in the following two net asset classes:

Net assets without donor restrictions - Net assets without donor restrictions consist of resources that
are available for use in carrying out the mission of the College-Institute and include those expendable
resources that have been designated for special use by the Board of Directors.

Net assets with donor restrictions - Net assets with donor restrictions represent contributions subject to
donor-imposed restrictions. Some restrictions are temporary in nature, stipulating that resources be
used after a specified date or for a particular purpose. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when
a stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of a restriction is accomplished, net assets are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities as net
assets released from restrictions. Some restrictions are perpetual in nature and mandate the original
principal be invested in perpetuity. The majority of the earnings from net assets restricted in perpetuity
are available to support instruction, institutional support and scholarships of the College-Institute. Net
assets with donor restrictions also include beneficial interests in perpetual trusts held by third parties.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Net Assets at Foreign Location

The total assets and net assets of the Jerusalem campus included in the statements of financial position
are approximately $19,517,462 and $17,702,379, respectively, at June 30, 2023 and $15,300,000 and
$13,300,000, respectively, at June 30, 2022.

Revenue Recognition

The College-Institute evaluates whether a transfer of assets is: (1) an exchange transaction in which a
resource provider is receiving commensurate value in return for the resources transferred; or (2)a
contribution. If the transfer of assets is determined to be an exchange transaction, the College-Institute
applies guidance under Topic 606. If the transfer of assets is determined to be a contribution, the College-
Institute evaluates whether the contribution is conditional based upon whether the agreement includes both:
(1) one or more barriers that must be overcome before the College-Institute is entitled to the assets
transferred and promised; and (2) a right of return of assets transferred or a right of release of a promisor’s
obligation to transfer assets. Revenue is recognized when an unconditional promise to give is received, or
when conditions are satisfied.

Tuition Revenue

The College-Institute recognizes student revenue within the fiscal year in which educational services are
provided. Discounts in the form of scholarships and financial aid grants, including those funded by the
endowment and gifts, are reported as a reduction of student revenues. A discount represents the difference
between the stated charge for the academic program and the amount that is billed to the student and/or
third parties making payments on behalf of the student. Net tuition includes scholarships awarded to
students of $4,606,610 and $5,083,885 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
academic programs are delivered primarily in the Fall (mid-August to mid-December) and Spring (mid-
January to mid-May) terms, as well as one summer term for eight weeks from June to August.

Grants and Contributions

Gifts of cash and other assets received are considered to be available for unrestricted use in the absence
of donor restrictions. When a donor-stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished,
net assets with donor restriction are reclassified to net assets without donor restriction and reported in the
statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

Unconditional gifts expected to be collected within one year are reported at their realizable value.
Unconditional gifts expected to be collected in future years are initially reported at fair value determined
using the discounted present value of estimated future cash flows technique in net assets with donor
restriction. The resulting discount is amortized using the interest method and is reported as contribution
revenue. Grant revenue is recognized as earned as the contractual services are performed and as the
eligible expenses are incurred. Grant activities and outlays are subject to audit and acceptance by the
granting agency and, as a result of such audit, adjustments could be required.

Other Operating Revenue and Support

Other operating revenue and support is recognized when earned and consists primarily of income from
outside parties who rent building space from the College-Institute.

Library and Museum Collections

Each of the four campuses has library and museum facilities which include collections of rare books,
archival documents, periodicals, sound recordings, art objects and archaeological artifacts relating to over
4,000 years of Jewish history and culture. The libraries contain approximately 1,100,000 volumes, including:
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2023 and 2022

3,500 manuscripts, 25,000 rare books and other materials like microfilms, maps, broadsides, bookplates,
music scores, stamps and much more. The large quantity of materials is a result of the historical mission
of the libraries to collect, preserve, and provide access to the total record of Jewish thought and experience
in all their historical and geographic sweep. The Libraries’ collections cover Hebrew language and literature
as well as literature in other Jewish languages, Bible and ancient Near Eastern Studies, Jewish history,
Judaism and Jewish thought, as well as philosophy, theology, linguistics, and further fields that support our
scholarly and educational mission. On the Cincinnati Campus, the Skirball Museum is home to the largest
collection of Jewish artifacts, west of the Alleghenies, and the American Jewish Archives is one of the two
largest collections of its type in the world and growing. In New York, the Heller Museum hosts rotating
exhibits throughout the year, and continually interacts with the educational mission of the College-Institute.
The museums preserve and exhibit archaeological artifacts, including those discovered during the College-
Institute’s excavations in Israel. Collection items are not capitalized.

Purchases of collection items are reported in the year of acquisition as decreases in net assets without
donor restriction, or in net assets with donor restrictions if the assets used to purchase the items were
restricted to that use by donor stipulation. Purchases of collection items totaled $117,979 and $102,321 in
2023 and 2022, respectively. Contributions of collection items are not reported in the financial statements.
Proceeds from deaccessions or insurance recoveries are included as increases in the appropriate net asset
classes. Proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other collection items.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of supporting the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the statement of functional expenses. Plant operations expense is allocated among programs and
management and general based on the relative expense level in each area.

Income Taxes

The College-Institute follows guidance that clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return, including issues relating to financial statement recognition and
measurement. This guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can only be
recognized in the financial statements if the position is more likely than not to be sustained if the position
were to be challenged by a taxing authority. The assessment of the tax position is based solely on the
technical merits of the position, without regard to the likelihood that the tax position may be challenged.

The College-Institute is exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) section
501(c), though it is subject to tax on income unrelated to its exempt purpose, unless that income is otherwise
excluded by the Code. The College-Institute has processes presently in place to ensure the maintenance
of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report unrelated income; to determine its filing and tax obligations
in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; and to identify and evaluate other matters that may be considered
tax positions. The College-Institute has determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions that
require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.

Self-Insurance

The College-Institute has elected to self-insure certain costs related to employee health benefit programs.
Costs resulting from noninsured losses are charged to income when incurred. For the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022, the College-Institute purchased insurance that limits its exposure for most individual health
claims to $75,000, including prescription drugs coverage.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Sabbatical Leave

The College-Institute applies the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (‘“ASC”) Topic 710,
Compensation - General, to accrue expenses related to sabbatical leave. ASC Topic 710 applies to
compensated absences that require a minimum service period but have no increase in the benefit even
with additional years of service and requires the benefit to be recognized as a liability over the service
period, if no services are required during the compensated absence. If the employee is required to perform
services on behalf of the College-Institute during the absence, the benefit is recorded as a period cost
during the absence.

Operations

The College-Institute’s statements of activities present the changes in net assets, distinguishing between
operating and nonoperating activities. Operating activities principally include all revenue and expenses that
relate to the College-Institute’s educational programs and supporting activities. Operating revenues include
contributions and the investment return pursuant to the College-Institute’s spending policy.

The College-Institute has defined nonoperating activities principally to include endowment investment
return net of amounts distributed to support operations in accordance with the endowment spending policy
(Note C), benefit plan related changes other than periodic benefit costs (Notes J and K), the change in
value of remainder and perpetual trusts, and net assets released from restriction for capital purposes.
Certain other nonrecurring gains, losses or transactions may also be included as part of nonoperating
activities.

In April of 2022, at the conclusion of a strategic planning process, the Board of Governors of the College-
Institute approved several strategic and operational changes that will be implemented over the coming
years. These changes include the following: (1) the restructuring of the residential rabbinical program in
Los Angeles and New York, (2) the sunsetting of the residential rabbinical program in Cincinnati no later
than the end of the 2026 academic year, (3) the design of a new hybrid pathway, to train rabbis and cantors
unable or unwilling to relocate to a campus city, no later than academic year 2025, and (4) develop a plan
to maintain and expand the impact of the academic resources situated in Cincinnati, (the American Jewish
Archives, the Klau Library, and the Skirball Museum), expanding educational programming and research
opportunities for HUC-JIR students and faculty, as well as scholars and Jewish communities around the
world.

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Implemented

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU") 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326). ASU 2016-13
requires entities to use a forward-looking approach based on current expected credit losses (“CECL") to
estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables. This may result
in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the College beginning July 1,
2023. The College-Institute does not believe the potential impact of the new guidance and related
codification improvements will be material to its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASC 842 was subsequently
amended by ASU 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases, ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic
842): Targeted Improvements, and ASU 2018-20, Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors. The College
adopted these new standards on July 1, 2022. The College-Institute has elected the package of practical
expedients, which among other things, permits the College to account for its lease and non-lease
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
June 30, 2023 and 2022

components as a single component. The new standards did not materially impact the accounting for those
operating leases in which the College-Institute is a lessee or lessor.

NOTE B - CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE, NET

Contributions receivable, net, at June 30 consisted of the following:

2023
Time Perpetual
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Due within one year $ 2526883 $ 1,890,013 $ 4,416,896
Due in one to five years 2,022,250 1,028,880 3,051,130
Due in more than five years 845,000 1,115,000 1,960,000

5,394,133 4,033,893 9,428,026
Less: allowance for uncollectible contributions (79,183) (442,522) (521,705)
Unamortized discount (305,188) (247,096) (552,284)

$ 5009761 $ 3,344,276 $ 8,354,037

2022
Time Perpetual
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Due within one year $ 5001920 $ 1,869,795 $ 6,871,715
Due in one to five years 1,898,500 1,132,797 3,031,297
Due in more than five years 920,000 1,130,000 2,050,000

7,820,420 4,132,592 11,953,012
Less: allowance for uncollectible contributions (193,146) (210,601) (403,747)
Unamortized discount (310,621) (250,282) (560,903)

$ 7316653 $ 3,671,709 §$ 10,988,362

The discount rate range is from 4.49% to 2.99% for all outstanding pledges as of June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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NOTE C - INVESTMENTS

Investments at June 30 consisted of the following:

Mutual funds
Domestic large-cap equities
Domestic mid-cap equities
International

Fixed income

Real estate equities

Corporate bonds
U.S. government and agency obligations
Asset-backed securities

Alternate investments
Private equity funds
Limited partnerships and global equities
Real estate funds

Foreign investments
State of Israel bonds held in the
United States

Investments in Israeli securities

2023

Managed Total
Portfolio Other Investments
$ 40,231,591 §$ 693,947 $ 40,925,538
23,210,537 - 23,210,537
13,158,457 - 13,158,457
39,811,868 598,358 40,410,226
15,344,047 4,497 15,348,544
131,756,500 1,296,802 133,053,302
- 3,322,057 3,322,057
- 5,356,318 5,356,318
- 1,877,426 1,877,426
17,911,834 - 17,911,834
73,276,213 - 73,276,213
3,312,272 97,500 3,409,772
94,500,319 97,500 94,597,819
1,553,669 - 1,553,669
- 539,700 539,700
1,553,669 539,700 2,093,369
$ 227,810,488 $ 12,489,803 $ 240,300,291
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2022
Managed Total
Portfolio Other Investments
Mutual funds
Domestic large-cap equities $ 32,392,226 $ 704,148 $ 33,096,374
Domestic mid-cap equities 19,799,938 - 19,799,938
International 10,701,820 - 10,701,820
Fixed income 36,591,311 562,529 37,153,840
Real estate equities 16,121,508 5,286 16,126,794
115,606,803 1,271,963 116,878,766
Corporate bonds - 3,162,892 3,162,892
U.S. government and agency obligations - 5,554,313 5,554,313
Asset-backed securities - 1,741,747 1,741,747
Alternate investments
Private equity funds 18,848,654 - 18,848,654
Limited partnerships and global equities 84,030,873 - 84,030,873
Real estate funds 3,144,841 97,500 3,242,341
106,024,368 97,500 106,121,868
Foreign investments
State of Israel bonds held in the
United States 1,601,455 - 1,601,455
Investments in Israeli securities - 669,008 669,008
1,601,455 669,008 2,270,463

$ 223,232,626 $ 12,497,423 $ 235,730,049

The College-Institute utilizes a 5% spend rate, which is applied annually to the endowment’'s 20-quarter
rolling average market value.

The various investments in mutual funds, corporate bonds, U.S. government/agency bonds, asset-backed
securities, and other investments are exposed to a variety of uncertainties, including interest rate, market
and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is possible that changes in
the values of these investments could occur in the near term and such changes could materially affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements.
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NOTE D - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net at June 30 consist of:

2023 2022
Buildings and improvements $ 89,955,358 §$ 86,627,280
Furnishings and equipment 5,160,723 5,024,487
95,116,081 91,651,767
Less: accumulated depreciation (58,829,531) (56,850,768)
36,286,550 34,800,999
Land and improvements 3,170,393 3,170,393

$ 39,456,943 $ 37,971,392

NOTE E - BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN REMAINDER TRUSTS AND PERPETUAL TRUSTS

The College-Institute is a beneficiary (remainder designee) of various charitable remainder trusts
administered by outside parties. Under the terms of the trusts, the College-Institute has the irrevocable right
to receive the net assets of these trusts at the end of the trusts’ terms. The beneficial interest in these trusts
is recorded at the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate of 4.2% and 3.6%
at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The estimated value of the expected future cash flows is
$1,463,311 and $1,562,838 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The College-Institute is also the beneficiary under various perpetual trusts administered by outside parties.
Under the terms of the trusts, the College-Institute has the irrevocable right to income earned in perpetuity,
but never receives the underlying assets held in trust. The estimated value of the expected future cash
flows is $11,938,838 and $11,528,124, which represents the fair value of the trust assets at June 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

The income from the remainder and perpetual trusts for fiscal 2023 and 2022 was $729,402 and $770,053,
respectively, and is recorded in contributions, gifts, grants and bequests on the statements of activities.

NOTE F - LINE OF CREDIT

The College-Institute has a $20,000,000 line of credit, of which $10,000,000 was borrowed as of June 30,
2023, which was extended to June 21, 2024. Interest varies based on one-month Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 1%. In no instance will the interest rate be less than 1%. As of June 30, 2023
and 2022, total interest rate was 6.16% and 1.87%, respectively.

NOTE G - PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN

On April 23, 2020, the College-Institute received a loan in the amount of $3,960,200 pursuant to the
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
(“CARES”) Act. On September 21, 2021, the College-Institute received notification that the original loan
amount and accrued interest was approved for forgiveness.
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NOTE H - FOREIGN CURRENCY HEDGE AGREEMENT

As part of its operations, the College-Institute converts U.S. dollars to New Israeli shekels when making
regularly scheduled transfers of cash to its Jerusalem campus. As a strategy to maintain acceptable levels
of exposure to the risk of changes in future cash flows due to currency exchange rate fluctuations, the
College-Institute enters into foreign currency hedge agreements for these scheduled transfers. These
agreements provide the College-Institute with contracted exchange rates at the transfer date. The
difference in the contract rate and the actual exchange rate is recorded as an asset or liability, with the
change in value included in non-operating expense. The currency exchange loss for the years ended
June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $(194,209) and $(59,032), respectively.
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NOTE | - NET ASSETS

Net assets with and without donor restrictions at June 30 consist of the following balances:

2023 2022
Net assets without donor restrictions:
Undesignated $ (3,650,924) $ (4,612,331)
Board designated 27,102,294 31,838,280
Total net assets without donor restriction 23,451,370 27,225,949
Net assets restricted by time or purpose:
Amounts restricted by purpose:
Instruction 35,364,874 31,159,294
Academic support 6,581,727 5,213,059
Student services and stipends 2,269,562 2,550,229
Institutional support 11,631,237 10,678,436
Plant operations and maintenance 9,638,223 9,853,975
Institutional advancement 1,964,251 1,500,005
Scholarships 15,622,396 12,770,098
83,072,270 73,725,096
Amounts restricted by time 4,738,492 6,980,095
Total net assets restricted by time or purpose 87,810,762 80,705,191
Net assets with perpetual donor restrictions:
Perpetual endowment funds, income of which is
used to support:
Instruction 79,389,730 79,830,873
Academic support 2,486,381 2,632,784
Student services and stipends 2,555,772 2,248,125
Institutional support 33,088,930 32,715,667
Plant operations and maintenance 2,367,711 2,367,710
Institutional advancement 2,096,265 2,096,264
Scholarships 31,194,450 27,587,810
153,179,239 149,479,233
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts: 11,938,838 11,528,124
Total net assets with perpetual donor restrictions 165,118,077 161,007,357
Total net assets with donor restrictions 252,928,839 241,712,548
Total net assets $ 276,380,209 $ 268,938,497
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Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses, the passage of time, or the
occurrence of other events satisfying the restricted purposes specified by donors.

2023 2022
Net assets released from restrictions for operations:
Instruction $ 8585751 $ 6,796,335
Academic support 791,079 662,646
Student services and stipends 170,296 111,001
Institutional support 734,008 1,614,985
Plant operations and maintenance (7,717,540) 1,540,218
Institutional advancement 550,042 77,371
Scholarships 1,697,330 1,329,332
4,810,966 12,131,888
Net assets released for capital purposes 9,539,641 6,129

$ 14,350,607 $ 12,138,017

The Board of the College-Institute has designated net assets without donor restriction for scholarships,
institutional support, plant operations, instruction, and academic support.

NOTE J - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

The College-Institute has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”), recognized by the
Internal Revenue Service as a Church Plan, covering substantially all United States employees who meet
the eligibility requirements. The benefits are based on years of service and the average of the employee’s
three highest years of compensation. The current funding policy is to make at least the minimum annual
contribution required by applicable regulations. In years where additional funds are available the College-
Institute funds the defined benefit pension plan at a higher level. Contributions of $1,632,869 are expected
during the next fiscal year. A June 30 measurement date is used for the Plan.

Effective June 30, 2007, future benefit accruals were frozen for participants who had not attained

65 age/service points as of that date or for those participants who elected to opt out of future benefit
accruals. Effective June 30, 2009, the defined benefit pension plan was frozen for all participants.
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Significant balances, costs and assumptions at June 30 are:

Benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

Funded status
Accumulated benefit obligation

Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position - beginning of year
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of unrecognized loss
Net periodic benefit cost

Employer contributions
Pension related changes other than periodic pension costs

Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position - end of year

Actual return on plan assets
Benefits paid

Weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligation at
year end:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

Weighted-average assumptions to compute net periodic benefit
cost:
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

Retirement age:
Professors
Other employees

2023

2022

$ (55,494,122)
23,964,523

$ (59,428,058)
24,676,582

(31,529,599)

(34,751,476)

55,494,122

(34,751,476)

59,428,058

(41,689,703)

(2,451,606) (1,692,816)
1,866,048 2,052,473
(1,396,458) (2,473,512)
(1,982,016) (2,113,855)
1,633,911 1,250,000
3,569,982 7,802,082

$ (31,529,599)

$ (34,751,476)

$ 2,183,968
$ 4,529,938

4.85%
N/A

4.29%
7.5%
N/A

72
65

$ (2,870,715)
$ 4,553,276

4.29%
N/A

2.41%
7.5%
N/A

72
65

Pension related changes other than periodic pension costs are related to changes in assumptions used to
calculate the pension liability, primarily the mortality table, discount rate, and expected return on plan
assets. The net loss to be amortized from accumulated benefit plan changes other than periodic benefit

plan costs over the next fiscal year is $1,253,289 as of June 30, 2023.

In May 2006, in connection with ongoing legal discussions, the College-Institute acknowledged its
designation as a Church Plan and amended and restated its plan documents to be represented as such,
effective January 31, 2008. No longer subject to Employee Retirement Security Act of 1974 guidelines, the
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College-Institute’s minimum pension funding is on a cash basis and is exempt from filing requirements with
the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

The College-Institute’s estimated long-term rate of return on plan assets is based primarily on historical
returns on plan assets, adjusted for changes in target portfolio allocations and recent changes in long-term
interest rates based on publicly available information.

As of June 30, 2023, benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid as follows:

2024 $ 4,646,965
2025 4,594,662
2026 4,544 141
2027 4,479,623
2028 4,531,846
2029-2033 21,553,268

$ 44,350,505

Plan assets are held by a bank-administered trust fund, which invests in accordance with the Plan
agreement. The Plan agreement permits investments in common stocks, corporate bonds and debentures,
U.S. government securities, certain insurance contracts, real estate and other specified investments, based
on certain target allocation percentages. The Plan may invest in certain derivative securities, with board
approval.

Fair Value of Plan Assefts

U.S. GAAP provides for three levels of inputs when measuring fair value. See Note N for a discussion of
these levels.

The College-Institute used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate the fair value of
each type of financial instrument:

The fair values of money market funds, fixed-income funds, small-cap equities, mid-cap equities and
large-cap equities are determined by obtaining quoted prices on nationally recognized securities
exchanges (Level 1).

Certain limited partnerships and real estate are valued using the NAV (or its equivalent) supplied by
the respective fund managers. The College-Institute can redeem its investment in these funds at the
NAV per share at June 30 or within a reasonable period of time (generally considered to be 12 months).

Limited partnership funds invest in pooled investment vehicles or transactions structured to share many
of the characteristics and economics of such purchases, and to invest primarily in [imited partnerships,
which in turn, make natural resource-related investments with the objective of obtaining long-term
growth of capital. Redemption policies do not allow the College-Institute to withdraw funds within a
90-day period. The fair value of these investments totaled $2,918,011 and $5,456,835 as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.
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The fair value of plan assets according to level within the fair value hierarchy as of June 30 is as follows:

Instruments
June 30, Measured at
2023 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Mutual funds:
Large-cap equity $7,086,862 $7,086,862 $ - $ - 38 -
Mid-cap equity 7,244,289 7,244,289 - - -
Fixed-income funds 4,347,441 4,347,441 - - -
Money market funds 2,367,920 2,367,920 - - -
Alternative investments:

Limited partnerships 2,918,011 - - - 2,918,011
$23,964,523 $21,046,512 $ - $ - $2,918,011

Instruments

June 30, Measured at

2022 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Mutual funds:
Large-cap equity $7,178,775 $7,178,775 $ - % - 9 -
Mid-cap equity 7,186,645 7,186,645 - - -
Fixed-income funds 3,512,050 3,512,050 - - -
Money market funds 1,342,277 1,342,277 - - -
Alternative investments:

Limited partnerships 5,456,835 - - . 5,456,835
$24,676,582 $19,219,747 $ - $ - $5,456,835

There are no unfunded commitments related to these alternative investments at June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Asset allocation is primarily based on a strategy to provide stable earnings while still permitting the Plan to
recognize potentially higher returns through a limited investment in equity securities. The target asset
allocation range percentages for 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023 2022
Equities 40% to 80% 40% to 80%
Fixed income 15% to 25% 15% to 25%
Alternative investments (including real assets) 0% to 40% 0% to 40%
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Plan assets are rebalanced at least annually. At June 30, plan assets by category are as follows:

2023 2022

Large-cap equity 30% 29%
Mid-cap equity 30% 29%
Fixed income funds 18% 14%
Alternative investments 12% 22%
Money market funds 10% 6%
100% 100%

The College-Institute also has a nonqualified pension plan covering two former employees. The unfunded
obligation for this plan at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is $2,342,384 and $2,531,488, respectively, and is
combined with accrued pension cost of the defined benefit plan as accrued pension obligations in the
statements of financial position. The (loss) gain for this plan was $(25,777) and $353,285 in 2023 and 2022,
respectively. Payments to participants were $214,881 in each of the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

The College-Institute also maintains a deferred compensation plan for the benefit of one employee. The
deferred compensation plan liability is recorded in accrued pension obligations and at June 30, 2023 and
2022 is $445,242 and $414,027, respectively, which equals the asset amount included in investments.

NOTE K - POSTRETIREMENT MEDICAL PLAN

A noncontributory defined-benefit postretirement medical plan covers substantially all employees prior to
June 30, 2009, (including spouses). The Plan provides postretirement health care coverage to eligible
retirees. An eligible retiree is an employee who retires on or after attaining age 65 and who has rendered
at least 10 years of service.

The postretirement medical plan was frozen for new participants as of June 30, 2009.
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Benefit costs are funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, and, for 2023 and 2022, benefit payments were
$126,867 and $135,965, respectively. Management expects to contribute approximately $126,584 in the
next fiscal year. The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the statements
of financial position:

2023 2022
Accrued postretirement benefit obligation - retirees $  (993,926) $ (1,110,206)
Accrued postretirement benefit cost in excess of plan assets $  (993,926) $ (1,110,206)
Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position - beginning of year $ (1,110,206) $ (1,289,761)
Net periodic postretirement cost includes the following
components:
Interest cost on an accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation (42,681) (24,360)
Amortization of unrecognized gain 36,459 28,962
Net period (cost) benefit (6,222) 4,602
Employer contributions 126,867 135,965
Postretirement related changes other than periodic
postretirement benefit costs (4,365) 38,988
Accrued benefit cost recognized in the statements of financial
position - end of the year $  (993926) $ (1,110,206)

The expense computation assumes future medical cost inflation of 3.5%, gradually declining to 3.25% over
the next three years. The weighted-average discount rate used in determining the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation was 4.08%. The health care cost trend rate assumption can have a
significant effect on the amounts reported.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
“Act”) was signed into law. The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D, as well
as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide benefits at least actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, management has not reflected the effects
of the Act on the measurements of plan benefit obligations and periodic benefit costs and accompanying
notes.

As of June 30, 2023, benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid as follows:

2024 $ 126,584
2025 120,935
2026 114,651
2027 108,082
2028 101,288
2029-2032 401,078

$ 972,618
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NOTE L - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The College-Institute sponsors a tax-qualified defined contribution plan under Section 403(b) of the Code.
U.S. regular, full-time employees are eligible to participate in the Plan subject to certain limitations as
defined in the terms of the Plan document. As of June 30, 2023, the College-Institute provided a match of
2% to 3% of eligible compensation subject to certain limitations as defined in the Plan document, in addition
to a nondiscretionary 4% to 5% contribution based on the individual's pay scale. The College-Institute’s
expense related to this benefit was $805,526 and $729,889 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

NOTE M - CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Approximately 15% and 14% of the College-Institute’s operating support in fiscal years 2023 and 2022,
respectively, was received from the URJ and funded by RMAC paid by the URJ member congregations.

NOTE N - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements must
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. There is a hierarchy
of three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs supported by littte or no market activity and are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities.
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The following table presents the fair value measurements of assets recognized in the accompanying
statements of financial position measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level within the fair value

hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Investments
June 30, 2023 Measured at
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Equity mutual funds $ 92,643,076 $ 92,643,076 $ - % - $ -
Fixed-income mutual funds 40,410,226 40,410,226 - - -
Corporate bonds 3,322,057 - 3,322,057 - -
U.S. government and agency
obligations 5,356,318 - 5,356,318 - -
Asset-backed securities 1,877,426 - 1,877,426 - -
State of Israel bonds held in the
United States 1,553,669 - 1,553,669 - -
Investments in Israeli securities 539,700 539,700 - - -
Alternative investments:
Private equity funds 17,911,834 - - - 17,911,834
Real estate funds 3,409,772 - - - 3,409,772
Other limited partnerships 73,276,213 - - = 73,276,213
$240,300,291  $133,593,002 $ 12,109,470 $ - $ 94,597,819
Beneficial interest in remainder
trusts $ 1463311 § =  $ - $ 1463311 § -
Beneficial interest in perpetual
trusts 11,938,838 - - 11,938,838 -
$ 13,402,149 $ - $ - $13402149 §$ -
Investments
June 30, 2022 Measured at
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV
Equity mutual funds $ 79724926 $ 79,724926 $ - 3 - $ -
Fixed-income mutual funds 37,153,840 37,153,840 - - -
Corporate bonds 3,162,892 - 3,162,892 - -
U.S. government and agency
obligations 5,554,313 - 5,554,313 - -
Asset-backed securities 1,741,747 - 1,741,747 - -
State of Israel bonds held in the
United States 1,601,455 - 1,601,455 - -
Investments in Israeli securities 669,008 669,008 - - -
Alternative investments:
Private equity funds 18,848,654 - - - 18,848,654
Real estate funds 3,242,341 - - - 3,242,341
Other limited partnerships 84,030,873 - - - 84,030,873
$235,730,049 $117,547,774 $ 12,060,407 $ - $106,121,868
Beneficial interest in remainder
trusts $ 1562838 $ - 5 - $ 1562838 $ -
Beneficial interest in perpetual
trusts 11,528,124 - - 11,528,124 -
$ 13,090,962 $ - 3 - $ 13,000,962 $ -
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The managed endowment portfolio has asset allocation targets as follows: domestic equity 37%,
international equity 18%, private equity 5%, flexible capital/hedge funds 10%, fixed income 20% (State of
Israel bonds 1%, multi-strategy 19%) and inflation hedging real assets 10%.

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies and inputs used for assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis and recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position, as well as the
general classification of such assets pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. There have been no significant
changes in the valuation techniques during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The fair values of equity and fixed income mutual funds and investment in Israeli securities that are readily
marketable are determined by obtaining quoted prices on nationally recognized securities exchanges
(Level 1). Financial instruments measured at fair value using inputs based on quoted-market prices for
similar instruments in active markets (Level 2) include corporate bonds, U.S. government and agency
obligations, and asset-backed securities. These investments are valued using the market trading data for
similar securities traded at or near June 30, 2023 or 2022, as applicable. If trading data are not available,
matrix pricing models may be used. State of Israel bonds held in the United States have observable inputs
and market activity that allow for pricing based on liquidity and credit premiums required by a market
participant, and therefore, are considered Level 2.

Investments Measured at NAV

Investments measured at NAV include the College-Institute’s investments in global equities in limited
partnerships, real asset funds, private equity funds and other limited partnerships. The fair values of the
investments in this category have been estimated using the NAV per share of the investments or its
equivalent and cannot be redeemed at June 30. Investments are valued using NAV per share, which
includes an ownership interest in partner’s capital to which a proportionate share of net assets is attributed
for each of these funds.

Redemption provisions and notice periods for these investments are as follows:

2023 2022 Redemption Notice
Fair Value Fair Value Frequency Period
Limited partnerships @ $ 344,048 $ 427,392 Miquid NA
Limited partnerships @ 9,711,673 23,095,034 Annually/Quarterly 30-95 days
Global equities ® 10,574,633 9,591,555 Daily/Weekly 5-10 days
Global equities ® 52,645,859 50,916,892 Quarterly/Monthly 30-60 days
Private equity © 17,911,834 18,848,654 llliquid NA
Non-marketable private
real asse©© 3,409,772 3,242,341 llliquid NA

$ 94,597,819 §$ 106,121,868

@ These funds include investments in a variety of limited partnerships, the objective of which is to provide
capital appreciation and current yield, with varying liquidity terms ranging from quarterly, annually and
illiquid redemptions for closed end partnerships due to lock-up periods. Funds totaling $9,711,673 and
$23,095,035, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, have no lock up period and are redeemable
annually/quarterly with 30-95 days’ notice. Funds totaling $344,048 and $427,392 are illiquid at
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

®)  Global equities funds include investments in a diversified portfolio of equity securities of companies

outside the United States to achieve long-term growth. Funds totaling $10,574,633 and $9,591,555, as
of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are redeemable daily/weekly with five to 10 days’ notice.
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Global equities funds totaling $52,645,859 and $50,916,892, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, are redeemable monthly/quarterly with 30-60 days’ notice.

) Real asset funds include seven separate illiquid funds with multiple managers whose strategies include
identifying, holding, managing, and disposing of investments in real asset private equity funds for
income and capital appreciation and to serve as an investment vehicle for entities to invest in a portfolio
of real asset funds and other similar pooled real asset investment vehicles diversified across real asset
managers, investment strategies, geographies, property sizes and fund sizes. Private equity funds
include two separate funds with different managers whose strategies include achieving diversification
within the private equity asset classes, including acquisition transactions, investments that provide for
business growth or fundamental business change and other transactions, and investments in pooled-
investment vehicles via capital commitments to the issuer of such investments, pooled investment
vehicles purchased for existing owners of such pooled investments and privately negotiated
transactions. Unfunded commitments related to these alternative investments were $6,622,105 and
$3,532,533 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Level 3 Reconciliation

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the beneficial interest in remainder
and perpetual trusts recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position using significant
unobservable (Level 3) inputs:

Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)
2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 13,090,962 $ 16,606,310
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 1,040,589 (2,745,295)
Expenses and distributions (729,402) (770,053)
Ending balance $ 13,402,149 $ 13,090,962

Unobservable (Level 3) Inputs

The valuation of beneficial interests in perpetual trusts of $11,938,838 and $11,528,124 as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively, is based on the fair value of the underlying trust assets subject to the College-
Institute’s share of the trust income as stated in the gift agreement and is considered to be based on
unobservable inputs. There are no quantitative measurements (i.e., discount rates, market return rates,
etc.) used to adjust the fair value of the beneficial interests in perpetual trusts.

The fair value of the interest in remainder trusts is estimated at the present value of the estimated expected
proceeds from early future benefits to be received and was $1,463,311 and $1,562,838 at June 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively. The fair value of the interest in remainder trusts is based on unobservable inputs
such as mortality tables and discount rates, which were 4.2% and 3.6% in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

NOTE O - ENDOWMENT FUNDS
The College-Institute’s endowment consists of 602 individual funds established for a variety of purposes.

The endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of
Governors to function as endowments (board-designated endowment funds). As required by U.S. GAAP,
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net assets associated with endowment funds, including endowment funds without restriction, are classified
and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The College-Institute has interpreted UPMIFA as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original
gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the College-Institute classifies as net assets with donor
restrictions the original value of gifts donated to the perpetual endowment plus subsequent gifts to the
perpetual endowment. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified
in permanently restricted net assets is also classified within net assets with donor restrictions until those
amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the College-Institute in a manner consistent with the standard
of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. The College-Institute considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and the
appreciation of investments; and the investment policies of the College-Institute. Other transfers below
include balancing of board designated endowment accounts.

2023
Without Donor With Donor
Restriction Restriction Total

Beginning endowment net assets $ 29,947,596 $ 197,494,754 $ 227,442,350
Investment return, net 2,845,676 20,784,235 23,629,911
Contributions and pledge payments 2,358 4,018,309 4,020,667
Appropriation of endowment net assets for

expenditure (3,224,916) (9,323,584) (12,548,500)
Board approved appropriation for current

operations (5,400,000) - (5,400,000)
Other transfers (74,863) (317,554) (392,417)

Ending endowment net assets $ 24,095,851 $ 212,656,160 $ 236,752,01 1
2022
Without Donor With Donor
Restriction Restriction Total

Beginning endowment net assets $ 45355424 $ 228,250,363 $ 273,605,787
Investment return, net (3,401,701) (24,343,097) (27,744,798)
Contributions and pledge payments 3,000 2,141,100 2,144,100
Appropriation of endowment net assets for

expenditure (3,344,243) (8,553,613) (11,897,856)
Board approved appropriation for current

operations (7,950,000) - (7,950,000)
Other transfers (714,883) 2 (714,883)

Ending endowment net assets $ 29,947,597 $ 197,494,753 $ 227,442,350

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may
fall below the level the donor requires the fund to retain as a fund of perpetual duration, these are called
underwater funds. Deficiencies of this nature are reported in net assets with donor restrictions of $110,399
and $210,079 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The deficiencies were from gifts whose principal
totaled $4,580,089 and $3,324,016 and whose combined market values were $4,690,488 and $3,534,095
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as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable market
fluctuations that occurred after the investment of new donor endowment contributions and continued
appropriation for certain programs that were deemed prudent by the board of directors. The College-
Institute spending policy does not aliow for spending from underwater funds in the next fiscal year.

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The College-Institute has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that emphasize
long-term appreciation of the assets and consistency of total portfolio returns. The return objectives shall
be determined by taking into consideration relevant factors, including income requirements, liquidity,
preservation of capital and preservation of purchasing power. Careful management of the assets is
designed to ensure a total return necessary to preserve and enhance the principal of the fund and at the
same time, provides a dependable source of support for current operations and programs.

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the College-Institute relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and
current yield (interest and dividends). The College-Institute targets a diversified asset allocation that places
a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent
risk constraints.

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy

The College-Institute has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year five percent of its previous
20-quarter average rolling market value by endowment fund balance. In establishing this policy, the
College-Institute considered the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, this spending
policy should, over time, protect the inflation-adjusted value of the endowment and, consequently, allow
inflation-adjusted spending to occur in the distant future. This is consistent with the objective to maintain
the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to
provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.

NOTE P - LIQUIDITY
The College-Institute’s working capital and cash flows fluctuate during the year due to the timing of tuition
revenue, spending policy distribution, and contributions/pledge payments received. To manage liquidity,

the College-Institute initiates cash transfers and utilizes a line of credit as needed, as disclosed in Note F.

The College-Institute’s financial assets available for general use within one year of June 30 are as follows:

2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,687,679 $ 22,020,522
Accounts receivable, due within one year 1,083,672 2,562,133
Contributions receivable, due within one year 2,526,883 5,001,920
Liquid investments 218,634,638 213,211,664
Total $ 245,932,872 $ 242,796,239
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NOTE Q - LITIGATION

The College-Institute may on occasion be subject to claims and lawsuits that arise primarily in the ordinary
course of its activities. It is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such
lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, change in net assets and cash
flows of the College-Institute. Claims and events could occur that would change this estimate materially in
the near term.

NOTE R - LEASE REVENUE

The College-Institute currently leases space to several organizations under various non-cancelable
operating leases. Expected future minimum lease revenue for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

2024 $ 196,379
2025 196,379
2026 92,202
2027 77,856

$ 562,816

Lease revenue for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $158,499 and $406,543, respectively.

NOTE S - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Members of the College-Institute’s Board of Trustees and senior administration may, from time to time, be
associated, either directly or indirectly, with entities doing business with the College-Institute. Accordingly,
the College-Institute has Board of Trustees, faculty, and staff conflict of interest policies that require any
such association, including those of immediate family members, to be disclosed on an annual basis and
updated as appropriate during the year. If such associations exist, measures are taken to mitigate any
actual or perceived conflict. For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, there were no related party
transactions reported.

NOTE T - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent events have been evaluated through November 17, 2023, which is the date the financial

statements were available to be issued. No subsequent events were identified requiring adjustment to or
disclosure in the accompanying financial statements and footnotes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE
June 30, 2023

The Department of Education issued regulations on February 23, 2019, which became effective July 1,
2020, regarding additional disclosures deemed necessary to calculate certain ratios for determining
sufficient financial responsibility under Title 1V.

Net assets
1. Net assets with donor restrictions: restricted in perpetuity $ 153,179,239

2. Other net assets with donor restrictions (not perpetually restricted):

a. Annuities with donor restrictions -
b. Term endowments -
¢. Life income funds (trusts) 11,938,838
d. Accumulated earnings on endowment, not yet appropriated for
expenditure -
e. Appreciation on real estate asset -
f. Total annuities, term endowments and life income funds with donor
restrictions 11,938,838
3. Net assets with donor restrictions: Other for purpose or time 87,810,762
4. Net assets with donor restrictions $ 252,928,839

Property, plant and equipment, net
5. Pre-implementation property, plant and equipment, net (PP&E, net)
a. Ending balance of last consolidated financial statements submitted to
the U.S. Department of Education (June 30, 2019 consolidated financial

statements) $ 39,982,063
b. Less subsequent depreciation and disposals (2,073,817)
c. Balance Pre-implementation property, plant and equipment, net § 37,908,246

6. Debt financed post-implementation property, plant and equipment, net long-
lived assets acquired with debt subsequent to June 30, 2020:

Equipment $ -
Land improvements -
Building -
Less: Amount of new debt-financed assets included in construction-in-

progress at beginning of year -
Total property, plant and equipment, net, acquired with debt exceeding

12 months $ =

cpow

o

7. Construction in progress - as of June 30, 2023
a. Current year additions to construction-in-progress (amount not included s
in 5a) -
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8. Post-implementation property, plant and equipment, net, acquired without
debt
a. Long-lived assets acquired without use of debt subsequent to June 30,
2020 $ 7,577,036

b. Less: Amount of new non-debt-financed assets included in construction-
in-progress at beginning of year -
c. Less 2023, 2022 and 2021 depreciation and disposals (6,028,339)
d. Total property, plant and equipment, net acquired without debt
exceeding 12 months $

9. Total property, plant and equipment, net - June 30, 2023 $ 39,456,943
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GRANT THORNTON LLP
757 Third Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, NY 10017

D +1212589 0100
F +12123704520

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Governors
Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States (“Government Auditing Standards”), the financial statements of Hebrew Union
College - Jewish Institute of Religion (the “College-Institute”), which comprise the
statement of financial position as of June 30, 2023, and the related statements of
activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
November 17, 2023.

Report on internal control over financial reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the
College-Institute’s internal control over financial reporting (“internal control’) as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
College-Institute’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the
College-Institute’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore,
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify deficiencies in
internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of financial statement
findings as items 2023-001 and 2023-002 that we consider to be significant
deficiencies in the College-Institute’s internal control.

GT.COM

Grant Thomton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thomton Intemational Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.
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Report on compliance and other matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the College-Institute’s
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such
an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal control or on compliance. This
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the College-Institute’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

B Thaodon LeF

New York, New York
November 17, 2023 (except for Finding 2023-002, as to which the date is
December 14, 2023)
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GRANT THORNTON LLP

757 Third Avenue, Sth Floor
New York, NY 10017

D +12125990100
F +12123704520

GT.COM

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE
UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Board of Governors
Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

Report on compliance for each major federal program

Opinion on each major federal program

We have audited the compliance of Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of
Religion (the “College-Institute”) with the types of compliance requirements identified
as subject to audit in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget's OMB Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the College-
Institute’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. The College-
Institute’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the College-Institute complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Basis for opinion on each major federal program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS); the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); and
the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the College-Institute and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the College-Institute’s
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of management for compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over
compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions
of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the College-Institute’s federal
programs.

Grant Thomton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thomton Intemational Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material
noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether
due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the College-Institute’s compliance
based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with US GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the College-
Institute’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a
whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, Government Auditing Standards,
and the Uniform Guidance, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the College-
Institute’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the College-Institute’s internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, and any significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we
identified during the audit.

Report on internal control over compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of
a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is
a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a
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deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a
type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations,
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in the College-Institute’s internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal
control over compliance may exist that have not been identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

The purpose of this Report on Internal Control Over Compliance is solely to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that
testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is
not suitable for any other purpose.

Jhad Thewde. LLP

New York, New York
December 14, 2023
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SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year ended June 30, 2023

Federal
Assistance
Listing Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Expenditures
U.S. Department of Education:
Student Financial Assistance Cluster
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 $ 1,734,377
COVID-19: Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF) Institutional Aid 84.425F 81,291
COVID-19: HEERF Supplemental Support Under American Rescue Plan (SSARP) Program 84.425T 97,139
Total Education Stabilization Fund 178,430
Total U.S. Depariment of Education 1,912,807
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 1,912,807

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year ended June 30, 2023

NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of Hebrew
Union College Jewish Institute of Religion (the “College-Institute”), and is presented on the accrual basis of
accounting. The schedule should be read in conjunction with the College-Institute’s financial statements.

Federal awards include all grants, contracts, loans, and loan guarantee agreements entered into directly
between the College-Institute and agencies and departments of the federal government.

NOTE B - FEDERAL STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM

The Federal Direct Loan Program is a federally guaranteed loan program and consists of subsidized and
unsubsidized federal loans for students and Federal PLUS loans for parents, graduate and professional
students. Federal statute requires that proceeds from Federal Direct Loans be disbursed to the College-
Institute and directly applied to students’ accounts. New loans processed for students during the year ended
June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Federal Direct Loan Program:

Unsubsidized $ 1,186,895
Plus 547,482
$ 1,734,377

The College-Institute is responsible only for the performance of certain administrative duties with respect
to the federally guaranteed student loan programs, and, accordingly, these loans are not included in its
financial statements and it is not practical to determine the balance of loans outstanding to students and
former students of the College-Institute under these programs at June 30, 2023.

NOTE C - INDIRECT COST RATE

The College-Institute has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under Uniform
Guidance.

NOTE D - WRITTEN ARRANGEMENTS

The College-Institute has entered into several written arrangements with various other institutions and
consortiums that enable its students to attend classes at these other institutions. The College-Institute

maintains documentation of these other organizations’ eligibility to participate in federal student financial
assistance programs.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Year ended June 30, 2023

SECTION | - SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS

Financial Statements
Type of auditors’ report issued:
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X

Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Federal Awards

Internal control over the major program:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for
the major program:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to
be reported in accordance with 2 CFR
200.516(a) of the Uniform Guidance?

Identification of the major programs:

Federal Grantor/Program or Cluster Tifle

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Unmodified
X no
none reported
X no
X no

X none reported

Unmodified

Assistance Listing Number

Student Financial Assistance Cluster
Federal Direct Student Loans

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type
A and type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED
Year ended June 30, 2023

SECTION Il - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
Finding 2023-001 — Inappropriate Administrative Access

Criteria:
Administrative ability to create and delete users should be limited to IT individuals to prevent the opportunity
for management override.

Condition:
Administrative ability to create and delete users for the Abila MIP application, which is the College-
Institute’s general ledger application, was maintained by the Controller.

Cause:
The College-Institute provided a financial reporting individual with the administrative ability as described
above to the Abila MIP Application.

Effect:
Failure to administer the appropriate administrative ability, as defined above, could lead to instances of
management override of controls on the Abila MIP application.

Context:

The Controller, who is a non-Information Technology employee, maintains security administration access
including the ability to create and delete users in the Abila MIP application. Due to this access, this individual
would have the ability to override or inappropriately create and delete users, which could impact financial
controls in place. After review of activity logs, we found no misuse of management override of controls and
no inappropriate creation or deletion of users.

Recommendation:
We recommend the administration ability to create and delete users be limited to individuals in the IT group
and not with those with financial responsibilities.

Views of Responsible Officials (unaudited):
Management agrees with the finding. Refer to Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2023-002 — Lack of Review over Net Asset Releases

Criteria:

The College-Institute should perform a detailed review of net assets released for restrictions for operating
and non-operating purposes to ensure releases for current operations and non-current operations are
complete and accurate and are disclosed properly within the financial statements.

Condition:
The excel file the College-Institute utilizes to reconcile releases for current and non-current operations
contained a formula error, which was not identified during the initial financial statement process review.

Cause:
The College-Institute did not have a precise enough review over releases for current operations and non-
current operations to identify a formula error.

Effect:

Failure to identify a formula error between releases for current and non-current operations resulted in an
immaterial misstatement. The total net assets with and without donor restrictions or change in net assets
with and without donor restrictions were not impacted.
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED
Year ended June 30, 2023

Context:
The College-Institute failed to identify a formula error within the excel file used to reconcile releases for
current and non-current operations in a timely manner. As a result, an immaterial misstatement was
identified.

Recommendation:
We recommend the College-Institute establishes a review control to ensure all formulas are calculating

correctly to ensure the completeness and accuracy of the presented releases for current and non-current
operations.

Views of Responsible Officials (unaudited):
Management agrees with the finding. Refer to Corrective Action Plan.

SECTION Il - FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS

None reported
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
Year ended June 30, 2023

HEBREW
UNIO
COLLEGE
JEWISH
INSTITUTE
OF RELIGION

Finding 2023-001 — Inappropriate Administrative Access
Management Corrective Action Plan

Upon discovery that the AVP/Controller had access to create and delete users for the Abila Accounting
system, we promptly identified two individuals, one in Human Resources and one in Information
Technology that will be user managers for the Abila software system. The revised process requires
written approval from Human Resources, Information Technology and Finance prior to the creation or
deletion of a user. Immediately upon activation of the new user managers, the AVP/Controller access for
creating and deleting users was inactivated.

Individuals Responsible for Corrective Action Plan
Michelle Slocum

Completion date: 11/3/2023

Finding 2023-002 — Lack of Review over Net Asset Releases
Management Corrective Action Plan

Management will perform additional reviews of reported financial information to ensure completeness and
accuracy of the presented financial statements. We will identify ways to automate our reporting processes,
reduce manual calculations and/or enhance our review processes to mitigate such potential errors in the
future.

Individuals Responsible for Corrective Action Plan
Michelle Slocum

Completion date: 6/30/2024
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Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute of Religion
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
Year ended June 30, 2023

Finding 2022-001 — Late eZ-Audit filing

This finding has been resolved.
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Global and Cultural Treasures
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO
STATE OF OHIO, ex rel. DAVID YOST Case No.
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL A 2 ll U 2 li 3 U
Judge
Plaintiff,
V. MOTION FOR TEMPORARY COPY FILED
RESTRAINING ORDER AND AAMILTON SSURTS
HEBREW UNION COLLEGE~ PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
JEWISH INSTITUTE OF RELIGION JUN 03 2024
Defendants.

COMMON Pl EAS COURTS

A restraining order and preliminary injunction are needed to protect against the improper
sale of the global and cultural treasures that are publicly held in Cincinnati at the Klau Library
(“Cincinnati Library”) of Defendant Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion
(“College™).

Therefore and for the reasons more fully stated in the attached supporting Memorandum,
pursuant to Civ.R. 65(B) and the authority contained in R.C. 109.24, R.C. 1716.16 and at common
law, Plaintiff State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost, Ohio Attorney General (“Attorney General” or
“Attorney General’s Office”) respectfully moves this Court to issue a temporary restraining order
and preliminary injunction prohibiting Defendant College from deaccessioning, selling,
transferring, or relocating items held in the collection of the Cincinnati Library without order of
the Court or for any purpose other than funding the maintenance of the collection. The attached
Memorandum in Support, together with the verified Complaint filed in this matter, provides the
basis for the requested temporary restraining order and the motion for preliminary injunction.

Specifically, the Attorney General seeks an order that will:



. Until entry of final judgement in this case, prohibit the College from selling, transferring,
removing from Ohio, disposing, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati
Library collection;

. Until entry of final judgement in this case, prohibit the College from selling, transferring,

removing from Ohio, disposing, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati

Library that was inventoried, valued, or otherwise considered by Sharon Liberman Mintz

or anyone acting with or in concert with her, including Shaul Seidler-Feller and/or

Sotheby’s;

. Until entry of final judgement in this case, prohibit the College from using the proceeds

from selling, transferring, removing from Ohio, disposing, or otherwise deaccessioning

any item in the Cincinnati Library’s collection without motion to and order of this Court.

. Until entry of final judgement in this case, require the College to preserve all records

related to the collection of the Cincinnati Library, including relating to acquisition,

maintenance, relocation, preservation, deaccession, sale, or other transfer of any items in
the collection.

. Require the College to provide:

a. An executed copy of the College’s engagement or contract with Sharon Liberman
Mintz or anyone acting with or in concert with her, including Shaul Seidler-Feller
and/or Sotheby’s, to value items in the collection of the Cincinnati Library,
including any amendments;

b. A copy of any inventory, valuation, and/or report prepared by Sharon Liberman

Mintz or anyone acting with or in concert with her, including Shaul Seidler-Feller
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and/or Sotheby’s, for the College pursuant to the engagement referenced in above
subparagraph 5.a.;

c. A copy of the budget or proposed budget for the Cincinnati Library for the current
fiscal year and the fiscal years beginning July 1, 2023 and July 1, 2024,

d. A copy of any minutes, notes, or other records of Board discussion or action since
January 1, 2020

i. regarding acquiring, maintaining, preserving, relocating, deaccessioning,
removing from Ohio, selling, or otherwise transferring items from the
Special Collection (including Rare Books) of the Cincinnati Library; and

ii. regarding use of proceeds from acquiring, maintaining, preserving,
relocating, removing from Ohio, deaccessioning, selling, or otherwise
transferring items from the collection of the Cincinnati Library; and,

e. A copy of any communications since January 1, 2020 between the College and
either the University of Cincinnati or The University of Chicago concerning the
deaccession, sale, or other transfer of items in the Cincinnati Library collection.

f. A copy of any communications since January 1, 2020 involving the College
concerning the deaccession, sale, or other transfer of items in the Cincinnati
Library collection to the College’s New York, Los Angeles, or Jerusalem
campuses.

As set forth in the attached Memorandum in Support, this Court has the authority to order
the requested relief. As explained below, the College has violated several Provisions of
R.C. Chapter 1716. When “seeking injunctive relief, the attorney general shall not be required to

establish irreparable harm but only shall establish a violation of [R.C.1716].” See
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R.C. 1716.16(B). Moreover, even under the “irreparable harm” standard, the facts support a
finding that a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction are necessary to protect
against the strong likelihood that charitable assets held at the Cincinnati Library will be
deaccessioned, sold, transferred, or relocated to the irreparable detriment of the Cincinnati Library
and its public beneficiaries, including the Cincinnati community, the entire state of Ohio, the
Midwest, and public scholarship, which the State has a strong public interest in stopping prior to
the Court’s ability to provide effective final relief. A proposed Order accompanies this Motion.

The Office of the Ohio Attorney General is an independent agency of the State of Ohio and
therefore no surety or bond is required for the issuance of a restraining order under Civ.R. 65(C)
or R.C. 109.19.

Very respectfully submitted,

DAVE YOST
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO

VA

Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)

Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attormey General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352

Daniel. Fausey@OhioAGO.gov
William.Sieck@OhioAGO.gov
Deana.Leffler@OhioAGO.gov
Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov
Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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Memorandum in Support

I. INTRODUCTION
A restraining order and preliminary injunction are needed to protect against the improper
sale of the global and cultural treasures publicly held in Cincinnati at the Klau Library (“Cincinnati
Library”) of Defendant Hebrew Union College—Jewish Institute of Religion (“College”).
The Cincinnati Library collection “stands at or near the top of all American collections of

Hebraica and among the strongest in the world.” See https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/. The

world-class collection is held in charitable trust and has been built by donations from and for the
use and benefit of “the residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area; and the broader Judaic
academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” Id. According to public
audits of the College, it may not sell items from the collection to raise cash to fund other operations
or other losses. See https://app.fac.gov/dissemination/summary/2023-06-GSAFAC-0000011281.
But Defendant College has been making moves to sell items in the collection and doing so
in secret until the recent publication of an investigative report. According to the report, Defendant
College engaged Sotheby’s auction house out of New York to value certain items in the collection,
including items held in the Special Collection and Rare Book Room. Plaintiff Attorney General
promptly asked the College for assurance that no Special Collection items would be sold
whatsoever and that proceeds from sales of any other items would be used only to support the
Cincinnati Library collection, consistent with past practice and accounting. But Defendant College
would provide no such assurance. Defendant College also would not provide records relevant to
past practices, previous sales, or board meeting minutes regarding the sale or other transfer or
disposal of items. The one document Defendant College did provide was an unsigned,

“independent contractor” engagement of an appraiser who, with another Sotheby’s appraiser,



agreed to review the Cincinnati Library’s “special collections . . . with a view to advising on and
appraising the top-value items in the collection.” She was to provide a report by April 15, 2024—
but the College has been unwilling to provide her report to the Attorney General. Most alarmingly,
although written as if Sotheby’s is somehow not involved, the appraiser also promised to “provide
a connection to the Sotheby’s Communications team who will collaborate with HUC to craft the
most appropriate messaging for the plans that HUC chooses to pursue.” The College appears to be
moving to sell “special collection” items and formulating a plan for damage control afterwards.
Pursuant to Civ.R. 65(B) and the authority contained in R.C. 109.24, R.C. 1716.16 and at
common law, Plaintiff Attorney General respectfully moves this Court to issue a temporary
restraining order and preliminary injunction prohibiting Defendant College from deaccessioning,
selling, transferring, or relocating items held in the collection of the Cincinnati Library without
order of the Court or for any purpose other than funding the maintenance of the collection.
II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL BACKGROUND

A. The College is an historic Ohio nonprofit corporation

The College is an Ohio non-profit corporation founded in 1875 and formally organized
with the Ohio Secretary of State as such on January 8, 1926. (Complaint, q 7.) It is also an IRS
501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization. (Id., §9.) Over the last 150 years, the College expanded into
campuses and operations in New York, Los Angeles, and Jerusalem.

The mission of the College is “[t]o establish and maintain a Jewish educational institution
or institutions . . . to make available to the general public a constructive knowledge of Judaism, its
spiritual and social ideals, its history and outlook and its contribution to the world’s progress,”

and, among other things, “to establish and maintain a library . . . .” (Complaint, § 7.)
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B. The Cincinnati Library has a unique and world-class Special Collection that
is available to the public

As part of its charitable mission, the College owns and operates the Cincinnati Library.
(Complaint, 9 8.) Today, the Cincinnati Library holds one of the largest collections of Judaic and
Hebraic printed material in the world. (Id., § 15.) The collection includes: 530,000 printed books,
14,000 books in the Rare Book Room, and numerous non-book collections. (Id., q§ 15.) “The Klau
Library resides at the very heart of our enterprise,” wrote then-President Rabbi David Ellenson in
the 2009 president’s report about the library’s $12.1 million renovation. (Id., Ex. 8.)

According to the College, the holdings of the Cincinnati Library stand at or near the top of
all American collections of Hebraica and among the strongest in the world. (Complaint, § .) Most
notably, the Special Collections held at the Klau Library “comprise one of the finest Judaica
research collections in the world” and are made “available to researchers around the globe . . ..”

(Id., § 16.) See also https://huc.edu/libraries/special-collections/. The Special Collection includes

the Rare Book and Manuscript Collection, which “includes rare incunabula, illuminated
manuscripts, Biblical codices, communal records, legal documents, and scientific tracts” such as
“The First Cincinnati Haggadah (Germany, 15th century) and the Second Cincinnati Haggadah
(Moravia, 18th Century)” and the “Kaifeng manuscripts from the Ming Dynasty (1368-1644)...,
and the only known manuscripts which contain both Chinese and Hebrew characters.” (Complaint,

9 17.) See also https://huc.edu/libraries/special-collections/rare-book-and-manuscript-collection/;

https://mss.huc.edu/rare-books/ (identifying other collections in the Special Collection, including

the Eduard Birnbaum Music Collection and the Lucille Klau Carothers American Jewish
Periodical Center).
The world-class collection is available to any resident of the Greater Cincinnati area.

(Complaint, §46.) Indeed, the Cincinnati Library provides a number of services for the
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community: it acquires, preserves, and provides access to materials in printed, manuscript, and
other formats; it supports the teaching functions of the rabbinical and graduate programs; and it
meets the research needs of its various users, including the faculty, students, and staff of the
College’s Cincinnati campus, residents of the Cincinnati metropolitan area; and the broader Judaic
academic and general community both in the United States and abroad.” (Id., §2.) See also

https://huc.edu/libraries/cincinnati/.

Importantly, the College does not account for the Cincinnati Library collection as a source
of general revenue. Rather, the College does not capitalize the collection. (Complaint, § 21.) Under
applicable accounting rules, that means the College is holding the collection for public benefit and
will not sell or deaccession items except for the purpose of funding the collection. (Id., §21.)
Indeed, annual audits of the College note that proceeds of sale of any item in the library collection
are to be used only to purchase new items for the collection. (Id., § 21.)

C. The Cincinnati Library has been and is supported by public donations

The Cincinnati Library began with 130 volumes donated from College founder Isaac
Mayer Wise and his family. (Complaint, § 15.) It has grown over nearly 150 years through a
combination of donations and acquisition with charitable funds of the College. (Id., § 15.) In 2009,
with the College and the Cincinnati Library facing the challenge of the Great Recession, the Jewish
Foundation of Cincinnati donated $6.5 million in support of a $12.1 million renovation of the
Cincinnati Library. (1d., Ex. 8.)

To this day and at all relevant times, the College solicits general donations on its public

website. (Complaint, 9 10.) See also https://huc.edu/donate/ and https://huc.edu/donate/general-

donation-form/. In addition, the College solicits donations specifically to support “Global and

Cultural Treasures,” including Cincinnati’s Klau Library. (Id., 931.) See also

https://huc.edu/donate/gifts-of-impact/#elobal.
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D. The College is seeking to close the Cincinnati Library and/or to deaccession
Special Collection items to cover operating deficits.

On April 19, 2024, an article published in the local press describeda series of nonpublic
efforts to cut funding for the Cincinnati Library and to cannibalize the remarkable collection to
cover other losses and deficits at the College. (Complaint, §22.) See also

https://cincviewfolk.com/2024/04/19/how-to-close-a-campus-huc-jir-bleeds-money-while-

cincinnati-pays-the-price/. The article speaks for itself but includes several alarming, previously

nonpublic allegations of secret or concerning conduct.

1. The College is taking but obscuring efforts to sell Special Collection
items.

First and most shockingly, the report details multiple efforts to sell or deaccession special
and rare items in the Cincinnati Library collection. (Complaint, § 22.) In early 2024, Yoram Bitton,
HUC-JIR’s national director of libraries, resigned after allegedly being pressured by the
administration to sell rare books from the Klau. (Id., § 22.) Although College President Andrew
Rehfeld reportedly denied such plans, he did say the College is “formalizing our collections policy
and engaging an independent consultant...to understand the value of our holdings.” (Id., § 22.) If
the evaluation finds a holding that is “redundant or not central to our mission, it is possible we
would consider deaccessioning it,” he said. (Id., 22.) What President Rehfeld failed to disclose
is that the “independent consultant” that came to evaluate the Klau holdings in mid-March was
Sharon Liberman Mintz, the international senior specialist in Judaica for the auction house
Sotheby’s. (Id., § 22.) Along with Mintz came Shaul Seidler-Feller, another Judaica specialist at
Sotheby’s. (Id., § 22.) Mintz will give a report to the administration with her evaluation of the Klau
holdings, which is expected to include options for potential sales. (Id., § 22.) And, the article says

that the administration is, internally, talking about doing exactly what President Rehfield said it
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would not—selling rare books as a necessary financial move to save the college from its crippling
deficits. (Id., § 22.)

One of the items potentially being put to auction is the Klau’s set of the Bomberg Talmud—
one of 12 known complete 16th-century sets of the earliest press-printed Talmud in history.
(Complaint, 922.) The Klau’s Bomberg Talmud is the only publicly available set in North
America, and the only set held by a Jewish institution. (Id., § 22.) When asked by the reporter, the
College did not deny that the Bomberg Talmud may be up for sale. (Id., §22.)

A major concern for the scholarly community is that rare items at auction are usually sold
to wealthy private buyers, which results in those items no longer being available to scholars and
the general public. (Complaint, 9 22.) Private buyers also may not have the facilities or knowledge
to preserve old materials, which could affect their longevity. (Id., § 22.)

2. The College may have previously attempted to sell the collection.

Second, the article reports that the current secretive pre-sale activity is not the first time the
College Administration has attempted to transfer the Cincinnati Library collection. (Id., § 22.) The
report states that as part of a strategic planning initiative, a Library Task Force was announced in
Spring 2021. (Id., 9 22.) However, it was mostly a sham. Without telling or consulting the Library
Task Force, administrators at the College attempted to quietly offload the Cincinnati Klau Library
to both the University of Cincinnati and the University of Chicago (the alma mater of College
President Rehfeld). (Id., 9 22.) The Library Task Force discovered the plans only by accident and
only after months of meetings. (Id., § 22.)

3. The College is slashing funding for the Cincinnati Library.

Third, the article reports significant reductions in funding for the Cincinnati Library. In
2021, the Cincinnati Library budget was cut by 22%, severely reducing acquisitions, which the

Libraries Task Force warned would make the Klau unable to stay up-to-date for research.
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(Complaint, § 22.) And next years budget has been slashed. The Klau, which has usually had a
roughly $2 million budget (largely from HUC-JIR’s unrestricted funds), will be reduced to
operating on just half a million dollars of endowment funds in fiscal year 2025. (Id., § 22.) The
report alleges that “more recently, the college reportedly has not allowed Klau staff to fundraise
for the library, or even pursue the many grants available for research libraries.” (Id., § 22.)

E. The College would not provide requested information or assure the Attorney
General that it will not deaccession Special Collection items to pay other debts.

Following the April 19 press report, the Attorney General wrote to the College on May 9,
2024 seeking an immediate, verified assurance that Special Collection items, including Rare
Books, would not be sold or deaccessioned and that no collection items would be sold other than
to raise funds to acquire other collection items for the Cincinnati Library. (Complaint, T 23; see
also May 9, 2024 Demand for Assurance and Information, attached hereto as Exhibit 1).) The
College did not provide the requested assurance. (Id., ¥ 24.)

The Attorney General also issued an investigative Record Request seeking immediate
production of records relating to the certain allegations in the April 19 Article, including: (1) The
engagement and work of Sotheby’s; (2) Records regarding possible sale or other transfer of some
or all of the Cincinnati Library Collection to either the University of Cincinnati or The University
of Chicago, (3) the budget for the Cincinnati Library in the current fiscal year and the fiscal year
beginning July 1, 2024, (4) An accounting of any items deaccessioned, sold, or otherwise
transferred from the Cincinnati Library., and (5) Minutes, notes, and other records regarding
possible sales or deaccessioning of items in the Cincinnati Library collection, including use of
proceeds to pay deficits of the College. (Complaint, § 25; see also May 9, 2024 Demand for
Assurance and Information, Ex. 1 hereto).) The College did not provide the requested records.

(1d., 7 26.)
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The College intimated that the allegations in the article were untrue but has also stated that
sales of items could occur and has been unwilling to either agree to some forebearance from sale
while the allegations are investigated and has been unwilling to provide most of the basic records
requested. Indeed, the only record provided shows that a Sotheby’s appraiser was engaged to value
Special Collection items and to connect the College with Sotheby’s Communications team for
“messaging” about the College’s chosen plan. (See May 20, 2024 email from Attorney
Sweterlitsch to AAG Baker and attached HUC-JIR-Contract-Mintz, attached hereto as Ex. 2.)

The Attorney General is concerned that Sotheby’s could quickly sell items such as those
in the Special Collection, including by private sale, and obscure the messaging surrounding any
such sale. (Complaint, § 29.) To protect the public, other charities and charitable funds from further
losses and abuse, the Attorney General filed suit and this Motion to preserve the Cincinnati Library
collection and prevent the College from selling these treasures and depriving Ohioans from access
to them.

III. LAW AND ANALYSIS

The Attorney General is substantially likely to succeed on most, if not all, of the causes of

action in the Complaint. The present discussion will touch on only a few of those causes of action.

A. Immediate and preliminary injunctive relief is available under R.C. Chapter
1716 and the common law standard.

The Attorney General asserts two independent grounds upon which the Court should grant
a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction. First, and independently, a temporary
restraining order and preliminary injunction is warranted under the specific authority in
R.C. 1716.16(B). Second, the Court should issue a temporary restraining order and preliminary

injunction because the traditional standard is satisfied.
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1. The Court may issue a TRO and preliminary injunction upon a
showing of any violation of Chapter 1716.

The Attorney General need not show irreparable injury to enjoin conduct in violation of
Revised Code Chapter 1716. Specifically, when “seeking injunctive relief, the attorney general
shall not be required to establish irreparable harm but only shall establish a violation of a
provision of this chapter or a rule adopted under this chapter....” See R.C. 1716.16(B).

As discussed below, the College has violated R.C. Chapter 1716 by, among other things:
(1) breaching its fiduciary duties to maintain the Cincinnati Library for the public good; and
(2) engaging in deceptive acts or practices by soliciting donations to support the Cincinnati
Library, including as a charitable trust and community asset,at the same time it has actively and
secretly attempted to defund and diminish the Cincinnati Library. It is in the public’s interest that
these activities not be allowed to continue. Therefore, a TRO and preliminary injunction would
promote the public interest under R.C. 1716.16(B).

2. The Court may also grant a TRO and preliminary injunction under the
traditional legal standard upon a showing of irreparable harm,

substantial likelihood of success on the merits, and no hardship to third
parties.

Under Ohio law, there are three forms of injunction: “(1) the temporary restraining order,
which is issued ex parte without notice in an emergency situation to last only until a hearing can
be set, (2) the preliminary injunction issued with notice and after a hearing to maintain the status
quo until there can be a full trial on the merits, and (3) the permanent injunction issued after a full
trial on the merits.” Ohio Serv. Group. Inc. v. Integrated & Open Sys., LLC, 10th Dist. Franklin
No. 06-AP-433, 2006-Ohio-6738, 9 13, n. 2.

Whether reviewing a motion for a temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction,
the standard used by the Court is the same. The Court must consider “whether the movant has a

strong or substantial likelihood of success on the merits of his underlying claim, whether the
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movant will be irreparably harmed if the order is not granted, what injury to others will be caused
by the granting of the motion, and whether the public interest will be served by the granting of the
motion.” Coleman v. Wilkinson, 147 Ohio App.3d 357, 2002-Ohio-2021, 770 N.E.2d 637, {2
(10th Dist.) citing Corbett v. Ohio Bldg. Auth., 86 Ohio App.3d 44, 49, 619 N.E.2d 1145 (10th
Dist. 1993). “Further, the party seeking the preliminary injunction must establish a right to the
preliminary injunction by showing clear and convincing evidence of each element of the claim.”
Vanguard Transp. Sys., Inc. v. Edwards Transfer & Storage Co., 109 Ohio App.3d 786, 790, 673
N.E.2d 182 (10th Dist. 1996) referencing Mead Corp. v. Lane, 54 Ohio App.3d 59, 560 N.E.2d
1319 (4th Dist. 1988). “[C]ourts have recognized that no one factor is dispositive.” Cleveland v.
Cleveland Elec. Illum. Co., 115 Ohio App.3d 1, 14, 684 N.E.2d 343, 351 (8th Dist.) citing Royal
Appliance Mfg. Co. v. Hoover Co., Inc., 845 F. Supp. 469 (N.D. Ohio 1994). “The four factors
must be balanced, moreover, with the ‘flexibility which traditionally has characterized the law of
equity.”” Id. quoting Friendship Materials, Inc. v. Michigan Brick, Inc., 679 F.2d 100, 105 (6th
Cir. 1982).

B. Substantial Likelihood of Success on the Merits

Defendant College has breached its fiduciary duty to maintain the Cincinnati Library
collection for public benefit. Defendant College also has engaged in misleading and deceptive
solicitations, including by soliciting donations in support of the Cincinnati Library at the same
time it is cutting support for the library and preparing to sell items from the library collection.

1. The Attorney General has authority over the charitable trust and
solicitation activities of the College.

In Ohio, the Attorney General has exclusive standing to represent the unascertainable
beneficiaries of charitable trusts. See Brown v. Battelle Mem. Inst., 1973 Ohio App. LEXIS 1923

(10th Dist. 1973); Plant v. Upper Valley Med. Ctr., 1996 Ohio App. LEXIS 1529 (2nd Dist. 1996).
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Pursuant to R.C. Chapters 109 and 1716, the Attorney General has been given additional statutory
authority to protect charitable interests, but the statutory provisions do not limit common law
powers. See R.C. 109.24 & R.C. 1716(A).

The College is an Ohio nonprofit corporation. The College solicits charitable donations
and holds property to maintain the Cincinnati Library and its collection for public benefit,
including the benefit of the greater Cincinnati community. (Complaint, § .) Accordingly, the
organization is a “charitable trust” under Ohio law. See R.C. 109.23(A)-(B); Hunter v. St. Vincent
Med. Ctr. (In re Parkview Hosp.), 211 B.R. 619 (Bankr.N.D.Ohio 1997); State ex rel. Atty. Gen. v.
Vela, 987 N.E.2d 722, 727, 2013-Ohio-1049, 9 27-30; Brown v. Holloway, Montgomery App.
No. C. A 6689, 1981 Ohio App. LEXIS 13615, *16-21 (July 15, 1981). It is also a “charitable
organization” under Ohio law. R.C. 1716.01(A)(1).

2. The College, by its officers and directors, breached its fiduciary duties

The Attorney General alleges causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty and abuse of
charitable trust. “The elements for a breach of fiduciary duty claim are: ‘(1) the existence of a duty
arising from a fiduciary relationship; (2) a failure to observe the duty; and (3) an injury resulting
proximately therefrom.”” Camp St. Marys Assn. of the W. Ohio Conference of the United Methodist
Church, Inc. v. Otterbein Homes, 176 Ohio App.3d 54, 68, 2008-Ohio-1490, 889 N.E.2d 1066,
1076, § 19 (3d Dist.) (citation omitted). See also Strock v. Pressnell (1988), 38 Ohio St. 3d 207,
216,527 N.E.2d 1235.

“A fiduciary has been defined as a person having a duty, created by his or her undertaking,
to act primarily for the benefit of another in matters connected with such undertaking.” 41/ Star

Land Title Agency, Inc. v. Surewin Invest., Inc., 8th Dist. No. 87569, 2006 Ohio 5729, at { 36,

citing Strock, at 216, quotations omitted. It is black letter law that corporate officers and directors,
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and the trustees of a charitable trust, are subject to fiduciary duties. See, e.g., Heaton v. Rohl, 193
Ohio App.3d 770, 2011-Ohio-2090, § 47 (11th Dist.); Koos v. Cent. Ohio Cellular, Inc., 94 Ohio
App.3d 579, 589, 641 N.E.2d 265 (8th Dist. 1994); see also Morris v. Mull, 110 Ohio St. 623, 628
(1924) (“Due diligence, honesty, and integrity are at all times required of a trustee in his relations
to his trust and the cestui que trust.”); R.C. 109.23(A). Fiduciary duty requires that a trustee must
act with the highest standard of integrity, scrupulous fairness, and honesty. In re Binder’s Estate,
137 Ohio St. 26, 37-38, 27 N.E.2d 939, 947 (1940).

The College has manifested, by its solicitations, accounting, and other statements, an intent to hold
the property of and for the Cincinnati Library exclusively for charitable, educational, and religious

purposes, including to benefit the local community and the world-wide community of scholars. By secretly
taking steps to sell or deaccession collection items, including potentially irreplaceable Special
Collection and Rare Book items, as well as by cutting funds and preventing fundraising, and by
simultaneously soliciting funds to support the Cincinnati Library, the College has failed to live up
to its fiduciary responsibilities.

In addition, R.C. 109.24 provides that the Attorney General has the authority to file suit “to
enforce the performance of any charitable trust, and to restrain the abuse of it whenever he
considers such action advisable.” The statute further provides it is “intended to allow the attorney
general full discretion concerning the manner in which the action is to be prosecuted.” Id.; see also
State ex rel. Workdmerica, Inc., 1998 Ohio App. LEXIS 5513, at ¥*6-12 (discussing R.C. 109.24).
This authority is in addition to the Attorney General’s broad equitable authority under common
law. See generally Brown v. Concerned Citizens for Sickle Cell Anemia, Inc., 56 Ohio St. 2d 85,
90, 382 N.E.2d 1155 (1978) (authorizing constructive trusts); Plant v. Upper Valley Med. Ctr.,

1996 Ohio App. LEXIS 1529, 1996 WL 185341 (Ohio 2d Dist. Apr. 19, 1996).
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The College holds the Cincinnati Library’s Special Collection in trust for charitable,
religious, and educational purposes and public benefit. The Attorney General has authority to
protect the Special Collection from improper deaccessioning or other transfer. R.C. 109.24;
R.C. 1716.16(B). For the reasons alleged in the Complaint and stated in this Motion, the Attorney
General is substantially likely to prevail on the merits of these claims.

3. The College engaged in misleading and deceptive acts or practices in
solicitations

Reasonable donors have been and are being misled. The College has been and is soliciting
donations supporting the Cincinnati Library. At the same time, however, the College has been
quietly defunding the Cincinnati Library and taking secret measures to sell unique and
irreplaceable items from the Special Collection.

Reasonable donors would not consider that their donations in support of the Cincinnati
Library would be tantamount to throwing good money after bad or would be diverted to fund other
operating losses at the College. More fundamentally, reasonable donors would not expect that their
donations, given in furtherance of the Cincinnati Library’s mission of public preservation, would
then have those global treasures sold to the highest bidder. By defunding and dismantling the
Cincinnati Library while denying doing so and soliciting donations for and in conjunction with
promotions of the Cincinnati Library, the College engaged in misleading and deceptive acts while
soliciting. This clearly violates R.C. 1716.14(A)(1).

C. Likelihood of Irreparable Injury Still Present

Even if a showing of irreparable harm were required, “what plaintiff must show as to the
degree of irreparable harm varies inversely with what plaintiff demonstrates as to its likelihood of
success on the merits.” Cleveland v. Cleveland Elec. Illum. Co., 115 Ohio App.3d 1, 14, 684

N.E.2d 343, 351 (8th Dist.) citing Friendship Materials, 679 F.2d. As demonstrated above, the
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Attorney General is highly likely to succeed on the merits of the causes of action for breach of
fiduciary duty, abuse of a charitable trust, and misleading or deceptive acts and practices in
solicitations. That risk of irreparable harm to the public, coupled with a strong likelihood of success
of the merits, warrants a TRO and injunctive relief.

D. Injury to Others

Granting this injunction will not cause undue hardship or injury to third parties. In fact,
granting the injunction will benefit the public and the charitable sector. The Cincinnati Library
exists to benefit the public and greater Cincinnati community and preserving it will benefit
Cincinnatians, Ohioans, and public scholarship. Also, donors will be more likely to give to
charitable organizations if they have confidence that their charitable contributions are being
properly utilized and fraudulent practices are stopped. Therefore, an injunction will not unduly
harm any third parties.

E. No Adequate Remedy at Law

Traditionally, a preliminary injunction is appropriate when “there is no adequate remedy
available at law” and may be granted “by a court if it is necessary to prevent a future wrong that
the law cannot.” Garono v. State, 37 Ohio St. 3d 171, 173, 524 N.E.2d 496, 498 (1988).

There is no adequate remedy available at law for the Attorney General’s claims addressed
in this motion. As described above, the College’s activities are a breach of trust and violate R.C.
R.C. Chapter 1716 and, if Special Collection or Rare Book items are sold into private hands, they
cannot be replaced or recovered. Moreover, if proceeds raised from a sale of library items are used
to pay costs or debts of the Defendant College more generally, those funds could be functionally
unrecoverable. Consequently, equitable relief is appropriate.

While the traditional standard can be met, no such showing is required to entitle the

Attorney General to a preliminary injunction. Where “‘a statute grants a specific injunctive remedy
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to an individual or to the state, the party requesting the injunction “need not aver and show, as
under ordinary rules in equity, that great or irreparable injury is about to be done for which he has
no adequate remedy at law.”*” Mid-America Tire, Inc. v. PTZ Trading Ltd., 95 Ohio St.3d 367,
2002-Ohio-2427, 768 N.E.2d 619, § 75, quoting Ackerman v. Tri-City Geriatric & Health Care,
Inc. (1978), 55 Ohio St.2d 51, 56, 9 0.0.3d 62, 378 N.E.2d 145. Here, the Court may grant an
injunction upon finding a violation of R.C. Chapter 1716. R.C. 1716.16(B). Therefore it is not
necessary to show that no adequate remedy at law exists.
IV. CONCLUSION

A temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction should be issued to preserve the
collection of the Cincinnati Library and stop the Defendant College from deaccessioning items in
that collection. Such relief is warranted under the Attorney General’s—and this Court’s—broad
authority over the organization and operation of charities. For these reasons and as more
specifically set forth above, the Attorney General requests that the Court issue a temporary
restraining order and preliminary injunction against Defendant College. The exact relief being
sought is set forth in more detail in the proposed Order accompanying the current Motion.

Very respectfully submitted,

DAVE YOST
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO

757

Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)

Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215
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Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL

May 9, 2024

COMMON PLEAS COURTS
Via e-mail
Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan, & Aronoff LLP

Attn: Martha J. Swetetlitsch

41 South High Street, Suite 2600 A 2 ll g 2 l! 3 U
Columbus, OH 43215

msweterlitsch@beneschlaw.com

Re: Hebrew Union College - Demand for Assurance and Information

Dear Ms. Sweterlitsch:

The Charitable Law Section of the Ohio Attorney General's Office (the “Olffice”) is
seeking immediate information about and assurance in response to an article reporting
developments at the Klau Library in Cincinnati, Ohio (“Cincinnati Library”) of the Hebrew
Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion (the “College™). The Office believes this requires
immediate attention and would like to speak with you and an authorized representative of the
College this week.

The Cincinnati Library has a world-class collection

As you know, the Cincinnati Library stands at or near the top of all American collections
of Hebraica and among the strongest in the world in quantity and quality of holdings. Just as an
example of the Cincinnati Library’s excellence, its Special Collections reportedly comprise one
of the finest Judaica research collections in the world. And these world-class resources exist in
Cincinnati to meet the research needs of its various users, including the residents of the
Cincinnati metropolitan area and the broader Judaic academic and general community both in the
United States and abroad.

The College is compromising the collection at the Cincinnati Library

On April 19, 2024, an article published in Cincy | Jewfolk raised concerns regarding the
Cincinnati Library that require immediate attention. You can find the article online at How To
Close A Campus: HUC-JIR Bleeds Money While Cincinnati Pays The Price - Cincy Jewfolk and
a copy is attached. The article describes a series of nonpublic eftorts to cut funding for the
Cincinnati Library and to cannibalize the remarkable collection to cover other losses and deficits
at the College. Without limitation, the following alarming allegations are pulled from the article:

¢ In the early 2020s, during a strategic planning initiative, the College
administration attempted “to quietly offload the Cincinnati Klau Library to both
the University of Cincinnati and the University of Chicago ([President] Rehfeld’s

30 E. Broad St., 25t Floor | Columbus, OH | 43215
Charitable.OhioAGO.gov
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alma mater), which members of the libraries task force only discovered—by
accident—after months of meetings.”

“In 2021, [the Cincinnati Library] budget was cut by 22%, severely reducing
acquisitions, which the libraries task force warned would make the Klau unable to
stay up-to-date for research.”

“More recently, the college reportedly has not allowed Klau staff to fundraise for
the library, or even pursue the many grants available for research libraries.”

“In 2023, HUC-JIR hired a part-time library grants writer, but the Klau has
received no grants from that effort.”

“Spending on acquisitions has also been dramatically reduced. While HUC-JIR’s
audits don’t show breakdowns by location, they report that total spending on
acquisitions across all of the college’s libraries and museums went from around
$230,000 in the mid-2010s to under $120.000 by 2023.”

“The Klau, which has usually had a roughly $2 million budget (largely from
HUC-JIR’s unvestricted funds), will be reduced to operating on just half a million
dollars of endowment funds in fiscal year 2025.”

“As most of the library staff are concentrated in Cincinnati, the expectation is that
at least half of the roughly 12 full-time Klau employees will be laid off.”

“In early 2024, Yoram Bitton, HUC-JIR s national director of libraries, resigned
after allegedly being pressured by the administration to sell rare books from the
Klau.”

The College has claimed to be “formalizing our collections policy and engaging
an independent consultant...to understand the value of our holdings.”

“[TIn mid-March, the “independent consultant™ that came to evaluate the Klau
holdings was Sharon Liberman Mintz, the international senior specialist in
Judaica for the auction house Sotheby’s. Along with Mintz came Shaul Seidler-
Feller, another Judaica specialist at Sotheby’s.”

“Mintz will give a report to the administration with her evaluation of the Klau
holdings, which is expected to include options for potential sales.”

“Internally, the administration is reportedly talking about selling rare books as a
necessary financial move to save the college from its crippling deficits.”

“One of the items potentially being put to auction is the Klau’s set of the
Bomberg Talmud—one of 12 known complete 16th-century sets of the earliest
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press-printed Talmud in history. The Klau’s Bomberg Talmud is the only publicly
available set in North America, and the only set held by a Jewish institution.”

“HUC-JIR’s statement to Cincy Jewfolk did not deny that the Bomberg Talmud
may be up for sale.”

“The college has no formal deaccessioning policy, but its public audits state that
‘proceeds from the sale of collection items are required to be used to acquire other
collection items.™”

The sale of rare books, or the misuse of proceeds from the sale of other collection items,
would represent a gross breach of fiduciary duty and could constitute violations of other laws
applicable to charitable trusts and charitable organizations in Ohio.

Request for assurance, records, and information

This Office is prepared to take immediate action to stop the sale of sacred texts contained in
the Cincinnati Library collections. However, in an attempt to resolve this matter fairly and
efficiently without resorting to litigation, the Office asks for the following:

1. Within five days, the College shall agree in a signed writing that no items in the
Cincinnati Library’s collection will be sold, transferred, removed from Ohio, disposed of,
or otherwise deaccessioned for the next 180 days.

2. That within 10 days and pursuant to R.C. 109.24 and R.C. 1716.15 and the attorney
general’s common law authority, the College provide the following to Major Case
Investigator Christina Hall at Christina.Hall@OhioAGO.gov:

a.
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A copy of the College’s engagement or contract with Sotheby’s to value items in
the collection of the Cincinnati Library and a copy of any inventory, valuation,
and/or report prepared by Sotheby’s for the College pursuant to that engagement;

A copy of the budget or proposed budget for the Cincinnati Library for the current
fiscal year and the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024:

A copy of any agendas, minutes, notes, or other records of Board discussion or
action since January 1, 2020

i. regarding acquiring, maintaining, preserving, relocating, deaccessioning,
removing from Ohio, selling, or otherwise transferring items from the
collection of the Cincinnati Library; and

ii. regarding use of proceeds from acquiring, maintaining, preserving,
relocating, removing from Ohio, deaccessioning, selling, or otherwise
transferring iteras from the collection of the Cincinnati Library; and,



Hebrew Union College
Demand for Assurance and Information

d. An accounting of any items deaccessioned, sold, or otherwise transferred from the
Cincinnati Library since January 1, 2023.

e. A copy of any communications since January 1, 2020 between the College and
either the University of Cincinnati or The University of Chicago concerning the
deaccession, sale, or other transfer of items in the collection of the Cincinnati
Library.

Please let me know your availability for a meeting to discuss and move forward as outlined.

Very respectfully yours,
DAVE YOST
Ohio Attorney General

William A. Sieck

Principal Assistant Attorney General
Charitable Law Section

30 East Broad Street, 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: (614) 466-3525
William.Sieck@OhioAGO.gov

cc: Major Case [nvestigator Christina Hall at Christina. Hall@OhioAGO.gov
Senior Assistant Attorney General Deana Leffler at Deana.Leffler@OhioAGO.gov
Assistant Attorney General Bret Baker at Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov
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Exhibit 2 A2402430

From: Sweterlitsch, Martha g.gr)qﬁgFF’LED
To: Bret Baker HAMILTGN 888,‘3.}:§
Cc: William Sieck; Deana Leffler; Lacey, Nicholas;

. RE: Hebrew Union College: Meeting on Demand for Assurance and Inf::)rrr1Ell"\s‘.u;'Ni\.'ﬂa'aedzu';plti
Subject: . . &

confidential.
Attachments: HUC-IIR - Cantract - Mintz(24435108.1).docx
Sent: 5/20/2024 10:38:30 AM GQMMQN p
LEAS Coum
=3 Py TS

As promised, here is the contract with Sharon Mintz for the appraisal of the holdings of
the Klau Library.

Marty Sweterlitsch

Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan & Aronoff, LLP
41 8. High St., 26th fl.

Columbus, Ohio 43215

614-223-9367

Confidentiality note: This message is intended for use only by the individual or entity to which it is addressed and may
contain information that is privileged, confidential, and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this
message is not the intended recipient, or the employee or agent respansible for delivering this message to the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify me immediately at 614-223-9367. Thank you.

Martha J. Sweterlitsch
Partner | Benesch Healthcare+
Benesch Friedlander Coplan & Aronoff LLP

:Benesch
Healthcare=F | . ¢1153.0367 | m: 614.579.6870
msweterlitsch@Beneschlaw.com | www.beneschiaw.com
41 South High Street, Suite 2600, Columbus, OH 43215-6164

Confidentiality Notice to Incorrect Addressee: www.heneschlaw.com/confidentialitynotice

From: Sweterlitsch, Martha <msweterlitsch@Beneschlaw.com>

Sent: Friday, May 17, 2024 1:44 PM

To: Bret Baker <Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov>

Ce: William Sieck <William.Sieck@ ChioAGQ.gov>; Deana Leffler <Deana.Leffler@OhioAGO.gov>; Lacey, Nicholas

<NLacey@beneschlaw.com>
Subject: RE: Hebrew Union College: Meeting on Demand for Assurance and Information

Bret,

Just to let you know | have requested the appraiser engagement document from my
client, but | will not be able to review it until next week as | am otherwise obligated
starting this afternoon through the weekend. The appraisal was prepared, as | have
indicated, because board members appropriately requested an assessment of the
value of HUC assets. We are looking to see if the conversation was reflected in
minutes.

| have also requested that they prepare a complete library budget that reflects the real
cost of supporting the library and its staff across the system. This will take a bit of time.



With respect to your request hat HUC agree that nothing in the library collection “will
be sold, transferred, removed from Ohio, disposed of,

or otherwise deaccessioned for the next 180 days “, there is no need here for what is
essentially emergency relief since HUC has no plans at the moment to sell or
deaccession the library or to take any action out of the normal course of business for a
library regarding its holdings. They do, however, need to keep managing the library
and its holdings. We are completely aware that, as soon as news of any such
agreement, or instructions on how to implement it, leaks (as it inevitably will as past
events demonstrate), the actors in Cincinnati who are stuck in the past and whose goal
is to stop time with respect to HUC will raise a breach claim over any and every book
that is discarded regardless of reason. Quite frankly, my client does not need, or have
time for that kind of distraction.

I am fine with setting a time to chat once you have had a chance to review the items
discussed above.

Marty Sweteritsch

Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan & Aronoff, LLP
41 S. High St., 26th fl.

Columbus, Ohio 43215

614-223-9367

Confidentiality note: This message is intended for use only by the individual or entity to which it is addressed and may
contain information that is privileged, confidential, and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this
message is not the intended recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for delivering this message to the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify me immediately at 614-223-9367. Thank you.

Martha 1. Sweterlitsch
Partner | Benesch Healthcare+
Benesch Friedlander Coplan & Aronoff LLP

Benesch
Healthcare=- | . 614.223.9367 | m: 614.579.6

msweterlitsch@Beneschlaw.cem | www.beneschlaw.com
41 South High Street, Suite 2600, Columbus, OH 43215-6164

0

{0

Confidentiality Motice tp Incorrect Addresses: www.beneschlaw.com/confidentialitynotice

~—Yall

From: Bret Baker <fra: Baker@ OhioAGO.gov>
Sent: Thursday, May 16, 2024 10:56 AM

To: Sweterlitsch, Martha <miswetarlitsch@Beneaschlaw con>; Lacey, Nicholas <MLscey
Cc: William Sieck <\Willian.Sieck .GO.gov>; Deana Leffler <Qeana.Lefil

Subject: Hebrew Union College: Meeting on Demand for Assurance and Information

Marty and Nick,

Thank you for taking the time to meet with us yesterday morning about the Office’s May 9 Demand Letter. Our
Team understands that you will need time to meet with your client and looks forward to your response after you
have had an opportunity to confer.



That being said, as our Assistant Section Chief Thad Townsend indicated on our call, we would appreciate
receiving some form of written response to our May 9 Letter as soon as possible. Ideally, this would come before the
end of the day on Friday, May 17.

Additionally, based on upcoming scheduling conflicts mentioned on yesterday morning’s call, we would like to get
a follow up meeting on your calendars for early next week, preferably Monday, May 20 if possible. Tf this is feasible,
please let me know and 1 will set up another Microsoft Teams meeting.

Thank you again, and we look forward to your response.

Sincerely,
Bret

Bret Baker

Assistant Attorney General — Charitable Law Section
Office of Ohio Attorney General Dave Yost

Office number: 614-466-7794

Fax number: 844-227-6575
Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov

Confidentiality Notice: This message is intended for use only by the individual or entity to whom or which it is addressed and may contain
information that is privileged. confidential and/or otherwise exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this message is
not the intended recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for delivering the message to the intended recipient, you are hereby
notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication
in error, please notify me immediately by telephone.
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HUC INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT ("Agreement™) is made and entered into by and
between Sharon Mintz (“CONTRACTOR?), whose address 300 West End Avenue, New York, NY 10023 and
Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute of Religion (“HUC-JIR™).

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

24435108 v1

SECTION 1
SCOPE OF SERVICES

Services. CONTRACTOR agrees to provide, and HUC-JIR agrees to accept, business
consulting services (hereinafter “Services”). The Services will include those set forth in
Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by reference, as well as tasks assigned by HUC-JIR.
CONRACTOR will perform only the Services authorized and requested by HUC-JIR.

Reporting. CONTRACTOR will provide services status reports VP of Academic Resources
Joshua Holo of HUC-JIR, and will provide additional status reports as requested to apprise
HUC-JIR about the progress of pending Services.

Place of Work. CONTRACTOR will perform Services at a location generally chosen by
CONTRACTOR which is most conducive to performing the Service, including on-site at a
HUC-JIR campus location when CONTRACTOR determines the Services so require.

Representations. CONTRACTOR represents and warrants to HUC-JIR at all times that:

(a) CONTRACTOR has the right to enter into this Agreement, to grant the rights granted
herein and to perform fully all of CONTRACTOR s obligations in this Agreement;

b) CONTRACTOR is entering into this Agreement with HUC-JIR and
CONTRACTOR’s performance of the Services do not and will not conflict with or
result in any breach or default under any other agreement to which CONTRACTOR
is subject;

(c) CONTRACTOR has the required skill, experience and qualifications to perform the
Services, CONTRACTOR shall perform the Services in a professional and
workmanlike manner in accordance with best industry standards for similar services
and CONTRACTOR shall devote sufficient resources to ensure that the Services are
performed in a timely and reliable manner;

(d) CONTRACTOR shall perform the Services in compliance with all applicable federal,
state and local laws and regulations, including but not limited to, all Equal
Employment Opportunity, discrimination, harassment, retaliation and whistleblower
laws applicable to CONTRACTOR and/or HUC-JIR;
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3.1

3.2

33

34

24435108 vl

(e) HUC-JIR will receive good and valid title to all deliverables, free and clear of all
encumbrances and liens of any kind; and

(f) all deliverables are and shall be CONTRACTOR s original work (except for material
in the public domain or provided by HUC-JIR) and do not, and will not, violate or
infringe upon the intellectual property right or any other right whatsoever of any
person, tirm, corporation or other entity.

SECTION 2
TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement will commence on March 12, 2024, and expire on April
15, 2024.

Termination. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the expiration of its term by either
party at any time upon written notice, in which case HUC-JIR will pay CONTRACTOR for
the remainder of the week in which the termination occurred. Upon written notice, HUC-JIR
also reserves the right to adjust payment amounts, in which case the new payment amounts
will commence on the first day following the month of an announced adjustment.

Remaining Payments. Within (60) sixty days after termination of this Agreement, HUC-JIR
will pay CONTRACTOR all amounts owed hereunder.

SECTION 3
FEES, SERVICE RECORDS, AND PAYMENT

Monthly Fee. HUC-JIR will pay CONTRACTOR $16,000 plus expenses for travel, food and
lodging while engaging in direct research in Cincinnati, which will constitute pay for the
Services and will secure CONTACTOR’s ongoing availability to perform Services. Fees shall
cover the entirety of the contracted work.

Records. CONTRACTOR shall keep accurate, auditable records regarding work pertormed,
including time worked, under this Agreement and shall provide same to HUC-JIR no later than
14 days following the end of each month in which any Services were performed. Said records
shall also be available to HUC-JIR upou request.

Reimbursement for Expenses. HUC-JIR will reimburse CONTRACTOR for business
expenses directly related to the Services provided that they are reasonable, solely for the
benefit of HUC-JIR and have been pre-approved by VPAR Joshua Holo. In all other
circumstances, CONTRACTOR will pay their own expenses. CONTRACTOR is not entitled
to any further compensation for Services or expenses not defined in this Agreement.

Payment. HUC-JIR shall pay CONTRACTOR’s fee on a monthly basis within forty-five (45)
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days of HUC-JIR’s receipt of CONTRACTOR'S monthly record of work performed by
CONTRACTOR, as set forth in Section 3.3.

3.5 Cooperation. Inthe event of any dispute regarding the monthly fee, schedule, records, expenses

or payment, the parties shall reasonably cooperate to try to resolve the situation promptly,
fairly and in good faith prior to resorting to any further dispute resolutions available under this
Agreement or by law.

SECTION 4

RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONTRACTOR FOR TAXES AND OTHER MATTERS

4.1

4.2

5.1

24435108 v1

Taxes and Benefits. As an independent contractor, CONTRACTOR will report and pay all
income taxes, social security taxes, and other applicable taxes to the appropriate government
agency as mandated by law. By virtue of providing Services and under this Agreement,
CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to participate in health or disability insurance, retirement
benefits, or other welfare or pension benefits (if any) to which employees of HUC-JIR or
employees of HUC-JIR’s affiliates may be entitled. CONTRACTOR represents that, if such
benefits had been offered to CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR would have rejected them.
CONTRACTOR releases HUC-JIR from all liability and waives all claims with respect to
such benefits and any other benetits. In addition, if a government agency requires HUC-JIR
to pay the above-identified taxes on CONTRACTOR’S behalf, CONTRACTOR will
reimburse HUC-JIR for all such taxes, as well as any interest and/or penalties connected
therewith.

Insurance. CONTRACTOR shall, at their sole cost and expense, procure and maintain
insurance as required by law and as appropriate given the nature and scope of the Services,
including but not limited to workers’ compensation insurance.

SECTION 5
CONFIDENTIALITY, INVENTIONS, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Confidentiality. CONTRACTOR will maintain the confidentiality of HUC-JIR’s confidential
business information and will hold it in the strictest confidence. Confidential business
information includes, but is not limited to, HUC-JIR’s business information not readily
available to the general public and which, if disseminated, could harm HUC-JIR, such as:
industry knowledge, services, products, trade secrets, technologies, systems, customers,
customer files, donors, donor information, donor files, contracts, purchase orders, maintenance
contracts, sales, marketing, methods, discoveries, ideas, concepts, designs, drawings,
specifications, equipment, techniques, processes, computer information, computer software,
hardware, firmware, models, documentation, manuals, diagrams, research, development,
costs, know-how, strategies, and plans. Confidential business information also includes
information held by HUC-JIR's past, present, or future affiliates (“Affiliates™). For purposes
of this Agreement, HUC-JIR Construction Foundation and HUC-JIR Construction Services,
Page 3 of 8
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LLC, and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, shall be deemed Affiliates of HUC-JIR,
but not to the exclusion of other affiliates.

Inventions and Werk Product. With respect to any and all improvements and inventions,
whether or not patentable, which CONTRACTOR may learn of. conceive, or first actually
reduce to practice, and/or works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable, which
CONTRACTOR may originate, either solely or jointly with others, during CONTRACTOR’s
performance under this Agreement, or in connection with any previous or future engagement
with HUC-JIR’s Affiliates, which relate to the business of HUC-JIR or its Affiliates, or which
grows out of any work CONTRACTOR may do for or on behalf of HUC-JIR or its Aftiliates,
or information which CONTRACTOR receives from HUC-JIR or persons associated with
HUC-JIR or its Affiliates during performance under this Agreement or any prior employment
or engagement (“Inventions and Work Product”™), CONTRACTOR shall promptly disclose
such Inventions and Work Product to HUC-JIR and HUC-JIR (or its designee) shall be the
sole and exclusive owner of all the right, title, and interest in/to the Inventions and Work
Product and all trademarks, trade secrets, and copyrights and other rights therein (now existing
or hereafter coming into existence), and all of the foregoing shall be deemed a work for hire.

In furtherance of the foregoing, CONTRACTOR agrees that HUC-JIR specifically
commissioned the Inventions and Work Product for use as part of a [compilation / collective
work / translation / supplementary work / compilation / instructional text], the Inventions and
Work Products are works made for hire for HUC-JIR as defined in Section 101 of the
Copyright Act of 1976, and HUC-JIR is and will be considered the sole author and exclusive
owner of the Inventions and Work Product in perpetuity, throughout the universe, and for all
purposes.

To the extent that any of the Inventions and Work Product does not qualify as a work for hire
under the United States Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., CONTRACTOR shall
irrevocably transfer and assign, and, by executing this Agreement, does hereby transfer and
assign to HUC-JIR (or its designee) all right, title and interest in/to all Inventions and Work
Product, including patents and copyright interests (together with all extensions and renewals
thereof, all reversion rights therein, and the right to register and sue to enforce any past,
present, or future infringements thereof), as well as all exploitation rights therein. HUC-JIR
(and any designee of HUC-JIR) shall have the right to obtain copyright and trademark
registrations and renewals in the Inventions and Work Product in its own name (or the name
of its designee) and exercise all rights and remedies thereunder. If CONTRACTOR has any
such rights that cannot be assigned to HUC-JIR (or its designee), CONTRACTOR shall grant
to HUC-JIR (and any HUC-JIR designee) an exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide,
fully paid license, with right to sublicense through multiple tiers, to such rights.
CONTRACTOR waives all moral rights that CONTRACTOR may now have or hereafter have
in the Inventions and Work Product, including, without limitation, the rights of attribution and
integrity under Section 106A of the United States Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., as
amended by the Visual Artists' Rights Act of 1990. CONTRACTOR has no right or license to
use, publish, reproduce, prepare derivative works based upon, distribute, perform, or display
Page 4 of 8
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any Inventions and Work Product.

The provisions of this Section 5.2 shall remain in full force and effect during
CONTRACTOR's engagement by HUC-JIR and at all times atter CONTRACTOR ceases to
be a consultant to HUC-JIR. Contactor shall require each of its employees, agents, and
subcontractors (to the extent permitted by HUC-JIR) to execute written agreements securing
for HUC-JIR the rights provided for in this Section 5.2 prior to such employee providing any
Services under this Agreement.

Dispute Resolution. Any dispute regarding this Agreement will be submitted to arbitration,
to be conducted by a single arbitrator in Hamilton County, Ohio, in accordance with the
commercial arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitrator’s ruling
will be final. The prevailing party will be entitled to recover its attorneys’ fees and costs.

SECTION 6
MISCELLANEOUS

Force Majeure. HUC-JIR shall not be liable to CONTRACTOR for any failure or delay
caused by events beyond HUC-JIR’s control, including, without limitation, sabotage, failure
or delays in transportation or communication, failures or substitutions of equipment, labor
disputes, accidents, pandemics or epidemics, natural disasters, acts of God, shortages ot labor,
fuel, raw materials or equipment, or technical failures.

Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in all respects in
accordance with the laws of Ohio, without regard to conflicts of law principles that would
require the application of any other law. Subject to Section 5.3 hereof, HUC-JIR and
CONTRACTOR agree that the federal or state courts located within Hamilton County, Ohio,
which includes but is not limited to the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio,
shall have exclusive jurisdiction and venue over any disputes arising out of or relating to this
Agreement. The parties hereby consent to in personam jurisdiction in such courts.

Binding Effect; Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties and their
respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns; provided, however, that
CONTRACTOR shall not assign or subcontract any part of CONTRACTOR s rights or duties
under this Agreement without the prior written consent of HUC-JIR, which HUC-JIR may
grant or withhold in its sole discretion, and any such assignment by CONTRACTOR without
HUC-JIR’s prior written consent shall be void and of no force or effect. In the event of a
merger, sale, transfer, consolidation, or reorganization involving HUC-JIR, this Agreement
shall continue in full force and effect and shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of,
HUC-JIRs successors and assigns.

Independent Contractor. The parties have an independent contracting arrangement not an

employment, agency, partnership, or joint venture arrangement. CONTRACTOR will

determine the method, details, and means of performing Services. CONTRACTOR will have
Page 5 of 8
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the right to perform work and services for others or for CONTRACTOR's own account,
subject to confidentiality and restrictive covenants applicable to CONTRACTOR.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement regarding the parties’
contractor relationship, and supersedes all prior representations, proposals, discussions, and
communications, whether oral or in writing with CONTRACTOR. This Agreement may be
modified only in a writing signed by both parties.

Indemnification and Liability. CONTRACTOR shall indemnify HUC-JIR and hold HUC-
JIR harmless against any loss, claim, action or proceeding, whether third party or direct,
brought against HUC-JIR any person or entity exclusively resulting from any action or
inaction of CONTRACTOR, or any breach by CONTRACTOR of the terms of this
Agreement. In the event CONTRACTOR is negligent or refuses to complete the Services
agreed upon, CONTRACTOR will be respousible for any costs, expenses, losses, or damages
incurred by HUC-JIR. This provision shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which
will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together,
will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this
Agreement and of signature pages by facsimile or electronic mail transmission shall constitute
effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and may be used in lieu of
the original Agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties transmitted by facsimile or
electronic mail shall be deemed to be their original signatures for all purposes.

[Signature Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as set forth below.

HUC-JIR CONTRACTOR
By:
NAME, TITLE NAME, TITLE
Date: Date:
Page 7 of 8

24435108 v1



"HEBREW
UNICN

INSTITUTE
W OF RELIGION

EXHIBIT A

Sharon Liberman Mintz
300 West End. Avenue
New York, NY 10023

January 21, 2024

Dear Joshua,

1 am following up on our recent conversation with this proposal to consult for the Klau Library.
As a first phase in the ultimate goal of assessing and managing the entire special collections of the
HUC-JIR Libraries, the scope of work under this contract shall include: 1) a review of the current
catalogue and insurance lists with a view to advising on and appraising the top-value items in the
collection; and 2) a physical examination of these top-value items to establish the security of this
material. After reviewing the collection, I will prepare a written report and will advise on potential
possibilities for HUC to pursue.

[ propose traveling to Cincinnati with my colleague Shaul Seidler-Feller and reviewing the
collection on March 11-14 and then delivering a written report by April 15. The fee for this project
would be $16,000 plus expenses (travel, food and lodging for two people over four

work days in Cincinnati).

In addition, I will provide a connection to the Sotheby’s Communications team who will collaborate
with HUC to craft the most appropriate messaging for the plans that HUC chooses to pursue.

Please let me know if this proposal meets your needs and expectations.

Cordially,

Sharon Liberman Mintz

Page 8 of 8
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO

STATE OF OHIO, ex rel.

DAVE YOST,
OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL Case No.: A 2 1& u 2 4 3 0
Charitable Law Section COPY
30 East Broad Street, 25th Floor Judge FAMSSE 8:?18%%
Columbus, Ohio 43215, ™
JUN 0
Plaintift, 3 2024
v COMMON PLEAS coyprs

HEBREW UNION COLLEGE-JEWISH
INSTITUTE OF RELIGION TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER
3101 Clifton Avenue

Cincinnati, Ohio 45220

Defendant.

Plaintiff the State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost, Ohio Attorney General filed a Complaint
on DATE, 2024, secking a permanent injunction, equitable relief, and other available relief
against Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute for Religion (the “College” or “Defendant”).
The Complaint alleged claims for breach of common law and statutory fiduciary duties, abuse of
a charitable trust, deceptive acts or practices in charitable solicitations, and misleading persons as
to material facts concerning solicitation. Together with the Complaint, Plaintiff filed a Motion
for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction (“Motion”) to preserve the
charitable assets held by Defendant at the Klau Library in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Having considered Plaintiff’s Motion, supporting Memorandum, and accompanying
evidence, the Court hereby GRANTS Plaintiff’s Motion based on the following FINDINGS:

1. This Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter of this case and all the parties thereto.

2. Venue in this court is proper.

Page 1 of 7



There is good cause to believe that Defendant is an Ohio nonprofit corporation, is a
“charitable trust” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code Section 109.23 et seq.

(“Ohio Charitable Trust Act”), is a “charitable organization” within the meaning of

Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1716 (“Qhio Charitable Organizations Act”), and is an

IRS 501(¢c)(3) tax-exempt organization.

There is good cause to believe that, as part of its charitable mission and program,
Defendant owns, operates, and controls the Klau Library at 3101 Clifton Avenue in
Cincinnati, Ohio (the “Cincinnati Library”) as a preeminent institution that holds global
and cultural treasures for the public good, including the greater Cincinnati community.
There is good cause to believe that Defendant unlawfully committed deceptive acts or
practices in the course of its charitable solicitations and Plaintiff is likely to prevail on the
merits of such claims. Per R.C. 1716.15(B), the Attorney General shall not be required to
establish irreparable harm but only establish a violation of a provision of the Ohio
Charitable Organizations Act or a rule adopted thereunder or that the requested order
promotes the public interest.

There is good cause to believe that Defendant unlawfully misled persons as to material
facts concerning the solicitation of contributions for a charitable organization ot
charitable purpose and Plaintiff is likely to prevail on the merits of such claims.

There is good cause to believe that Defendant unlawfully misled persons as to the use of
donations and Plaintiff is likely to prevail on the merits of such claims.

There is good cause to believe that Defendant breached its fiduciary duties and failed to
protect the charitable assets of the Cincinnati Library and Plaintiff is likely to prevail on

the merits of such claims.
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9. There is good cause to believe that immediate and irreparable damage to this Court’s
ability to grant effective final relief will occur due to Defendant’s selling, transferring,
removing from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning items in the Cincinnati
Library’s collection unless Defendant is immediately restrained and enjoined by Order of
this Court.

10. There is good cause to believe that entry of this temporary restraining order is in the
public interest, and that no private interest of Defendant outweighs the public interest.

11. The Office of the Ohio Attorney General is an independent agency of the State of Ohio
and no surety or bond is required for issuance of a restraining order under Civ.R. 65(C)
and R.C. 109.19.

12. Considering Plaintiff’s likelihood of success on the merits of its claims, likelihood of
irreparable injury if immediate relief is not granted, and likelihood of harm to other
parties, it is in the public interest to enter this temporary restraining order.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED as follows:

A. Defendant shall immediately provide a copy of this Order to its directors, officers, agents,
servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in active concert or patticipation with
them.

B. Defendant and its directors, officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those
persons in active concert or participation with them shall immediately and completely
desist, and are immediately and completely prohibited, from selling, transferring,
removing from Ohio, disposing of, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the

Cincinnati Library’s collections without motion to and order of this Court.

Page 3 of 7



C. Defendant and its directors, officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those
persons in active concert or participation with them shall immediately and completely
desist, and are immediately and completely prohibited, from selling, transferring,
removing from Ohio, disposing, or otherwise deaccessioning any item in the Cincinnati
Library that was inventoried, valued, or otherwise considered by Sharon Liberman Mintz
or anyone acting with or in concert with her, including Shaul Seidler-Feller and/or
Sotheby’s.

D. Defendant and its directors, officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those
persons in active concert ot participation with them shall immediately and completely
desist, and are immediately and completely prohibited, from using the proceeds from
selling, transferring, removing from Ohio, disposing, or otherwise deaccessioning any
item in the Cincinnati Library’s collection without motion to and order of this Court.

E. Defendant shall preserve all records related to the collection of the Cincinnati Library,
including relating to acquisition, maintenance, relocation, preservation, deaccession, sale,
or other transfer of any items in the Cincinnati Library’s collection.

F. Defendant shall, within seven days of service of this Temporary Restraining Order,
provide to the Plaintiff:

1. An executed copy of Defendant’s engagement or contract with Sharon Liberman
Mintz or anyone acting with or in concert with her, including Shaul Seidler-Feller
and/or Sotheby’s, to value items in the collection of the Cincinnati Library,
including any amendments;

2. A copy of any inventory, valuation, and/or report prepared by Sharon Liberman

Mintz or anyone acting with or in concert with her, including Shaul Seidler-Feller
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and/or Sotheby’s, for the College pursuant to the engagement referenced in above
paragraph 2;
A copy of the budget or proposed budget for the Cincinnati Library for the current
fiscal year and the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024,
A copy of any minutes, notes, or other records of Board discussion or action since
January 1, 2020
i. regarding acquiring, maintaining, preserving, relocating, deaccessioning,
removing from Ohio, selling, or otherwise transferring items from the
collection of the Cincinnati Library; and
ii. regarding use of proceeds from acquiring, maintaining, preserving,
relocating, removing from Ohio, deaccessioning, selling, or otherwise
transferring items from the collection of the Cincinnati Library; and,
An accounting of any items deaccessioned, sold, or otherwise transferred from the
Cincinnati Library since January 1, 2023.
A copy of any communications since January 1, 2020 between Defendant and
either the University of Cincinnati or The University of Chicago concerning the
deaccession, sale, or other transfer of items in the collection of the Cincinnati
Library.
A copy of any communications since January 1, 2020 involving the College
concerning the deaccession, sale, or other transfer of items in the Cincinnati
Library collection to the College’s New York, Los Angeles, or Jerusalem

campuses.
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G. Service of this Temporary Restraining Order may be made in any manner provided under

Civ.R. 65(E), including pursuant to this Order filing a copy of this order with a true and

correct Certificate of Service certifying service by email upon all of the following:

Hebrew Union College-Jewish Inst. Religion
c¢/o Michelle Solcum,

Statutory Agent & Assistant VP, Finance
3101 Clifton Avenue

Cincinnati, Ohio 45220

mslocum@huc.edu

Martha J. Sweterlitsch

Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan & Aronoff LLP
41 South High Street, Suite 2600

Columbus, OH 43215-6164

mswetarlitsch@beneschlaw.com

Nicholas P. Lacey

Benesch, Friedlander, Coplan & Aronoff LLP
41 South High Street, Suite 2600

Columbus, OH 43215-6164

nlacey@beneschlaw.com

H. This Temporary Restraining Order shall expire fourteen days after entry unless

terminated earlier by the Court or extended according to Civ.R. 65(A).

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for all

pUrposes.

Date:

Approved,

DAVE YOST
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO

2

aniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)

Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25" Floor

Judge
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Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352
Daniel.Fausey(@QOhioAGO.gov
William.Sieck@OhioAGO.gov

Deana.Lelller@OhiocAGO.cov
Bret.BakeraOhioAGO.eov

Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO
State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost,
Ohio Attorney General
Case No.:
Plaintiff, A 2 l’ 0 2 4 3 0
Judge
V.
Hebrew Union College—Jewish Institute of COPY FILED
Religion HAMILTSH: SEUNTS
Defendant. JUN 03 2024

MOTION TO APPOINT PROCESS SERVER
COMMON PLEAS COURTS
Pursuant to Rule 4.1(B)-(d) of the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff State of Ohio

ex rel. Ohio Attorney General Dave Yost respectfully moves this Court for an Order designating
Jeffery Lour, Major Case Investigator, Office of the Ohio Attorney General, Charitable Law
Section, 30 East Broad Street, 25th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3400 to serve process,
subpoenas, and any other documents in this case in the manner prescribed by law, including
personal and residential service.

This motion is supported by the certification of Jeffrey Lour attached hereto and made a

part hereof. A proposed entry granting this motion is being submitted contemporaneously.

Respectfully requested,
%/‘——

Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)

Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St.. 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215




Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352
Daniel.Fausey@OhioAGO.gov
William.Sieck@OhioAGO.gov
Deana.Leffler@OhioAGO.gov
Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov

Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO
State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost,
Ohio Attorney General
Case No.:
Plaintiff,
Judge
V.

Hebrew Union College—Jewish Institute of CERTIFICATION OF JEFFREY LOUR
Religion IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO
APPOINT PROCESS SERVER

Defendant.

State of Ohio }
} SS

County of ... }

NOW COMES JEFFREY LOUR, being first duly sworn, deposes and states as follows:

1. Iam a Major Case Investigator in the Charitable Law Section of the Office of the Ohio
Attorney General.

2. I am not less than eighteen years of age;

3. Iam not a party to this proceeding, otherwise related to a party to the proceeding, and do
not have a financial interest in the outcome of the proceeding;

4. Tam a United States citizen or a legal resident of the United States;

5. Thold a valid government-issued identification card, passport, or driver’s license;

6. Ihave not been convicted in the last ten years of any felony, offense of violence, or
offense involving dishonesty or false statement, and not currently under community
control sanctions, probation, post-release control, or parole;

7. 1am not currently a respondent under any civil protection order;

I am familiar with the required procedure for service of process;

9. I will conduct themself in a professional manner.

22

FURTHER AFFIANT SAITH NAUGHT.

)y P

Jéffrey Lour

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED in my presence on bl oA

L "'

"-z Amy Lynn Kurlansky, Atfomey At Law
»2 NOTARY PUBLIC - STATE OF OHIO
o = § My commission has no expiraion dale
NG L s e Sec. 147.03R.C.
‘4,3 ?~ P g (..-'.‘-"\-‘.

4y, -
i ‘nngu?;“"“




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

/
This is to certify that, on ne 5. 2024, 2 copy of the foregoing was served by

regular United States mail, postage prepaid, upon the following:

Hebrew Union College-Jewish Inst. Religion,
c/o Michelle Solcum, Statutory Agent

3101 Clifton Avenue
e VA

Cincinnati, Ohio 45220
Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)
Bret Baker (0101154)




IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO

State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost,

Ohio Attorney General
Plaintiff,

V.

Hebrew Union College—Jewish Institute of

Religion

Defendant.

Case No.:

Judge

ORDER APPOINTING JEFFREY LOUR
TO SERVE PROCESS

Upon the Application of the Ohio Attorney General and pursuant to Rule 4.1(B)-(E) of the

Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure, it is hereby ORDERED that Jeffrey Lour, Major Case Investigator,

Office of the Ohio Attorney General, Charitable Law Section, 30 East Broad Street, Columbus,

Ohio 43215 is designated to serve process, subpoenas, and any other documents in the above-

captioned case in the manner prescribed by law.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Submitted and Approved

/«-"_ﬁ

S

Daniel Fausey (0079928)
William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)
Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25™ Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352

Daniel. Fausey@OhioAGO.gov
William.Sieck@OhioAGO.gov

Judge



Deana.Leffler@OhioAGO.gov
Bret. Baker@OhioAGO.gov
Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attornev General




IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
HAMILTON COUNTY, OHIO

State of Ohio, ex rel. Dave Yost,
Ohio Attorney General

Case No.:

Plaintiff, Judge A 2 l& 02 ‘-[ 3 0
V.

Hebrew Union College—Jewish Institute of DOCUMENT TO BE SERVED & ITS
Religion FILED DATE:

Verified Complaint with Exhibits
Defendant. Filed on June 3, 2024

Plaintiff requests:

X | Certified Mail Service Express Mail Service

X | Personal Service Regular Mail Service

X | Process Service Residence Service
Registered International Foreign Sheriff

ON:

Hebrew Union College-Jewish Inst. Religion
c¢/o Michelle Solcum, Statutory Agent

3101 Clifton Avenue

Cincinnati, Ohio 45220

Respectfully requested,

%anial Fausey (2079928)

William Sieck (0071813)
Deana Leffler (0082553)

Bret Baker (0101154)
Assistant Attorneys General
Ohio Attorney General’s Office
Charitable Law Section

30 E. Broad St., 25" Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Phone: 614.644.8777

Fax: 844.255.4352

Daniel. Fausey@OhioAGO.cov
William.Sieck@0OhiocAGO.gov
Deana.Leffler@,0OhiocAGQO.gov
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Bret.Baker@OhioAGO.gov
Counsel for Plaintiff Ohio Attorney General
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